
 
 
 

SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL
Meeting Agenda

 
Tuesday, October 15, 2024

11:30 AM

City Hall Council Chamber

44950 Eldorado Drive, Indian Wells, CA 92210

Teleconference  Location  for  Council  Member  Reed:  San  Diego  Association  of
Governments, 401 B Street, Suite 800, San Diego, CA 92101
 
Welcome to a meeting of the Indian Wells City Council.

 Live Stream: Regular meetings held in the City Hall Council Chamber are streamed live.
You can watch the meeting on any device or computer. Members of the public who wish
to listen or watch the meeting may access the livestream during the regular meetings.
LIVE STREAM CLICK HERE.

Public Comments: Members of the Public who wish to speak should fill out a blue slip
and submit it to the City Clerk, comments are limited to 3 minutes. In accordance with
State Law, remarks during public comment are to be limited to subjects within the City's
jurisdiction. If you are unable to provide comments during meeting, written comments
on agenda or non-agenda items or both, may be submitted at
CityClerk@indianwells.com an hour prior to the start of the meeting.

 Notification: If you are an individual with a disability and need a reasonable modification
or accommodation pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) please contact
the City Clerk at 760-346-2489, 48 hours prior to the meeting.

Please turn off all communication devices (phones) or put them on non-audible mode
(vibrate) during Council proceedings. All documents for public review are available for
public inspection at City Hall reception, 44-950 Eldorado Drive, Indian Wells during
normal business hours. 

Pages

https://www.cityofindianwells.org/i-want-to/view/council-meetings-online/view-city-council-meetings


A. CONVENE THE INDIAN WELLS CITY COUNCIL, PLEDGE OF
ALLEGIANCE AND ROLL CALL

MAYOR GREG SANDERS
MAYOR PRO TEM BRUCE WHITMAN
COUNCIL MEMBER TY PEABODY
COUNCIL MEMBER DANA REED
COUNCIL MEMBER DONNA GRIFFITH

B. APPROVAL OF THE FINAL AGENDA

C. GENERAL BUSINESS

Public Comments: The Mayor will call upon members of the public to
address the Council  regarding the agenda item being considered.
After  the  public  has  provided comments,  the  item is  closed  and
brought to the Council for discussion and action. Public comments are
limited to 3 minutes.  Speakers will be alerted when their time is up
and no further comments will be permitted.

C.1 Award of Bid for Redesign of the Players Course at the Indian Wells
Golf Resort

4

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Council  AUTHORIZES  the  supplemental  appropriation  of
$12,000,000 to  Troon to  complete  the  redesign of  the  Player’s
Course; and

AUTHORIZES the  supplemental  appropriation  of  $1,500,000  to
Troon to complete a Fire Access Road, utilizing County Structural
Fire Tax Credits; and

AUTHORIZES the City  Attorney to prepare an addendum to the
Troon Management Agreement permitting Troon to serve as project
manager for this capital improvement project; and

ADOPTS Resolution approving an Addendum to the City’s General
Plan Final Environmental Impact Report per Section 15164(a) of the
California  Environmental  Quality  Act  (CEQA)  Guidelines  and
directing staff to file the Notice of Determination.
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D. ADJOURNMENT

To a regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council to be held at
1:30 p.m. on October 24, 2024 in the City Hall Council Chamber.

 

Affidavit of Posting,

I, Angelica Avila, certify that on October 12, 2024 I caused to be
posted a notice of a Special Council Meeting to be held on October 15,

2024 at 11:30 a.m. in the City Hall Council Chamber.
Notices were posted at Indian Wells Civic Center and City's Website

[www.cityofindianwells.org]

________________________
Angelica Avila,  MMC City Clerk
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INDIAN WELLS CITY COUNCIL 
October 15, 2024 

  
To:   City Council 

From:   City Manager Department  

Prepared by:  Christopher Freeland, City Manager 

Subject:  Award of Bid for Redesign of the Players Course at the 
Indian Wells Golf Resort 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS:  
 
Council AUTHORIZES the supplemental appropriation of $12,000,000 to Troon to 
complete the redesign of the Player’s Course; and 
 
AUTHORIZES the supplemental appropriation of $1,500,000 to Troon to complete a Fire 
Access Road, utilizing County Structural Fire Tax Credits; and 
 
AUTHORIZES the City Attorney to prepare an addendum to the Troon Management 
Agreement permitting Troon to serve as project manager for this capital improvement 
project; and    
 
ADOPTS Resolution approving an Addendum to the City’s General Plan Final 
Environmental Impact Report per Section 15164(a) of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines and directing staff to file the Notice of Determination.  
 

BACKGROUND:  
 
At the April 2, 2024, Golf Resort Strategic Planning Session, the City Council selected John 
Fought, the original designer of the Players Course, to complete the construction and 
bidding documents for its redesign, and to seek construction bids. Troon worked closely 
with City staff and Troon to review bid documents before going out to bid.  
 
The Indian Wells Golf Resort (IWGR) is home to two 18-hole golf courses: the Clive Clark-
designed Celebrity Course (opened in November 2006) and the John Fought-designed 
Players Course (opened in November 2007). Commonly known as “Beauty and the Beast” 
in golf magazines, the Celebrity and Players courses have received numerous accolades 
as a premier golf destination and as one of the best municipal golf courses.  
 
The Player’s Course is 17 years old and is in need of significant rehabilitation in the next 
couple of years.  Already, there have been issues with the current irrigation system, 
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bunkers need to be redone, and tees and greens need to be renovated. The American 
Society of Golf Course Architects (ASGCA), with assistance from the United States Golf 
Association (USGA) Green Section, the Golf Course Builders Association of America 
(GCBAA), and the Golf Course Superintendents Association of America (GCSAA), analyzed 
the life expectancy of various components of golf courses and prepared a document of 
their findings entitled Golf Course Items Expected Life Cycle. A copy of that document is 
attached (Attachment #1). In that document, the life expectancy of most golf course 
components is less than 20 years.  
 
Troon has noticed the Players Course is experiencing increased maintenance needs due 
to the age and wear-and-tear of the course. In addition, the desert conditions place a 
greater strain on irrigation systems and golf course maintenance technology has 
improved over the past 20 years. As such, Troon recommends that the Players Course 
undergo complete rehabilitation to the Players Course in the next couple of years. Over 
time, greens can become uneven, impacting ball roll, while tee boxes may experience 
compaction, inhibiting proper turf growth. Sand traps may lose their shape and drainage, 
rendering them unplayable. These issues not only detract from the overall golfing 
experience but also reduce the course's appeal to players. 
 
In a competitive market such as the Coachella Valley, players expect well-maintained 
courses that provide both challenge and enjoyment. Rehabilitating these areas will 
improve playability, attract more golfers, and keep the course competitive with newer 
and better-maintained facilities. 
 
For the last several years, the City of Indian Wells and Troon held multiple public 
community discussions (e.g., strategic planning sessions, Indian Wells Golf Advisory 
Committee meetings, and golf resort master plan outreach) to discuss the goals and 
objectives of a potential redesign, including: 
 

 Addresses needed rehabilitation (e.g., irrigation system, bunkers, leveling of tee 
boxes, and reconstruction of greens). 

 The course has been subject to deferred maintenance in past years.   
 Address parking deficiency.  

 Protect golf course economics.  
 Remain a top golf destination and maintain the IWGR market share in a 

highly competitive golf market. 

 The golf resort’s main competitors (e.g., Desert Willow and PGA West) 
have undergone similar course improvements.  

 Preserve and enhance the pavilion area for special events.  
 Improve golf course economics.  

 Revenues (e.g., greens fees, food and beverage, and merchandise) are 
expected to increase.  

 Provide returning nine holes for food and beverage revenue opportunities 
and attract major tournaments (e.g. LPGA event).  
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 Improve public safety with the addition of a fire access road to the pavilion. 
 The pavilion was added after the golf courses were installed. With the 

success of the pavilion to host large gatherings, the City, Troon, and Fire 
Department all support improving fire and emergency medical services 
access to the pavilion.  

 Improving public safety access to the Pavilion has been a longstanding 
priority for the Council. Currently, there is no convenient route for 
emergency vehicles to safely reach the pavilion in case of a medical 
emergency or fire.  The existing bridge does not meet the load capacity 
for emergency vehicles. For the last several years, the City has analyzed 
ways to get emergency vehicles to the pavilion (e.g., new bridge, travel 
through the Whitewater Channel, new road off Fred Waring).  Staff has 
met with the Fire Marshall who supports a Fire Access Road to the pavilion 
from Fred Waring. This will improve response times to the pavilion in case 
of an emergency.   

 Improve golfer experience. 
 Elimination of the low-flow golf cart path between Hole #16 and Hole #17.  
 Reduction and adjustment of sand traps to make them more player-

friendly, improve the pace of play, and reduce maintenance time and cost. 
 Expand the short-game practice area. This includes areas to practice 

putting, chipping, and bunker play.  

 Provide an opportunity to reduce common areas between holes that are 
more difficult to maintain and unsightly.  
 

City Committee Reviews 
 
Resident members of the Golf Resort Advisory Committee met with John Fought about 
the potential redesign of the Players Course. On March 22, 2023, they expressed support 
for the redesign. 
 
At the January 10, 2024, Finance Committee meeting, the Committee reviewed a 
comprehensive Sources and Trends analysis to fund various city projects, including the 
Players Course redesign. The Finance Director shared with the Committee that sufficient 
funds are available to meet this project’s financial needs and maintain healthy fund 
balances for several other city priorities (e.g., whitewater channel armoring, re-imagining 
of the Vue, traffic improvement projects, etc.). 
 
At the March 26, 2024, Golf Resort Advisory Committee meeting, the Committee was 
updated on the Players Course redesign, including the proposals from Rees Jones and 
Pascuzzo & Pate. At the conclusion of the meeting, the Committee unanimously approved 
a recommendation to the City Council to move forward on redesigning the Players Course. 
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DISCUSSION:  
 
Per the City Council’s direction, City staff, Troon, and John Fought completed the 
construction drawings and bid documents to redesign the Players Course. The City 
conducted an initial bid process, resulting in only one bid being received. After consulting 
with Troon on the City’s bid process, it was determined to rebid the project with Troon 
conducting the bid process. They believe certain golf course construction companies may 
have been hesitant to contract with the City rather than a golf management company, 
plus Troon has contacts in the industry that they could encourage to submit construction 
bids. 
 
Troon publicly solicited bids on September 9, 2024, and held a pre-bid meeting with 
interested contractors on September 17, 2024. Bidding closed on September 27, 2024, 
with Troon receiving three bids: Landscapes Unlimited at $12.15 million, Heritage Links 
at $12.4 million, and Sperber Landscape Companies at $16.9 million. All three bids are 
attached (Attachment #6–#8). Troon reviewed the bids and has determined that 
Landscapes Unlimited is the preferred vendor at $12.15 million. 
 
In addition to the construction bids, additional funds are needed to complete the project. 
While much of the costs for amenities are built into the bids (e.g., improved landscaping, 
new trees, upgraded sand in bunkers, grading to enhance player views), unexpected 
costs or additional funds are needed for other improvements or services related to the 
project.  Therefore, staff is requesting an additional $1.3 million, which includes $700,000 
as contingency, $350,000 in additional project fees (e.g., project management and 
engineering), $100,000 for tribal monitoring1, and $150,000 for improvements outside 
the scope of the project (e.g., improved landscaping around the pavilion area, course 
clock, etc.). Troon and the City do not intend to utilize the entire $1.3 million; however, 
staff is requesting these funds be authorized as needed for the project, subject to 
approval by Troon and the City Manager. The total construction cost is $13.5 million.  
 
Preliminary Cost Estimates Compared to Final Bids: 
 
This construction bid for the final plan is higher than the original estimate based on the 
preliminary plan. Once the detailed final plans were developed (e.g., grading and 
irrigation), estimated quantities for earthwork and disturbed turf increased from the 
original estimate of 25 acres to an area of 42 acres. This additional work was incorporated 
into the final design to provide a greater separation between holes and reduce the 
compactness of the course.  These improvements are also designed to improve safety on 
the course. In addition, the number of greens requiring complete reconstruction increased 
from 8 to 9. 
 

                                        
1 The Indian Wells Golf Resort is the location of a former Cahuilla Indian village. As such, there is the 

possibility of Native American artifacts on the property. City has been working closely with the Aqua 
Caliente Band of Cahuilla Indians, who will provide tribal monitoring during construction of the project.  
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This increase in disturbed turf affects all renovation quantities, including a significant rise 
in irrigation system replacement needs. Upon closer inspection, it was also discovered 
that many irrigation valves were leaking or malfunctioning, necessitating their 
replacement. Other cost increases are due to inflation and overhead. Construction is 
subject to prevailing wages since this is a project to improve a city facility. As costs 
increased for the project, prevailing wage requirements made the increases even more 
significant than if not subject to prevailing wage.  The estimated changes to the project 
cost (in the table below) are a result of the expanded work as discussed above: 
 

 
 
While some increase in costs above the preliminary design was expected, the additional 
scope of work and associated costs were not. However, the City’s strategy to fund the 
remodel of the Players Course, if approved by the City Council, does not change and can 
fully fund these additional costs.    
 
If approved, construction on the redesign would begin in early March 2025 with an 
opening date in November 2025. Project would include the relocation of Holes 17 and 18 
to the northside of the Whitewater Channel, rehabilitation of all greens and tee boxes, 
replacement of irrigation system, new cart paths and fire access road, landscape 
improvements, and rerouting of the entire Players Course per John Fought’s design. 
Attached are renderings of the work area (Attachment No. 2) and overall redesign 
(Attachment No. 3). 
 
In addition, the project scope includes enhancements to the area on the north side of the 
bridge between the golf courses and around the pavilion area. This will include a short-
game practice area, new putting greens, and improvements around the pavilion and 
Fairway Grill.  

 *Bonding                                    77,000 

 Cart Path                                 200,000 

 Demolition                                    37,000 

 Drainage                                 351,000 

 *Erosion Control                                 150,000 

 Features                                 300,000 

 Finishing                                575,000 

 Grassing                                 207,000 

 Irrigation                              1,400,000 

 Mobilization                                 300,000 

 Shaping                              1,205,000 

 Total                              4,802,000 

* Additional cost mandated by the City

 Project Cost Changes from the Preliminary 

Estimate  

Page 8 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



   

 

 
Troon and the City Attorney also want to add an addendum to the existing City–Troon 
management agreement to clearly authorize Troon to server as project manager for 
large-scale capital projects approved by the City Council. If authorized, the City Attorney 
will develop an addendum to the existing City-Troon management agreement for approval 
at a subsequent Council meeting.   
 
Staff is seeking Council approval to secure a contractor and order the necessary 
equipment by October 20, 2024, in order to meet the March to November 2025 timeline. 
A decision after this date would likely delay the project until 2026, requiring new bidding 
to be completed. Based on rising construction costs, the City would estimate an additional 
$1.0 million to wait until 2026.  
 

CALIFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA): 
 
This project has been reviewed in accordance with the authority and criteria contained in 
the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the State and local CEQA Guidelines, 
and the environmental regulations of the City. The City, acting as Lead Agency, has 
determined the project is properly analyzed with an Addendum to the City of Indian Wells 
General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (SCH No. 94092037)(General Plan FEIR).    
 
On February 1, 1996, the City Council adopted the 1996 Update to the City of Indian 
Wells General Plan, inclusive of the associated Land Use Map (Figure IIA-3).  At the same 
time, the City Council certified by Resolution No. 96-9 the General Plan FEIR in compliance 
the CEQA Guidelines. The Addendum (Attachment #4) to the General Plan FEIR 
demonstrates that, pursuant to the standards contained in CEQA Guidelines section 
15162, the City does not need to prepare a supplemental EIR, as the General Plan FEIR 
fully analyzed the potential impacts associated with the proposed redesign of the Players 
Course at the Indian Wells Golf Resort and the mitigation measures called for by the FEIR 
adequately address the potential impacts of the proposed project. The City has 
determined that none of the conditions calling for preparation of a Subsequent EIR have 
occurred, thus, preparation of an Addendum is the appropriate CEQA documentation for 
the project. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
The recommended fiscal strategy primarily focuses on addressing critical rehabilitation 
needs while preserving the integrity of the General Fund. This approach avoids utilizing 
either the General Fund’s current cash reserves or the ongoing $3.5 million annual 
surplus.  
 
The optimal strategy leverages external financing sources, specifically through the sale 
of land to developers and the application of County structural fire tax credits. This 
approach aims to minimize direct taxpayer burden. Additionally, rather than drawing on 
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the General Fund for the City's financial obligations, this strategy proposes using external 
sources to cover the City's portion of loan repayments associated with the former 
Redevelopment Agency. In addition, the City Council authorized a General Fund Reserve 
Policy at its last City Council meeting that requires a 50% General Fund cash reserve of 
the City’s operating budget.  This project is consistent with this new fiscal policy 
(Attachment #5).  
 
Fire Access Road:  
 
Funding for the fire access road is not a General Fund expenditure. Instead, the City will 
use Riverside County’s Structural Fire Tax Credit to pay for the expenditure.  The County’s 
Structural Fire Tax Credit is a form of County property tax paid allocated for Fire Related 
Services or Capital Improvements within Indian Wells.  The City’s Fire Fund has reserved 
$1.5 million in Structural Fire Tax Credit should the Council decide to move forward with 
the fire access road. There are sufficient funds in the Fire Tax Credit account to pay for 
the fire access road and maintain a healthy reserve for future projects.  
 
This section outlines three potential options and funding strategies for the Council's 
consideration: 
 

 Option #1 - Do Nothing:  
 

The Council might consider this strategy if it believes that future construction costs 
will be less than they are today and that the ongoing maintenance issues 
experienced by guests (greens, tees, irrigation, and bunkers) have not had a 
noticeable impact or loss of market share.   

 
The Do-Nothing strategy still has a cost.  While maintenance and repair costs will 
continue to rise, the real burden is the economic future of the Golf Resort as other 
golf courses in its competitive market have completed renovations of their own. 
While the City can delay the rehabilitation to a future date, it is not a long-term 
strategy.      

 

 Option #2-Rehabilitate the Player’s Golf Course (only):  
 

Based on the bids received, Troon estimates the cost to rehabilitate the Players 
Course to be approximately $6.3 million, which the City’s General Fund would fund 
using Successor Agency loan repayments described below.  
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 Option #3-Rehabilitate the Player’s Golf Course and Install a Fire Access 
Road:  

 
Based on the bids received, Troon estimates the cost to rehabilitate the Players 
Course with the addition of the fire access road to be approximately $7.8 million, 
with $6.3 million in General Fund Successor Agency loan repayments and $1.5 
million in County Fire Tax Credits.  
 

 
 
 

 Option #4-Remodel the Player’s Golf Course and Install a Fire Access 
Road: (Recommended Option) 

 
Based on the bids received, the City will spend $12.0 million to remodel the golf 
course as proposed, which includes a contingency as outlined above.  In addition, 
the Fire Access Road is $1.5 million with a contingency. Relocating Holes 17 and 
18 to the north side of the Channel will generate an estimated $4.3 million in land 

Project Title 

 Rehabilitation 

Costs             6,300,000 

 Total              6,300,000 

Project Funding by Source 

General Fund 6,300,000           

 Total              6,300,000 

 Option #2-Rehabilitate the 

Player’s Golf Course  

Project Title 

 Rehabilitation 

Costs              6,300,000 

 Fire Access 

Road               1,500,000 

 Total               7,800,000 

Project Funding by Source 

General Fund 6,300,000            

Fire Fund 1,500,000            

 Total               7,800,000 

 Option #3-Rehabilitate the 

Player’s Golf Course and Install a 

Fire Access Road  
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sales from outside revenues, which will be introduced as new funding sources for 
the project.  
 

 
 
 
Recommendation to fund the City’s Share:   
 
To further lessen the impact on the City’s General Fund, staff recommends against using 
existing General Fund cash reserves or a future portion of the General Fund’s ongoing 
$3.5 million annual surplus to fund the Golf Resort remodel/rehabilitation.   
 
Instead, it is recommended that the Council consider using a portion of the remaining 
$11.6 million in loan repayments the Successor Agency owes to the City. The City paid 
these loans to the former redevelopment agency to improve the golf resort.   
 
These loans are being paid back to the City through a County of Riverside property tax 
rebate, not from any City source. Staff recommends setting aside loan repayments in the 
Capital Improvement Fund for this expense, as follows:   
 

 

Project Title 

 Remodel Costs                          12,000,000 

 Fire Access Road                              1,500,000 

 Total                           13,500,000 

Project Funding by Source 

General Fund 7,700,000                          

Land Sales 4,300,000                          

Fire Fund 1,500,000                          

 Total                           13,500,000 

 Option #4-Remodel the Player’s Golf Course and 

Install a Fire Access Road  

Fiscal Year 

 City's Share 

Player's 

Rehabilitation 

 City's Share  

Player's 

Remodel  

2025 2,480,000           2,480,000       

2026 3,000,000           3,000,000       

2027 820,000               2,220,000       

Total 6,300,000           7,700,000       

 Loan Repayments Reserved in the Capital 

Improvement Fund 
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By reserving the funds this way, the City will not use any part of the General Funds annual 
$3.5 million surplus in Fiscal Years 2024-25, 2025-26, or 2026-27.  
 
Financial Impact of Player’s Course Closure on Indian Wells Golf Resort 
 
The closure of the Player’s Course will have a measurable and unavoidable financial 
impact on the Indian Wells Golf Resort. The Finance Committee and the City Council 
thoroughly reviewed this matter during the formulation of the fiscal year 2024-25 budget. 
 
As detailed below, the key metrics of the closure were factored into the fiscal year 2024-
25 budget adopted by the City Council. Despite the closure of the Player’s Course, Troon 
consistently met or exceeded all critical performance metrics established in the Council's 
Goals and Deliverables. 
 
The financial impact is driven by two primary factors: (1) the closure of the Player’s 
Course from March 1, 2025, to November 1, 2025, and (2) an anticipated loss of 22,400 
rounds of golf. Importantly, no assumptions were made regarding transferring lost rounds 
to the Celebrity Course, ensuring a conservative and realistic financial projection. 
 
The loss of 22,400 rounds will directly reduce revenues across five key profit centers: 
(1) Golf, (2) Merchandise, (3) Beverage Cart, (4) Tournaments, and (5) Banquets. The 
projected top-line revenue loss is $3.75 million during the closure period. 
 
However, this loss will be significantly offset by cost reductions. The Resort anticipates a 
$0.8 million reduction in the cost of sales, which correlates with the decline in customer 
volume. Additionally, operating expenses are expected to decrease by $2.0 million as 
maintenance staff assigned to the Player’s Course and operational costs associated with 
the Player’s Course—such as utilities, seed, fertilizer, and equipment—are re-assigned 
into the construction budget. 
 
In summary, the net financial impact of the Player’s Course closure, accounting for the 
loss of 22,400 rounds, will result in an estimated operational shortfall of $0.95 million. 
These figures have been rigorously calculated and represent a comprehensive projection 
of the closure's financial consequences.    
 

Page 13 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



   

 

 
  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 

1. Attachment No. 1 – Golf Course Items Expected Life Cycle  
2. Attachment No. 2 – Work Area Rendering 
3. Attachment No. 3 - Players Course Redesign Rendering 
4. Attachment No. 4 – Resolution Adopting an Addendum to the General Plan  
5. Attachment No. 5 – City of Indian Wells General Fund Reserve Policy 
6. Attachment No. 6 – Construction Bid from Heritage Links  
7. Attachment No. 7 – Construction Bid from Landscapes Unlimited 
8. Attachment No. 8 – Construction Bid from Sperber Landscape 
 

Key Metrics 

 Closure Dates:   March 1, 2025, through 

November 1, 2025 

 Loss of Golf Rounds:                                   22,400 

Financials 

 Loss of Top-Line 

Revenue                              3,776,776 

 Cost of Sales Savings                                802,611 

 Operating Cost Savings                              2,020,877 

 Net Operating (Loss)                                953,288 

 Golf Resort Impacts Due to the                                      

Player’s Golf Course Closure 
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GOLF COURSE ITEMS
EXPECTED LIFE CYCLE

ASGCA thanks those at the USGA Green Section, 
Golf Course Builders Association of America, Golf Course 
Superintendents Association of America and various 
suppliers for their assistance in compiling this information.

The materials presented on this chart have been 
reviewed by the following Allied Associations of Golf:

HOW LONG SHOULD PARTS OF THE GOLF COURSE LAST?

(or longer)

Component life spans can vary depending upon location of the golf course, quality of materials, original installation 
and past maintenance practices. We encourage golf course leaders to work with their golf course architect, 
superintendents and others to assess the longevity of their particular course’s components.

NOTES: (1) Several factors can weigh into the decision to replace greens: accumulation of layers on the surface of the original construction, the 
desire to convert to new grasses and response to changes in the game from an architectural standpoint (like the interaction between green speed 
and hole locations).   (2) Assumes on-going maintenance beginning 1  – 2 years after installation. (3) Typically replaced because the sand is being 
changed — while the machinery is there to change sand, it’s often a good time to replace the drainage pipes as well.   (4) As new grasses enter the 
marketplace — for example, those that are more drought and disease tolerant — replanting may be appropriate, depending upon the site.

ITEM YEARS ITEM YEARS

Greens (1) 15 – 30 years

Bunker Sand 5 – 7 years

Irrigation System 10 – 30 years

   Irrigation Control System 10 – 15 years

   PVC Pipe (under pressure) 10 – 30 years

   Pump Station 15 – 20 years

Cart Paths – asphalt (2) 5 – 10 years

Cart Paths – concrete 15 – 30 years 

Practice Range Tees 5 – 10 years

Tees 15 – 20 years

Corrugated Metal Pipes 15 – 30 years 

Bunker Drainage Pipes (3) 5 – 10 years

Mulch 1 – 3 years

Grass (4) Varies

DATA COMPILED BY ASGCA, 125 NORTH EXECUTIVE DRIVE, SUITE 106, BROOKFIELD, WI 53005

For more information, 
contact ASGCA at 

262-786-5960 or

www.asgca.org 

Club Managers
Association of America®

ATTACHMENT #1

Page 15 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



22) 

Hole 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

Out 

10 

II 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

In 

Total 

INDIAN LLS GOLF RESORT 

Players Course Redesign Concept Plan 
Mar,eh�l-, 2023 , � 0c

c . , "-11
,,-- --

".oZt 

0 

0 

Scale: 1" = 100' 

\ 
__ ,(
- -·..;,

C>o 

'); □ 

/ 
I 
', 

-------- ..... 

------;✓�

�- 'O_t, -0 

-------
3

•• •• ,-........:;_-

------ ---
1-"' 0 

j•-"'----

-
0 

oo 

' 

0 so 100 200 300 a 

�c -_J -�,o ,9_ ,' 
----- -...,...-----

• � 

I I

9 

\ 
\ 
\ 

Cabernet Blue Yellow Whi.te Red Pa, 

620 584 545 478 412 5 

400 373 342 322 286 4 

337 312 290 269 241 4 

186 163 157 144 124 3 

457 424 391 351 327 4 

418 390 361 339 296 4 

177 150 141 132 109 3 

577 537 502 463 407 5 

223 202 189 165 137 3 

3395 3145 2918 2003 2339 35 

333 310 295 260 236 4 

382 355 332 305 274 4 

180 170 159 148 124 3 

577 537 504 464 410 5 

467 437 390 354 327 4 
..;.---

515 479 443 410 358 4 

461 414 370 346 299 4 

243 220 208 190 166 3 

551 516 485 444 406 5 

3715 3438 3186 2921 2599 36 

7110 6583 6104 5584 4938 71 

V 
( �. 

0 

o 0 - � _:=:--
o, - o CJ '(' 

-
,,+, ).,-------- --�---- .... �-----= U I ------------- ..____ - ----

, tF--- I ------

' • l i ,�_ - -

0 
Q 

_.,,____ 

II! I � I I 1 
---

12 

Q 
JOHN FOUGHT DESIGN GOLF COURSE ARCHITECTURE 

- -,,... --,,. ,.. -- ' 
//I I 

I/ \ ,, 
I I ,," 

4 I 
ti I 
I 
\I /=i

\ 

-
/ § 0

...-kO 0 
'--'C-----.Q 

, __ 

0 

' 

I 
-� '' 

'\ 
0 _] 

·-, .
--- �--

e-, 
� ·o, __ : __ --

- • :

/, 

D 

I 
I 
I 
I 
\ / ...... _ --

//\J/ 

I 

I 

/ 
t 

/ 14 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

I - � 

I' ' 
1 YU 
I I 
I I -
I I 

f ,I ,., I 
I , 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I 

I 
I , 

I 
I 
I 

I 

I 
I 

-' 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

✓-r---1

k 

I 
I 
I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

15 

0 0,\ v_\1 I \0 

6-

I 

\
I 

I 
I '

I 

I 

0 O 

0 

\ 
\ 

-. � ' � - -
I ' --1

I • ' 1----, ____ , • I I ' . ,_ _ ___ , I 
--

="- _ ___ .,,.. 

'' . ' , ____ , 0 

I , 

,--,
I I' II 
--·

1 

I 

ATTACHMENT #2

Page 16 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



ATTACHMENT #3

Page 17 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



26529.00000\42810918.2 
1 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-___ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF INDIAN 
WELLS, CALIFORNIA, ADOPTING AN ADDENDUM TO THE GENERAL 
PLAN EIR (SCH# 94092037); AND DIRECTING STAFF TO FILE A 
NOTICE OF DETERMINATION (APN: 633-150-084, -088, 633-300-
001, -002, -003, AND 633-310-014) 

WHEREAS, the City proposes a redesign of the Players Course (the “Project”) at the Indian 
Wells Golf Resort (APN 633-150-084, -088, 633-300-001, -002, -003, and 633-310-014), involving 
the relocation of the final two holes (Holes 17 and 18) from the south side of the Whitewater Channel 
to the north side, along with additional modifications to the existing area of the golf course (the 
“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on February 1, 1996, the City of Indian Wells City Council adopted the 1996 
Update to the City of Indian Wells General Plan (1996 General Plan). At the same time, the City 
Council certified by Resolution No. 96-9 the City of Indian Wells General Plan Final Environmental 
Impact Report (SCH No. 94092037) (Certified FEIR) in compliance with the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) and CEQA Guidelines; and 

WHEREAS, in 2007 the City approved the General Plan Land Use Element Update and 
adopted an Addendum to the General Plan FEIR (2007 Addendum to FEIR); and  

WHEREAS, in 2013, the City updated the Housing Element for the 2014-2021 planning 
period (5th cycle) and adopted an Addendum to the General Plan FEIR (2013 Addendum to FEIR); 
and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines section 15162, a lead agency shall consider 
whether additional CEQA review is required when considering a subsequent discretionary approval 
for a project which an FEIR was certified; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to CEQA, when taking subsequent discretionary actions in furtherance 
of a project for which an EIR has already been certified, the Council is prohibited from requiring a 
subsequent or supplemental EIR unless at least one of the circumstances identified in Public 
Resources Code section 21166 or State CEQA Guidelines section 15162 and the City’s Local CEQA 
Guidelines, are present; and 

WHEREAS, an Addendum to the Certified FEIR was prepared for the proposed redesign 
(“Project Addendum”), pursuant to CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines 15162 and 15164, and the 
City’s Local CEQA Guidelines, and a copy of the Project Addendum is attached hereto as Exhibit 1; 
and 

WHEREAS, the analysis in the Project Addendum determined the Project does not involve 
any changes to the existing land use and zoning or operational changes beyond what was 
contemplated by the Certified FEIR, and that the Project would not result in any new significant 
environmental impacts or cause a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified 
significant environmental impacts as modified by the 2007 Addendum to FEIR and the 2013 
Addendum to FEIR; and 
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City of Indian Wells                        
Resolution No. 2024-__ 
Page 2 
 

  
 

 
WHEREAS, on October 15, 2024, the City Council of the City of Indian Wells (Council) 

conducted a duly-noticed public meeting on the proposed Project Addendum, at which time all 
persons wishing to testify in connection with the proposed Project Addendum were heard and 
the proposed Project Addendum was comprehensively reviewed; and 

 
WHEREAS, all other legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED BY THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF INDIAN WELLS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
SECTION 1.  Compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act.  The 

Council has reviewed and considered the Certified FEIR, subsequent CEQA documents, and the 
Project Addendum and finds that these documents, taken together, contain a complete and 
accurate reporting of all of the potential environmental impacts associated with the proposed 
Project.  The Council further finds that the Project Addendum has been completed in compliance 
with CEQA, the State CEQA Guidelines, and the City’s Local CEQA Guidelines and contains a 
complete, objective, and accurate reporting of the environmental impacts associated with the 
proposed Project, and reflects the independent judgment and analysis of the Council.   

 
SECTION 2.  CEQA Findings.  Based on the substantial evidence set forth in the record, 

including but, not limited to, the Certified FEIR, subsequent CEQA documents, and the Project 
Addendum, the Council finds that an addendum is the appropriate document for disclosing the 
changes reflected in the proposed Project, and that none of the conditions identified in Public 
Resources Code section 21166 and State CEQA Guidelines sections 15162 or City’s Local CEQA 
Guidelines requiring subsequent environmental review have occurred, because:  

 
(a) The Project does not constitute a substantial change that would require major 

revisions of the due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects.   

 
(b) There is not a substantial change with respect to the circumstances under which 

the Project will be developed that would require major revisions of the Certified FEIR due to the 
involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of 
the previously identified significant effects.  

 
(c) New information of substantial importance has not been presented that was not 

known and could not have been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the 
Certified FEIR was certified or adopted, showing any of the following: (i) that the Project would 
have one or more significant effects not discussed in the earlier environmental documentation; 
(ii) that significant effects previously examined would be substantially more severe than shown 
in the earlier environmental documentation; (iii) that mitigation measures or alternatives 
previously found not to be feasible would in fact be feasible and would substantially reduce one 
or more significant effects, but the City declined to adopt such measures; or (iv) that mitigation 
measures or alternatives considerably different from those analyzed previously would 
substantially reduce one or more significant effects on the environment, but which the City 
declined to adopt.  
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City of Indian Wells                        
Resolution No. 2024-__ 
Page 3 
 

  
 

 
SECTION 3.  The Council adopts the Project Addendum. 

   
SECTION 4.  This Resolution takes effect upon adoption. 
 
SECTION 5. The City Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Resolution and file a 

Notice of Determination within five days of adoption. 
 

 
 PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Indian Wells, 
California, at a regular meeting held on this 15th day of October 2024. 
 
 
 
 
 ____________________________ 
 GREG SANDERS 
 MAYOR  
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION FOR RESOLUTION NO. 2024-___ 
 
I, Angelica Avila, City Clerk of the City of Indian Wells, California, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the 
whole number of the members of the City Council is five (5); that the above and foregoing 
Resolution was duly and regularly passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the City Council of 
the City of Indian Wells on the 15th day of November 2024, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:   Griffith, Peabody, Reed, Sanders, Whitman     
NOES:   None  
  
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ ____________________________ 
ANGELICA AVILA TODD LEISHMAN for 
CITY CLERK  CITY ATTORNEY  
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EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Proposed Project CEQA Addendum 
 

(follows this page) 
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EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Proposed Project CEQA Addendum 
 

(follows this page) 
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1.0 INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 Introduction and Purpose 
 
The City of Indian Wells (City) is the lead agency under the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA).  On February 1, 1996, the City Council adopted the 1996 Update to the City of Indian 
Wells General Plan (Approved Project), inclusive of the associated Land Use Map (Figure IIA-
3).  At the same time, the City Council certified by Resolution No. 96-9 the City of Indian Wells 
General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (SCH No. 94092037) (General Plan FEIR) in 
compliance with CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines.  The General Plan FEIR concluded that, 
although implementation of development under the 1996 General Plan could result in significant 
impacts, these potential adverse impacts are able to be mitigated to below a level of 
significance with the exception of impacts related to short- and long-term air quality, even after 
the implementation of General Plan policies as mitigation. 
 
The City proposes to redesign a portion of its municipal golf course at the Indian Wells Golf 
Resort (Figure 1, Vicinity Map), known as the Player’s Course, to include relocation of the final 
two holes (Holes #17 and #18), currently located south of Whitewater Channel, to the north side 
of the channel within the primary area of the existing golf course (Figure 2, Existing Golf Course 
Aerial).  The redesign will require grading of the site and the creation of new golf greens atop 
areas that have been previously disturbed as part of the existing golf course (Figure 3, 
Proposed Golf Course Redesign). The City’s 1996 General Plan and General Plan Land Use 
Map designate the subject property as Open Space with a Golf and Recreation Overlay.  Upon 
completion of the redesign, the golf course would continue to operate consistent with existing 
conditions. The proposed redesign to move the two golf holes from the south side of the 
Whitewater Channel to the north side of the Channel would not result in any changes to existing 
operations (e.g., capacity, hours, new or expanded facilities or uses, etc.).   
 
Following preliminary review of the proposed golf course redesign, the City of Indian Wells, as 
the Lead Agency, has determined that it is subject to CEQA guidelines and regulations (Public 
Resources Code (PRC) Sections 21000-21177).  This Addendum to the General Plan FEIR has 
been prepared by the City to demonstrate that, pursuant to the standards contained in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15162, the City does not need to prepare a subsequent EIR as the General 
Plan FEIR fully analyzed the potential impacts associated with the proposed golf course 
redesign. 
 
1.2 Statutory Authority and Requirements 
 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15164 states the following with respect to an Addendum to an EIR: 
 

a) The lead agency or responsible agency shall prepare an addendum to a previously 
certified EIR if some changes or additions are necessary but none of the conditions 
described in Section 15162 calling for preparation of a subsequent EIR have occurred. 
 

b) An addendum to an adopted negative declaration may be prepared if only minor 
technical changes or additions are necessary or none of the conditions described in 
Section 15162 calling for the preparation of a subsequent EIR or negative declaration 
have occurred. 
 

c) An addendum need not be circulated for public review but can be included in or attached 
to the final EIR or adopted negative declaration. 
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d) The decision making body shall consider the addendum with the final EIR or adopted 

negative declaration prior to making a decision on the project. 
 

e) A brief explanation of the decision not to prepare a subsequent EIR pursuant to Section 
15162 should be included in an addendum to an EIR, the lead agency’s findings on the 
project, or elsewhere in the record.  The explanation must be supported by substantial 
evidence. 

 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15162, Subsequent EIRs and Negative Declarations, states the 
following with respect to a Subsequent EIRs: 
 

(a) When an EIR has been certified or a negative declaration adopted for a project, no 
subsequent EIR shall be prepared for that project unless the lead agency determines, on 
the basis of substantial evidence in the light of the whole record, one or more of the 
following:   
 
(1) Substantial changes are proposed in the project which will require major revisions of 

the previous EIR or negative declaration due to the involvement of new significant 
environmental effects or a substantial increase in the severity of previously identified 
significant effects; 

 
(2) Substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project 

is undertaken which will require major revisions of the previous EIR or Negative 
Declaration due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects; or 

 
(3) New information of substantial importance, which was not known and could not have 

been known with the exercise of reasonable diligence at the time the previous EIR 
was certified as complete or the Negative Declaration was adopted, shows any of the 
following: 

 
(A) The project will have one or more significant effects not discussed in the previous 

EIR or negative declaration;  
 
(B) Significant effects previously examined will be substantially more severe than 

shown in the previous EIR; 
 
(C) Mitigation measures or alternatives previously found not to be feasible would in 

fact be feasible, and would substantially reduce one or more significant effects of 
the project, but the project proponents decline to adopt the mitigation measure or 
alternative; or  

 
(D) Mitigation measures or alternatives which are considerably different from those 

analyzed in the previous EIR would substantially reduce one or more significant 
effects on the environment, but the project proponents decline to adopt the 
mitigation measure or alternative. 
 

(b) If changes to a project or its circumstances occur or new information becomes available 
after adoption of a negative declaration, the lead agency shall prepare a subsequent EIR 
if required under subdivision (a). Otherwise the lead agency shall determine whether to 
prepare a subsequent negative declaration, an addendum, or no further documentation. 
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1.3 CEQA Compliance 
 
This document is an Addendum to the General Plan FEIR.  CEQA Guidelines Section 15164 
allows preparation of an Addendum to a previously certified EIR if some changes or additions 
are necessary, but none of the conditions calling for preparation of a Subsequent EIR have 
occurred.  The City has determined that none of the conditions calling for preparation of a 
Subsequent EIR have occurred.  Namely, the changes/additions to the General Plan FEIR are 
limited in the following respects: 
 

• The changes required by the proposed Project do not require major revisions to the 
General Plan FEIR.  No new significant environmental effect or substantial increase in 
the severity of previously identified significant effects would occur with implementation of 
the proposed Project. 
 

• Substantial changes have not occurred with respect to the circumstances under which 
the proposed Project would be undertaken.  Thus, major revisions of the General Plan 
FEIR due to the involvement of new significant environmental effects or a substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant effects are not required.   
 

• The new available information does not show that the proposed Project would have one 
or more significant effects not discussed in the General Plan FEIR, or that the significant 
effects previously examined would be substantially more severe than shown in the 
General Plan FEIR. 
 

Therefore, because the proposed Project would not satisfy any of the conditions that warrant 
preparation of a Subsequent EIR, the City, as Lead Agency, has determined that preparation of 
an Addendum is appropriate.   
 
1.4 Incorporation by Reference 
 
The documents outlined below, which were utilized during preparation of this Addendum and 
are a matter of public record, are hereby incorporated by reference.  These documents are 
available for public inspection at the City of Indian Wells Community Development Department 
at 44-950 Eldorado Drive, Indian Wells, and on the City’s website at 
https://www.cityofindianwells.org/city-hall/departments/planning/handouts-link   
 
City of Indian Wells General Plan, Updated April 4, 2024.  The City Council comprehensively 
adopted the 1996 Update to the City of Indian Wells General Plan, inclusive of the Land Use 
Map, on February 1, 1996.  The General Plan is the primary source of long-range planning and 
policy direction that is used to guide the City’s growth and change, and preserve and enhance 
the community’s quality of life.  The General Plan, which contains the goals, policies, and plans 
to guide land use and development decisions in the future, is organized into functional chapters 
that include traditional elements, as follows: 
 

Community Development Chapter 
• Land Use Element (Updated May 17, 2007); 
• Housing Element (Updated April 4, 2024); 
• Circulation Element (Updated December 15, 2016); 
 
Resource Management Chapter 
• Conservation and Open Space (Updated December 15, 2016); 
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Public Safety Chapter 
• Community Safety; and 
• Noise. 

 
The proposed redesign of a portion of the City’s existing municipal golf course, commonly 
known as the Players Course at the Indian Wells Golf Resort, is the subject of this Addendum.   
 
Land Use Element Table IIA-2 presents the Land Use Plan’s buildout potentials and 
assumptions.  As indicated in Land Use Element Table IIA-2, full implementation of the General 
Plan is anticipated to result in buildout of Golf and Recreation Uses within the areas currently 
developed with the City’s municipal golf course including the portions of the Players Course 
which would be redesigned under the proposed Project.     
 
City of Indian Wells General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report (SCH # 94092037), 
January 1995.  The City of Indian Wells General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report 
(General Plan FEIR) provides a program-level analysis of the environmental impacts resulting 
from full implementation of the 2009 General Plan.  The General Plan FEIR’s analysis is based 
on the change between development under existing conditions (at the time of document 
preparation) and those projected for likely development in accordance with the General Plan by 
theoretical buildout in 2025. Based on General Plan FEIR Figure 4.1-9, the subject property for 
the golf course redesign is located entirely within an area designated for Golf Course use within 
the General Plan’s Open Space and Recreation Plan.  The General Plan FEIR concluded full 
implementation of the General Plan would result in less than significant impacts, with mitigation 
incorporated, for all issue areas analyzed.  The General Plan FEIR’s background and policy 
information and environmental impact conclusions are cited throughout this Addendum. 
 
City of Indian Wells Municipal Code, as (continuously) updated.  The City of Indian Wells 
Municipal Code (IWMC) consists of all of the City’s regulatory and penal ordinances, and certain 
of the administrative ordinances.  The City’s Zoning Ordinance is codified in IWMC Title 21, 
Zoning Code.  The purpose of the Zoning Code is to consolidate and coordinate all zoning 
regulations and provisions into one comprehensive zoning ordinance in order to:  designate, 
regulate, and restrict the location and use of land, buildings, and certain other structures for 
residential, commercial, or other purposes; regulate and limit the height, number of stories and 
size of buildings and other structures hereafter erected or altered; regulate the size of yards and 
other open spaces; and regulate and limit the density of population and for the purpose of 
dividing the City into zones of such numbers, shapes, and areas as may be deemed best suited 
for the optimum uses of the property within the City.  The IWMC specifies regulations that must 
be followed by every project within the City’s jurisdictional area.  The IWMC is referenced 
throughout this Addendum to establish the Project’s baseline requirements according to the 
City’s regulatory framework. 
 
Addendum to a Certified EIR for the Redesign of the Players Course at the City of Indian Wells 
Golf Resort.  The Addendum to a Certified EIR for the Redesign of the Players Course at the 
City of Indian Wells Golf Resort (2024 Addendum to FEIR) was prepared to document minor 
changes to one of the City’s existing municipal golf courses (Player’s course) at the Indian Wells 
Golf Resort, as compared to the analysis, conclusions, and mitigation measures in the General 
Plan FEIR.   
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2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
The two original 18-hole golf courses at the Indian Wells Golf Resort were comprised of the 
“The East” course and “The West” course designed by Ted Robinsons and built in the mid-
1980s.  They were subsequently redesigned in 2007 by John Fought, and were renamed the 
Celebrity Course and Player’s Course, respectively.  The proposed redesign of and 
modifications to the Player’s Course is driven in part by the need to relocate the last two holes 
(#17 and #18) of the Player’s Course originally designed by golfer John Fought. The limited 
redesign would free up the existing holes 17 and 18 for future development by integrating these 
two holes into the main body of the existing course on the north side of the Whitewater Storm 
Channel. It would also create “returning 9’s,” to the Clubhouse, which would result in better 
efficiencies for the players, economics for the course, and ultimately qualify the course for future 
PGA and LPGA sanctioned tournaments.  The course redesign also makes additional 
adjustments to existing fairways, tees and bunkers of the remaining golf holes to improve the 
overall flow and connectivity of the golf course. 
  
3.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED PROJECT  
 
3.1 Project Location and Setting 
 
The City of Indian Wells is located in the Coachella Valley, in central Riverside County.  Indian 
Wells is bordered by the City of Palm Desert on the north and west, the City of La Quinta on the 
east, and unincorporated Riverside County (State and Bureau of Land Management lands) on 
the south.  Regional access to the City is provided via State Route 111 (SR-111), which 
traverses the City in an east-west orientation, and the San Bernardino Freeway (I-10), which is 
located approximately two miles to the north.  The City’s planning area boundaries encompass 
approximately 9,627 acres (approximately 15 square miles). 
 
Indian Wells is a small residential community that is best known for its world class resorts that 
cater to golfers and tennis players. It is generally characterized by golf courses, private 
communities, and resorts, situated in natural surroundings.  According to the City’s General 
Plan, Table IIA-1, the vast majority of the planning area (approximately 64 percent or 6,190.6 
acres) is comprised of open spaces, including parks, public/private open spaces, and 
public/private golf course uses.  The developed areas, which encompass approximately 15 
percent of the planning area, include residential, commercial, and public facility uses.  
Residential uses dominate the City’s developed areas, accounting for approximately 90 percent 
of all developed lands.  The non-residential developed areas, which included mixed-use retail, 
office commercial centers, and hotel resorts, encompass approximately 93 acres, or one 
percent of the planning area. 
 
The land use distribution and residential and nonresidential development levels that can be 
expected from full implementation of the General Plan’s land use policies are illustrated on the 
Land Use/Zoning Map1 and outlined in General Plan Table IIA-2. The anticipated build-out 
under the General Plan would result in 1,520.4 acres of golf course recreation uses within the 
City. 
 
The subject property is located north of Highway 111 and south of Fred Waring Drive within the 
corporate limits of the City of Indian Wells in the Coachella Valley area of central Riverside 

 
1 City of Indian Wells Website, http://www.cityofindianwells.org/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx? 

blobid=14516, Accessed October 1, 2024. 
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County. The redesign golf course project site can also be described as a portion of the N1/2 of 
Section 23 and the W1/2 of the NW1/4 of Section 24, T.5S., R.6E, SBB&M (refer to Figure 1). 

 
The subject Player’s course is one of two municipal golf courses, which abut one another on the 
west of the subject course. Lands to the immediate north of the Players course include the 
arterial roadway Fred Waring Drive with homes and golf course area of Palm Desert Country 
Club located north of Waring Drive and buffered from it by a six to eight-foot wall.  
 
Lands immediately east of the Player course are comprised of four small single-family 
subdivisions which are built out. These homes are buffered from the course by an existing 
internal roadway 34± feet in width, and a masonry wall along the property line. The Player’s 
course currently provides a landscape buffer ranging from 30± feet to 90± feet between these 
residential subdivisions and areas of play on the course. 
 
The Project site is bounded on the south by the existing and improved Whitewater Stormwater 
Channel (WWSC), which is approximately 260 feet in width (top of bank to top of bank). The 
WWSC is managed by the Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD), which is the regional flood 
control agency. Immediately south of the channel are the Renaissance Esmeralda Resort Hotel 
and the Indian Wells Golf Resort clubhouse, starter areas and related facilities. Lands to the 
southeast and south of the channel include vacant lands and the Miles Avenue bridge, which 
crosses the channel from Highway 111 and proceeds east to Warner Trail and Washington 
Street farther to the east. 
 
3.2 Project Description 
 
The Project is the proposed limited redesign of portions of the Player’s course, one of two 
municipal golf courses at the Indian Well Golf Resort. The project involves relocating Holes 17 
and 18 from the south side of the Whitewater River to the north side. A variety of modifications 
are also planned for the other 16 holes ranging from tee box consolidation and bunker 
reshaping to removal of trees and other vegetation. Approximately 17 bunkers and 40%± of the 
sand areas on the course would also be removed. Minor adjustments to the golf course cart 
paths would also be made. Remedial grading and adjustments in ground elevations will occur 
across portions of the redesigned course areas. 
 
The golf course’s drainage facilities will be updated and will involve the removal of 3,739± feet 
of existing drainpipe and related drain inlets and sumps. The drainage system update also 
includes the installation of 96± inlets, five sumps and 12,045 feet of 4-inch pipe. A total of 57.9± 
acres of the course will be disturbed, and selected trees and vegetation removed. Four (4) 
waste bury pits encompassing 0.61±-acre are planned to provide an area for the disposal of 
removed asphalt paving and trees and other vegetation.  
 
4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS 
 
The purpose of this Section is to provide an analysis of the potential environmental 
consequences that are anticipated to occur as a result of implementing the proposed redesign 
of portions of the Player’s course.  This Section is patterned after the analysis categories set 
forth in the Appendix G Checklist of CEQA.  The background of the proposed Project is 
described in Section 2.0, and the project setting and project description are described in Section 
of Section 3.0, above. 
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4.1 AESTHETICS 
 
Except as provided in Public Resources Code Section 21099, Would the project: 
 
a. Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 
b. Substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock 

outcroppings, and historic buildings within a state scenic highway? 
c. In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or quality of 

public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are 
experienced from publicly accessible vantage point). If the project is in an urbanized 
area, would the project conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing 
scenic quality? 

d. Create a new source of substantial light or glare, which would adversely affect day or 
nighttime views in the area? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• New development occurring under the proposed General Plan could replace natural 
open space and vacant land altering views and potentially degrading the aesthetic 
quality of the City.  This is considered a significant, but mitigable impact (Impact 4.3-1). 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The original golf course was designed and built in the mid-1980s, along with a second course 
(Celebrity), and the Indian Wells Golf Resort clubhouse and associated amenities. The course 
was subsequently redesigned in 2007 and has remained largely in its current condition since 
that time. The course also includes the “Fairway Grill” a lunch venue for golfers located near 
hole 9 of the subject and second golf course. No changes are planned for this structure which is 
located in the middle of the two golf courses. 
 
The Project site is not located along or near a designated scenic highway or one “eligible” for 
designation as a state scenic highway and is not designated as a scenic highway in the City 
General Plan. The nearest State Scenic Highway is Highway 74 south of Highway 111 and 3.5± 
miles to the west of the Project site. 
 
As noted in the project description, the proposed Project will involve the relocation of two holes 
from the south side to north side of the Whitewater Stormwater Channel and will involve 
extensive grading, excavations for new sand traps and other course features, and the removal 
and replacement of trees and other vegetation. No new buildings or other vertical structures are 
planned as a part of the Project. No work will occur within the stormwater channel. As noted, 
within the Player’s course area the Project calls for extensive grading, alterations to the course 
layout, sand traps/bunkers and some tee locations.  
 
The Project also involves the reconfiguration of the golf course drainage system. It also calls for 
“selective tee removal” across about 50 percent of the course with the largest vegetation 
management area along a portion of the south side of the course; tree and vegetation removal, 
as well as new tree planting, are expected to be limited and will have no adverse aesthetic 
impact on views of the course. Therefore, the proposed redesign of the Players Course does 
not trigger new aesthetic impacts requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR.  Accordingly, 
following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
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Policies as warranted, there would be no new significant or no significantly different impacts to 
aesthetics, as a result of the Project. 
 
4.2 AGRICULTURE AND FOREST RESOURCES 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance 

(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

b. Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract? 
c. Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 

Resources Code Section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code 
Section 4526), or timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government 
Code Section 51104(g))? 

d. Result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 
e. Involve other changes in the existing environment which, due to their location or nature, 

could result in conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest 
land to non-forest use? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
Impacts to agriculture resources were not specifically discussed in the General Plan FEIR, as 
they were not found to be potentially significant.2 
 
Since certification of the General Plan FEIR, the CEQA Guidelines Appendix G Checklist has 
been revised to include a new category for Forest Resource impacts.  Accordingly, a review has 
been conducted and is presented below. 
 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The Project proposes the partial redesign of the Player’s golf course, which has been in place 
for several decades. The site is in a developed resort area in Indian Wells. It is not on or in 
proximity to any farm or forest lands. The California Important Farmland Finder prepared for the 
Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the Department of Conservation classifies the 
Project site and the surrounding area as Urban and Built-Up Land.   
 
The Project site is not located on or near Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of 
Statewide Importance or located within an agricultural preserve or lands under a Williamson Act 
contract. The site’s General Plan/Zoning designation is Open Space/Golf and Recreation, and 
surrounding sites are zones for similar open space as well as urban uses. There will be no 
conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract. The proposed 
Project would not result in the conversion of any farmland or land designated as farmland to 
non-agricultural uses. 
 
The site does not contain forest land, timberland, or timberland zoned for timberland production. 
The Project would not result in the rezoning of forestland or timberland as defined by the Public 
Resources Code §12220(g) or by Government code §51104(g). Therefore, the Project would 
not cause changes that could result in conversion of Farmland, to non-agricultural use or 

 
2 Recon, Final Environmental Impact Report for the City of Indian Wells General Plan, Page 5, January 30, 

1995. 
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conversion of forest land to non-forest use.  Accordingly, the Project would not result in any 
impacts in this regard.  
 
4.3 AIR QUALITY 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 
b. Result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 

project region is non-attainment under an applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard? 

c. Expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 
d. Result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a 

substantial number of people? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Development that would occur as a result of the General Plan would increase PM10, 
ROC, NOx, and CO emissions, as a result of construction related activities.  This is a 
short-term significant impact that is mitigatable.  (Impact 4.7-1) 

• Traffic generated by new development allowed under the General Plan would not cause 
intersection in the City to exceed SCAQMD standards for localized one-hour and eight-
hour CO concentrations.  This is not a significant impact.  (Impact 4.7-2) 

• Increases of criteria air pollutant emissions associated with vehicular traffic and 
electricity and natural gas use would degrade regional air quality, potentially delaying 
attainment of AQMP and Air Quality Implementation Plan (AQIP).  This is a significant 
impact.  (Impact 4.7-3) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The Project site is within the Salton Sea Air Basin (SSAB) and will be subject to SCAQMD’s 
2022 AQMP and the 2003 Coachella Valley PM10 SIP. These comprehensive plans establish 
control strategies and guidance on regional emission reductions for air pollutants.  
 
A project is considered to be in conformity with adopted air quality plans if it adheres to the 
requirements of the SCAQMD Rule Book, AQMP, and adopted and forthcoming control 
measures, and is consistent with growth forecasts in the applicable plan(s) (or is directly 
included in the applicable plan). The proposed redesign of the golf course will maintain the 
existing open space land uses and would not induce any population growth. Therefore, it is 
consistent with the growth forecasts upon which SCAQMD’s air quality planning is based.  
 
The redesigned golf course and associated improvements would be conducted in accordance 
with all applicable air quality management plans and SCAQMD regulations to ensure impacts to 
air quality are reduced to the greatest extent practicable. Standard dust control measures in 
accordance with SCAQMD Rule 403.1 will be implemented to minimize the emissions of fugitive 
dust. The proposed Project would be implemented in accordance with all applicable rules and 
regulations contained in these plans to meet the applicable air quality standards. Overall, 
construction of the proposed Project would not prevent SCAQMD from implementing actions set 
forth in the applicable air quality plans. 
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During buildout, the Project has the potential to result in short-term odors associated with 
excavation and grading, pouring of concrete, and other construction activities. However, any 
such odors would be short-term and quickly dispersed below detectable levels as distance from 
the construction site increases. Project buildout is estimated to occur over a 6-month period, 
and construction odors would be generated across various time periods and locations 
throughout the site such that odors would not be concentrated in one area for an extended 
duration. During long-term operation, the proposed golf course improvements are not expected 
to generate any odors. 
 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures, General Plan Policies, 
and SCAQMD Rules, no new significant air quality impact or substantial increase in the severity 
of previously identified significant impacts would occur due to construction and operation of the 
redesigned golf course.   
 
4.4 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, on any 

species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status species in local or regional 
plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

b. Have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional plans, policies, regulations or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

c. Have a substantial adverse effect on federally protected wetlands (including, but not 
limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption, or other means? 

d. Interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish or 
wildlife species or with established native resident or migratory wildlife corridors, or 
impede the use of native wildlife nursery sites? 

e. Conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such as a 
tree preservation policy or ordinance? 

f. Conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Implementation of development under the General Plan could result in significant 
impacts to: sensitive vegetation types and sensitive plant or animal species and local 
migratory routes of resident wildlife species.  This is considered a significant but 
mitigable impact. (Impact 4.5.1) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The Project area has been in a developed state since at least the mid-1980s when both 18-hole 
courses at the Indian Wells Golf Resort were originally constructed. The Player’s course is 
flanked by residential on the immediate east that dates back well before 1979, and is bounded 
on the north by Fred Waring Drive, which has also been in place for several decades as is the 
case for lands farther north (Palm Desert Country Club). To the west is the second of the 
resort’s two courses (Celebrity course), which extends west to Eldorado Drive and which is not 
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a part of the subject Project. The subject Player’s course project area is bounded on the south 
by the Whitewater Stormwater Channel, which is further discussed below. 
 
The proposed redesign of the Players course would result in ground-disturbance to 
approximately 56 acres associated with the required grading activities to re-contour the existing 
turfed fairways, tees and greens, bunkers (sand traps) and re-naturalized desert areas.  A 
variety of trees, including native and non-native, are also found within the developed golf course 
area. Portions of the Project area include lands immediately upslope of the north bank (channel 
side slopes) of the stormwater channel primarily in the vicinity of the Miles Avenue bridge just 
southeast of the subject Player’s course. Vegetation along the channel is a mix of native, 
selected ornamental non-native species and a few invasive species, including tamarisk.  
 
The Project site is located within the boundaries of the Coachella Valley Multiple Species 
Habitat Conservation Plan (MSHCP) but outside a Conservation Area (CA) established by the 
Plan. The City is a “permittee” under the MSHCP. The subject site lies outside the Santa Rosa 
and San Jacinto Mountains Conservation Area established by the adopted Coachella Valley 
MSHCP. It does, occur within the fee mitigation area established by the plan. However, the 
Project site was fully developed prior to 1996 and is not therefore subject to any development 
impact fee established by the MSHCP. The Project will not conflict with any local policies or 
ordinances protecting biological resources. Neither will it conflict with the provisions of the 
Coachella Valley MSHCP/Natural Community Conservation Plan, or any other approved local, 
regional, or state habitat conservation plan. 
 
Additionally, the proposed project does not propose to change existing land use designations or 
zoning districts or add additional uses to the existing golf course.  Therefore, any potentially 
significant biological effects resulting from build out of the General Plan, have already been 
adequately analyzed in the General Plan FEIR, and can be avoided/mitigated pursuant to 
compliance with the mitigation measures contained the General Plan FEIR (see General Plan  
EIR Impact 4.5-1).   
 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures, General Plan Policies, 
and established regulatory framework, no new significant impact to biological resources or 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would occur with 
implementation of the proposed Project.  Therefore, the proposed redesign of the existing 
Player’s course would not result in new biological resources impacts requiring preparation of a 
subsequent EIR.   
 
4.5 CULTURAL RESOURCES 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as 

defined in CEQA Guidelines §15064.5? 
b. Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 

pursuant to CEQA Guidelines §15064.5? 
c. Disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of dedicated cemeteries? 
 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
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• Excavation and grading from implementation of future development projects under the
General Plan could damage or destroy significant cultural resources.  This is considered
a significant, but mitigable impact. (Impact 4.12-1)

Analysis of the Project 

The Project area has been developed as a golf course since at least the mid-1980s when both 
18-hole courses at the Indian Wells Golf Resort were originally constructed. The proposed
redesign of the Players course would result in ground-disturbance to approximately 56 acres
associated with the required grading activities to re-contour the existing turfed fairways, tees
and greens, bunkers (sand traps) and re-naturalized desert areas.

The Project does not propose to change existing land use designations or zoning districts, or 
add additional uses to the golf course.  Therefore, any potentially significant cultural resource 
effects resulting from developing the site consistent with its General Plan Land Use (Open 
Space / Golf Recreation), have already been adequately analyzed in the General Plan FEIR, 
and can be avoided/mitigated pursuant to compliance with the mitigation measures contained 
the General Plan FEIR (see General Plan FEIR Impacts 4.12-1 and 4.13-1).  As concluded in 
the General Plan FEIR, ground-disturbing activities, such as grading or excavation, could 
unearth undocumented archaeological or paleontological resources, or disturb unknown human 
remains.  Per required mitigation measures identified in the FEIR, site-specific cultural 
resources surveys would be conducted, as needed, to evaluate potential impacts to cultural 
resources.  If human remains were found, those remains would require proper treatment, in 
accordance with applicable laws.   

Following compliance with the established regulatory framework, and required FEIR mitigation 
measures and General Plan Policies, including the City’s Archaeological Resource Policy, no 
new significant impact to archaeological/paleontological resources or human remains, or 
substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts, would occur with 
implementation of the Project. Therefore, the proposed redesign of the Player’s course would 
not result in new cultural resource impacts requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR.   

4.6 ENERGY 

Would the project: 

a. Result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or
unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation?

b. Conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for renewable energy or energy efficiency?

General Plan FEIR Conclusions 

The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 

• The City certified the General Plan FEIR before Appendix G of the State CEQA 
Guidelines was revised to include a checklist item specific to a project’s impacts relating 
to Energy. As such, the General Plan FEIR, as amended by the 2007 and 2013 
Addenda, does not include a standalone Energy Analysis Section. However the topic of 
energy is addressed in General Plan FEIR Section 4.10, Public Services/Utilities. The 
General Plan FEIR concluded that development allowed under the General Plan would 
not significantly impact the service companies now providing natural gas and electricity 
in their ability to provide these services to meet projected demand.
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• The General Plan FEIR Conservation and Open Space Element contain policies 
pertaining to natural gas and electricity which must be adhered to, including encouraging 
the use of site planning techniques, building orientation, and building design that reduce 
energy use; and encourage energy conservation by incorporating updated planning and 
building standards which minimize consumption of non-renewable resources. The 
General Plan FEIR determined that no mitigation was necessary provided the General 
Plan Conservation and Open Space Element goals and policies are adhered to. 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The Project would not result in new energy impacts beyond those identified in the General Plan 
FEIR. The Project would consume energy during the construction phase to operate construction 
equipment and as a result of the manufacture of construction materials (PVC pipe, concrete, 
etc.). During construction, the Project would use electricity to power construction trailers, power 
tools, and to light storage, staging and work areas. The primary energy source will be petroleum 
fuel (i.e. gasoline and diesel) for the operation of graders, compactors and water trucks, 
material-hauling trucks, as well as vehicle trips associated with construction worker commutes. 
Electricity will be used to a lesser extent to operate power electric equipment and worksite 
lighting. As such, the Project would not be expected to cause an inefficient, wasteful, or 
unnecessary use of energy resources nor conflict with or obstruct a state or local plan for 
renewable energy or energy efficiency. The General Plan includes goals and policies to reduce 
potential impacts to energy resources, including, but not limited to, Conservation and Open 
Space Element Policy IIIA7.2, which directs the City to incorporate planning and building 
standards which minimize consumption of non-renewable resources, such as natural gas and 
fossil fuels, into City codes; Policy IIIA7.3, which directs the City to encourage a Green Building 
program that awards incentives for projects that install energy conservation measures; and 
Policy IIIA7.9, which directs the City to encourage the use of site planning techniques, building 
orientation, and building designs that reduce energy use. The Project’s development will be 
reviewed for consistency with State energy efficiency standards, including the California Energy 
Code and California Green Building Standards Code, as adopted by the City of Indian Wells, as 
well as General Plan Policies aimed to reduced potential impacts to energy resources. 
Adherence with the General Plan policies and existing regulations, there would be no new 
significant or significantly different impacts related to energy as a result of the proposed Project.  
 
4.7 GEOLOGY AND SOILS 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk of 

loss, injury, or death involving: 
i. Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as delineated on the most recent Alquist-

Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or 
based on other substantial evidence of a known fault?  Refer to Division of Mines 
and Geology Special Publication 42. 

ii. Strong seismic ground shaking? 
iii. Seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 
iv. Landslides? 

b. Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 
c. Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a 

result of the project, and potentially result in on-or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, 
subsidence, liquefaction or collapse? 

d. Be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 18-1-B of the California Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial risks to life or property? 
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e. Have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative 
waste water disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of waste 
water? 

f. Directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique geologic 
feature? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Implementation of development under the General Plan could result in significant 
impacts resulting from erosion and blowsand hazards.  These potential adverse impacts 
are significant, but mitigable. (Impact 4.8.1) 

 
• Future seismic activity within the area has the potential to significantly impact property 

and residents as a result of groundshaking and landslides/rockfall hazards, but this 
impact is mitigable. (Impact 4.8.3) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The City, including the subject golf course site, is located in a seismically active region, 
surrounded by three active faults. The closest fault, the San Andreas Fault, is located 
approximately 5 miles northeast of the site. The San Jacinto Fault is approximately 12 miles 
southwest of the site, and the Elsinore Fault is approximately 32 miles southwest. Given its 
location in a seismically active region, the site currently is and would continue to be subject to 
strong seismic ground shaking. The primary hazard associated with seismic ground shaking is 
the risk of collapse of buildings or other structures.  
 
The City does not contain land within a State-designated Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone, 
Landslide Zone, or Liquefaction Zone.3  However, as concluded in the General Plan FEIR, land 
uses under the General Plan could be exposed to potential substantial adverse effects involving 
strong seismic ground shaking, seismic-related ground failure, or unstable geologic units or 
soils; refer to General Plan FEIR Figures 4.8-1, 4.8-3, and 4.8-4.  Once operational, the subject 
golf course area will not be occupied by any residential, commercial or other structures for 
human occupation, and therefore it would not expose individuals to an increased risk from 
strong ground shaking events in the region. The construction of the required infrastructure and 
utilities in support of the redesigned golf course will be subject to applicable California Building 
Code (CBC) requirements. Adherence to applicable structure and seismic requirements will 
minimize the potential for damage to the golf course infrastructure in the event of strong seismic 
ground shaking.  
 
According to Figure 4.9.3 in the Riverside County General Plan EIR, the subject golf course 
area is of low paleontological sensitivity. Given that the subject golf course already exists, the 
site has been disturbed at least twice since the mid-1980s. Paleontological resources are not 
expected to occur on the subject property, and thus would not be destroyed by the proposed 
golf course redesign project. 
 
Additionally, the golf course redesign does not propose to change existing land use 
designations or zoning districts or add additional uses to the golf course.  Any potentially 
significant geologic effects resulting from developing the site consistent with its General Plan 

 
3 State of California, Department of Conservation California Geological Survey, Regional Geologic & 

Hazards Mapping Program - Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones, http://www.quake.ca.gov/gmaps/WH 
/regulatorymaps.htm, Accessed September 5, 2013.  
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Land Use (Open Space / Golf Recreation), have already been adequately analyzed in the 
General Plan FEIR, and can be avoided/mitigated pursuant to compliance with the mitigation 
measures contained the General Plan FEIR (see General Plan EIR Impacts 4.8-1 and 4.8-3).  
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
Policies, no new significant impacts involving geology, soils, or seismicity, or substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would occur as a result of 
construction or operation of the redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would 
not trigger new geology and soils impacts requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR.   
 
4.8 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS  
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a 

significant impact on the environment? 
b. Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 

the emissions of greenhouse gases? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
Since certification of the General Plan FEIR, the CEQA Guidelines Appendix G Checklist has 
been revised to include a new category for Greenhouse Gas Emissions impacts.  Accordingly, a 
review has been conducted and is presented below. 
 
Analysis of the Project 
 
Effective March 18, 2010, the State adopted amendments to the CEQA Guidelines requiring the 
analysis and mitigation of the effects of GHG emissions in CEQA documents.  The CEQA 
Guidelines regarding GHG emissions do not specifically address situations involving 
subsequent implementation actions for a project with a previously certified EIR.  
 
GHG emissions and global climate change is not “new information” since these effects have 
been generally known for quite some time.  Therefore, for the proposed Project, this would not 
be considered new information pursuant to CEQA, PRC Section 21166, for which a climate 
change analysis is required.  The proposed Project involves redesigning a portion of an existing 
golf course at the Indian Wells Golf Resort.  The proposed redesign of the golf course would not 
allow for additional growth beyond its current operations or what was identified and analyzed in 
the General Plan FEIR.   
 
A June 2011 decision by the Fourth District of the California Court of Appeals also instructs and 
confirms that, after an initial EIR is certified, CEQA establishes a presumption against additional 
environmental review (Citizens for Responsible Equitable Environmental Development v. City of 
San Diego (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 515).  In that case, the court held that the effect of 
greenhouse gas emissions on climate could have been raised in 1994 when the City considered 
a FEIR for the buildout of its General Plan.  However, no challenge to the 1994 FEIR was 
brought within 30 days of the City’s notice of approval of the General Plan land uses. (Pub. 
Resources Code, § 21167, subd. (c).)  Accordingly, the Court of Appeal held that, under 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code Section 21166, the City could not require preparation 
of a Supplemental EIR unless "[n]ew information, which was not known and could not have 
been known at the time the [EIR] was certified as complete, becomes available," and 
information on the effect of greenhouse gas emissions on climate was not “new information” as 
it was known long before the City approved the original FEIR. 
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Pursuant to the SEIR regulations in CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines, the City of Indian Wells’ 
discretion with regard to additional environmental review is limited to determining whether any of 
the three triggering conditions set forth in PRC Section 21166 have occurred.  Since the first 
and second conditions have not occurred (i.e., that the City is not requesting changes to the 
approved General Plan land uses and that there have not been substantial changes in 
circumstances such that new or more severe environmental impacts will occur requiring major 
revisions to the General Plan FEIR), the issue is simply whether GHG emissions constitute “new 
information” under the regulations.  As noted above, a factual finding is made by the City of 
Indian Wells that, consistent with the holding in Citizens for Responsible Equitable 
Environmental Development v. City of San Diego (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 515, such emissions 
do not constitute new information.  Thus, it is therefore concluded, this issue does not constitute 
new information triggering the need to prepare a Supplemental EIR. 
 
4.9 HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine 

transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials? 
b. Create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably 

foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials 
into the environment? 

c. Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, 
substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or proposed school? 

d. Be located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a 
significant hazard to the public or the environment? 

e. For a project located within an airport land use plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result 
in a safety hazard for people residing or working in the project area? 

f. Impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response 
plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

g. Expose people or structures, either directly or indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury 
or death involving wildland fires? 

 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Development under the General Plan could subject the public to significant impacts due 
to inadequate protection from fire hazards.  This is a potentially adverse impact that is 
not significant. (Impact 4.11-1) 

 
• Development under the General Plan could pose a public health and safety hazard due 

to inadequate preparation for flooding hazards.  This is a potential adverse impact that is 
not significant. (Impact 4.11-2) 

 
• Development that would be implemented under the General Plan could pose a public 

health and safety danger through the release of hazardous emissions or risk of upset.  
This is a potential adverse impact that is not significant. (impact 4.11-3) 
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• Development under the General Plan could interfere with emergency response or 
emergency evacuation plans.  This is a potential adverse impact that is not significant. 
(Impact 4.11-4) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
According to the City’s General Plan Safety Element, there are very few hazardous materials 
generators in the City. Most of the risk associated with potentially hazardous materials is the 
result of the transport of such materials through the City, on major corridors such as the Hwy 
111 and Washington Street. The City is responsible for coordinating with the appropriate 
agencies in the identification of hazardous material sites and regulation of their timely cleanup. 
The subject golf course site is surrounded by resort and residential uses, with no hazardous 
materials sites, airports, or wildland in the immediate vicinity. The subject golf course is located 
approximately 0.18 miles west of the Gerald Ford Elementary School, which is located at the 
southeast corner of Fred Waring Drive and Warner Trail. The project site is also located 2.42± 
miles southwest of the Bermuda Dunes Airport and the Palms Springs International Airport is 
located approximately 10.5 miles northwest of the subject site. According to CalFire, the subject 
site is located approximately three miles north of the closest Local Responsibility Area and is 
4.25 miles north of the nearest Moderate High Fire Hazard Severity Zone (MFHSZ) associated 
with the foothills and slopes of the Santa Rosa Mountains to the south of the golf course site. 
 
The proposed golf course redesign may involve the use of potentially hazardous materials 
related to the operation and maintenance of construction equipment, the use and on-site 
storage of which would cease upon completion of the golf course redesign work. The existing 
maintenance facilities located immediately south of Fred Waring Drive will continue to provide 
storage and management of fuels, fertilizers and landscape chemicals for the maintenance of 
the golf course, as they do now. There will be no changes to these facilities due to the 
implementation of the golf course redesign and operation. The handling, storage, and use of 
these materials would continue to be subject to local, state, and federal laws, including 
California Occupational Health and Safety Administration (CalOSHA) requirements. 
 
Considering the project is simply the redesign of the existing Player’s golf course, it will not 
result in an increase in the routine transport, use, or storage of related hazardous materials or 
fuels, fertilizers, herbicides and pesticides that will be associated with post-construction golf 
course operations. The Project would also not be expected to create a significant hazard to the 
public, schools, or the environment through reasonably foreseeable upset and accident 
conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the environment.  Considering the 
distance to existing airports, and the fact that the project is simply a redesign of an existing golf 
course, it would not result in any airport-related safety hazards or excessive noise for people 
residing or working within the subject golf course area.   
 
According to the City’s General Plan, key evacuation routes in the city include Highway 111, 
Cook Street, and Washington Street. Construction activities associated with the project would 
not involve or result in any temporary impacts to local streets. Furthermore, the construction 
would use existing golf course access from Fred Waring Drive and the existing golf course 
maintenance facilities, would be temporary, and would not interfere with emergency access 
during construction. Therefore, the proposed redesign of the existing golf course would not 
impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency response plan or 
emergency evacuation plan. 
 
According to CalFire, the subject site is located approximately 3 miles north of the closest Local 
Responsibility Area and is 4.25 miles north of the nearest Moderate High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zone (MFHSZ) associated with the foothills and slopes of the Santa Rosa Mountains to the 
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south of the subject golf course site. The proposed Project would simply be the redesign and 
reconstruction of the existing Player’s golf course and does not propose the development of any 
residential or commercial buildings or other occupied structures. It therefore would not expose 
people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires. 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
Policies, no new significant impacts involving hazards and hazardous materials, or substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would occur with 
implementation of the proposed redesigned golf course. Therefore, the proposed Project would 
not result in new hazards or create new hazardous material impacts requiring preparation of a 
subsequent EIR.  
 
4.10 HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise 

substantially degrade surface or ground water quality? 
b. Substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with groundwater 

recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of the 
basin? 

c. Substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including through the 
alteration of the course of stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, 
in a manner which would: 

i. result in substantial erosion or siltation on- or off-site; 
ii. substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which 

would result in flooding on- or off-site; 
iii. create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or 

planned stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources 
of polluted runoff; or 

iv. impede or redirect flood flows? 
d. In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk release of pollutants due to project 

inundation? 
e. Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or sustainable 

groundwater management plan? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Implementation of the General Plan could increase the rate, amount, and quality of 
stormwater runoff by the construction of impervious surfaces.  Increased surface flow 
could also exacerbate flood conditions.  These potential adverse impacts are significant, 
but mitigable. (Impact 4.4-1) 
 

• Implementation of the General Plan would increase demands on already limited 
groundwater resources through increased development of residential, commercial, 
recreational, and landscaping uses.  This potential adverse impact is significant, but 
mitigable. (Impact 4.4-2) 
 

• Development activities related to buildout have the potential to adversely impact surface 
and groundwater quality.  This impact is potentially significant but mitigable. (Impact 4.4-
3) 
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Analysis of the Project 
 
The proposed Project involves the redesign and construction or redevelopment of the existing 
Player’s golf course, which is one of two courses at the Indian Wells Golf Resort. Data provided 
by the golf course management indicates that the subject course uses approximately 850-acre 
feet of water per year.  Golf course management and the referenced report indicate that 99.9% 
of golf course irrigation water is “canal water”, which is imported by CVWD via the All American 
and Coachella Branch canals. Essentially no ground water is used to irrigate these courses. 
 
The subject golf course site is located outside a FEMA designated 100-year flood hazard zone. 
The adjoining Whitewater Stormwater Channel is designated Zone A on the FEMA Flood 
Insurance Rate Map No. 06065C2227H (April 19, 2017). 
 
The proposed Project is limited to changes to the existing Player’s golf course located south of 
Fred Waring Drive and north of the Highway 111. The proposed Project involves the relocation 
of two golf holes from south of the Whitewater Stormwater Channel to the north side of the 
channel. It also involves additional adjustments to the existing course, including limited fairway 
adjustments to accommodate the reintegration of holes 17 and 18 into the course north of the 
channel, and to improve play within the course. Additional adjustments include relocation and 
modifications to tee boxes and bunkers. Existing holes 17 and 18 will be left as is for the 
foreseeable future and will serve as landscaped open space areas for the adjacent 
Renaissance Esmeralda hotel.   
 
Changes to the subject Player’s course include areas of changed and adjusted ground elevation 
where some areas will be reduced (materials removed) and elevated (materials) added. The 
proposed work will include a total of 115,130± cubic yards (cy) of cut and 97,630± cy of fill. The 
difference, 17,500± cy, is expected to be accounted for in the anticipated 15% of soil shrinkage. 
Therefore, cut and fill will be balance on site. 
 
The existing drainage pattern of the redesigned golf course will remain essentially the same as 
current conditions. The site gently slopes from north to south. Minor adjustments will be made to 
the existing golf course drainage facilities to replace old pipes and tie new low spots into the 
existing drainage system. The redesigned course will continue to include areas of re-naturalized 
desert, and runoff from turfed areas, bunkers and natural areas is expected to be minimal. The 
limited drains that discharge into the stormwater channel will continue to do so. 
 
While project construction has the potential to increase soil erosion and deposition into the 
adjoining channel, such impacts will be avoided through the application of appropriate BMPs as 
required by mitigation measures in the FEIR and General Plan Policy. To protect water quality 
during construction, the project will follow the SWRCB’s existing construction policy 
(Construction General Permit Order 2009-0009-DWQ) which requires the development of a 
project specific construction SWPPP in compliance with the State's General Construction 
Permit. 
 
Once course grading and associated disturbances are completed the site will perform as it has 
since the mid-1980s and there will be no increase in potential stormwater runoff, soil erosion or 
potential flood either on site or off-site. The adjacent stormwater channel will continue to serve 
and convey runoff from the same tributary watershed and there will be no net increase in 
channel flows due to the course’s reconstruction or operation. Therefore, the project will not 
increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in such a manner and will not induce flooding on- 
or off-site. In addition, during operation, the course will continue to rely on canal water for 
irrigation and other non-potable uses at the course. 
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Compliance with the established regulatory framework, and the recommended FEIR mitigation 
measures and General Plan Policies, no new significant impacts involving hydrology and 
drainage, or substantial increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would 
occur as a result of constructing and operating the redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the 
proposed Project would not increase or result in new hydrology or water quality impacts 
requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR.  
 
4.11 LAND USE AND PLANNING 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Physically divide an established community? 
b. Cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, 

or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 

• The proposed General Plan would not establish land use categories which would result 
in incompatible land uses or land uses out of character with the surrounding area. 
(Impact 4.1-1) 
 

• The General Plan FEIR determined that the Approved Project was consistent with the 
applicable Indian Wells General Plan Policies, including Policies of the Land Use, 
Housing, Conservation/Open Space, Community Safety, and Noise Elements, and the 
General Plan Goals and Objectives.  The General Plan FEIR concluded that, with the 
implementation of the proposed mitigation measures, the Approved Project was 
consistent with the City’s General Plan. (Resolution 96-9) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The City uses an integrated General Plan Land Use and Zoning Map to assign land use and 
zoning designations to lands in the City. The subject property is designated as “Open Space, 
Golf and Recreation” on these plans. The Open Space and Recreation category encompasses 
five different designations, which are intended to provide a range of public and private open 
spaces and recreational areas for enjoyment and safety of the residents. The “Golf and 
Recreation” designation, which has been assigned to the subject property, provides for public 
and private golf course and tennis facilities. The subject golf course was originally constructed in 
the mid-1980s and is consistent with the General Plan and Zoning designations that have been 
assigned to these lands. 
 
The project proposes the redesign and modifications to the existing Player’s golf course which 
was built at the Indian Wells Golf Resort and has been in place since the mid-1980s. There is 
no residential or other development within the boundaries of the project site. Existing residential 
development is located to the immediate west and to the north of Fred Waring Drive. The 
subject golf course area is bounded on the south by the Whitewater Stormwater Channel and 
resort hotels, with Highway 111 further south. Construction and operation of the redesigned golf 
course would not therefore physically divide an established community.  
 
The golf course redesign does not propose to change existing land use designations or zoning 
districts or add additional uses to the golf course.  Overall, following compliance with the 
recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan Policies, no new significant impacts 
involving land use and planning would occur as a result of constructing and operating the 
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redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would not increase or result in new 
impacts to land use and planning requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR.  
 
4.12 MINERAL RESOURCES   
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value to the 

region and the residents of the state? 
b. Result in the loss of availability of a locally-important mineral resource recovery site 

delineated on a local general plan, specific plan or other land use plan? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• The topic of Mineral Resources is addressed in General Plan FEIR Section 4.8, 
Geology, Soils, and Seismicity. As discussed in the General Plan FEIR, the City includes 
areas classified by the Division of Mines and Geology as MRZ-1 (i.e., zone where 
adequate information indicates there are not significant mineral deposits present or 
where it is judged that there is little likelihood for their presences) and MRZ-3 (i.e., area 
that contains mineral deposits, but their significance cannot be determined based on 
available data). The General Plan FEIR concluded that the northeastern portion of the 
City is in MRZ-1 where adequate information indicates there are no significant mineral 
deposits present as classified by the Division of Mines and Geology.  

• In addition, the zone designated MRZ-3 within the City comprises the steep terrain of the 
Santa Rosa Mountains in the southernmost and western portion of the City, which is 
already predominantly developed. Therefore, the General Plan FEIR determined that the 
potential impact to mineral deposits during implementation of the General Plan is not 
significant, and no mitigation is warranted.  

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
Lands in the City of Indian Wells are located in Mineral Resource Zones 1 and 3 (MRZ-1, MRZ-
3), refer to General Plan FEIR Figure 4.8.24. The subject Project is located entirely within MRZ-1 
and is approximately 0.75 miles from the nearest point of contact with bedrock designated MRZ-
3. The MRZ-1 designation indicates areas where adequate information indicates that no 
significant mineral deposits are present, or where it is judged that little likelihood for their 
presence exists. Mineral resources in the Coachella Valley are largely limited to sand and 
gravels, and the lack of a fluvial regime and deposition in the area precludes such resources in 
the project area. Mining of potentially viable sand and gravel resources is also precluded by 
existing development. The Project proposes the redesign and reconstruction of the existing 
Player’s golf course and therefore would not result in the loss of availability of any known 
mineral resources. The Project site is not designated, used, or planned for mineral resource 
extraction or development. Therefore, the Project would not result in new mineral resources 
impacts beyond those identified in the General Plan FEIR, as there would be no new significant 
or significantly different impacts to mineral resources due to implementation of the proposed 
Project requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR. 
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4.13 NOISE 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in ambient noise levels in 

the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general plan or 
noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies? 

b. Generation of excessive groundborne vibration or groundborne noise levels? 
c. For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 

where such a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public 
use airport, would the project expose people residing or working in the project area to 
excessive noise levels? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Implementation of the proposed General Plan could expose receivers to noise levels in 
excess of 70 dBA CNEL.  These potential adverse impacts are significant, but mitigable. 
(Impact 4.6.1) 
 

• Implementation of the General Plan could expose residential receivers to noise levels in 
excess of 60 dBA CNEL.  These potential adverse impacts are significant, but mitigable. 
(Impact 4.6.2) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The primary source of noise in Indian Wells is traffic noise, including from regional highways, 
such as California State Route 111 and major roadways such as Cook Street, Fred Waring 
Drive and Washington Street. Fred Waring Drive adjoins the north boundary of the Project site 
and is separated from the golf course by a six-foot decorative block wall. Other noise generators 
in the City include construction activities, commercial delivery activities, and landscape 
maintenance equipment. Residences, schools, libraries, and senior care facilities are 
considered noise-sensitive receptors. The Project site is located in a quiet residential 
neighborhood with limited traffic noise. The Bermuda Dunes (Crown Aero) Airport is located 
approximately 2.5 miles northeast of the Project site. The Palms Springs International Airport is 
approximately 11.5 miles northwest the subject site.  
 
The Noise Element in the City’s General Plan provides a Noise Compatibility Matrix which 
defines the acceptable noise level for different land uses in Indian Wells. The “Normally 
Acceptable” noise level range for single family residential land uses is 50 to 60 dBA CNEL. 
Chapter 9.06 of the City’s Municipal Code provides noise control policies and regulations. 
According to §9.24.040, the exterior sound level limit in all residential zones is 55 dBA from 7:01 
a.m. to 10 p.m., and 50 dBA from 10:01 p.m. to 7 a.m. These noise level limits do not include 
temporary noise generated by construction activities. Pursuant to §9.06.047, construction 
activities must be limited to the following hours: 
 

City Permitted Hours for Construction & Landscape Activity  
 

 

Monday to Friday 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
Saturday 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 
Sunday and holidays None 

Source: City of Indian Wells Municipal Code §9.06.044 
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Considering the Project’s location in a resort residential neighborhood, construction activities 
could exceed the City’s noise limit for residential land uses. However, the closest residences are 
located east of Elkhorn Trail along the Project’s easternmost boundary, and construction-related 
noise will be temporary, and high noise levels would be intermittent. It should also be noted that 
golf course modifications in this area are limited. Moreover, construction activities related to the 
subject golf course modifications will be subject to the permitted hours pursuant to Section 
9.06.044 of the Municipal Code, and as provided in Table, above. Provided the Project adheres 
to these hours, any construction-related noise temporarily increasing the ambient noise level in 
the vicinity of the subject golf course site would not be in excess of the standards established in 
the local general plan or noise ordinance. 
 
Once the proposed golf course modifications are completed, the Project site would not be 
expected to generate any new noise or increased noise levels. While occasional noise 
associated with landscape maintenance is anticipated, these activities already occur and will be 
temporary and periodic. Moreover, maintenance of the golf course will be conducted in 
conformance with City permitted hours of construction and landscape activities, as set forth in 
Table, above. Therefore, operational noise associated with the modified golf course would be 
the same as for the existing facility and there will be no permanent increase in ambient noise 
levels in the vicinity of the Project site in excess of standards established in the local general 
plan or noise ordinance. While residents in the surrounding vicinity of the Project site may 
occasionally detect some groundborne vibration during construction activities, impacts would be 
low, temporary and would end once construction is complete. As stated above, construction 
activities would also be limited by the daytime operations hours provided in §9.06.044 of the 
City’s Municipal Code. Groundborne vibration will not be generated during long-term Project 
operation.  
 
The Project site is not located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or within two miles of a 
public airport or public use airport. As noted above, the Bermuda Dunes (Crown Aero) Airport is 
located approximately 2.5 miles northeast of the Project site. The Palms Springs International 
Airport is approximately 11.5 miles northwest the subject site. The Project would thus not 
expose people residing or working in the area to excessive noise levels related to airport 
operations. 
 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
Policies, no new significant noise impacts, or substantial increase in the severity of previously 
identified significant impacts would occur as a result of constructing and operating the 
redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would not increase or result in new 
noise related impacts requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR. 
 
4.14 POPULATION AND HOUSING 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Induce substantial unplanned population growth in an area, either directly (for example, 

by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension 
of roads or other infrastructure)? 

b. Displace substantial numbers of existing housing, necessitating the construction of 
replacement housing elsewhere? 
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General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Upon buildout of the General Plan, additional residential dwelling units and commercial 
development could be added to the City.  This is not considered a significant impact. 
(Impact 4.9-1) 
 

• Upon buildout (post 2015) of the General Plan, the population in the plan area would 
increase by approximately 5,563 persons.  This increase is not considered a significant 
impact. (Impact 4.9-2) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The subject project involves the redesign and modifications to the existing Player’s golf course, 
which was originally constructed in the mid-1980 and was modified in 2008. It is one of two golf 
courses of the Indian Wells Golf Resort. There are no homes within the golf course planning 
area and no homes will be affected by the proposed modifications to the course. No new 
extensions of roads or infrastructure, and no existing or future homes will be affected by the 
Project. The Project would not displace any existing people or housing or necessitate 
replacement housing elsewhere.  Therefore, no new impacts involving population and housing, 
or substantial increase in the severity of previously identified impacts would occur as a result of 
constructing and operating the redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would 
not increase or result in new impacts to population and housing requiring preparation of a 
subsequent EIR. 
 
4.15 PUBLIC SERVICES 
 
Would the project: 
 

a. Result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 
impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other 
performance objectives for any of the public services: 
 
1) Fire protection? 
2) Police protection? 
3) Schools? 
4) Parks? 
5) Other public facilities? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Development allowed under the General Plan would not significantly impact the ability of 
the service agency to provide adequate fire protection and paramedic services to meet 
future needs. (Impact 4.10-6) 
 

• Development under the General Plan would create additional demand for police 
protection services.  This is considered a significant, but mitigable impact. (Impact 4.10-
5) 
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• Development allowed under the General Plan would generate an incremental increase in 

student population for the area.  This is considered a significant but mitigable impact. 
(Impact 4.10-7) 
 

• Development under the General Plan would create additional demand for public park 
land.  This is considered a significant, but mitigable impact. (Impact 4.10-8) 
 

• Development allowed under the General Plan would increase the demand for library 
services.  This is considered a significant but mitigable impact. (Impact 4.10-9) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
Consistent with recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan Policy, the City will 
require the Project contractor to prepare a Construction Traffic Control Plan to ensure 
emergency access to the subject site is maintained throughout construction. Once golf course 
modifications are completed, the operation of the golf course will not adversely affect the 
provision of police or fire protection in this area of Indian Wells nor would it result in the need for 
new or physically altered facilities.  
 
The proposed golf course modifications do not include any residential units or habitable 
structures and would not result in a permanent increase in the local population. It would 
therefore not result in any impacts to school enrollment and would not require the provision of 
new or additional facilities. 
 
The subject golf course (Player’s course) currently serves as one of two municipal golf courses 
at the Indian Wells Golf Resort. During construction, the subject course would be closed to play, 
which may temporarily increase demand on other golf courses in the area, including the second 
(Celebrity) course located at the resort. However, the disruption in use of the Player’s course 
would be temporary, and there would be no associated impacts to public parks from its 
temporary closure. No other public facilities will be affected by the proposed Project. 
 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
Policies, no new significant impacts involving public services or facilities, or substantial increase 
in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would occur as a result of constructing 
and operating the redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would not increase 
or result in new impacts to public services or facilities requiring preparation of a subsequent 
EIR. 
 
4.16 RECREATION 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other 

recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would 
occur or be accelerated? 

b. Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of 
recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment? 

 
 
Analysis of the Project 
 
Refer to Section 4.15, Public Services. 
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4.17 TRANSPORTATION 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Conflict with program plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, 

including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities?  
b. Conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision (b)? 
 
c. Substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 

dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 
d. Result in inadequate emergency access? 
 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Development under the General Plan land uses could result in an inadequate traffic 
system without the appropriate transportation improvements. (Impact 4.2-1) 
 

• Development under the General Plan land uses could result in a limited choice of travel 
modes.  This is a potential adverse impact that is not significant (Impact 4.2-2) 
 

• Development under the General Plan land uses could result in a traffic system that 
detracts from the residents’ quality of life.  This is a potential adverse impact that is not 
significant. (Impact 4.2-3) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The Project involves the construction of modifications to the existing Player’s Golf Course at the 
Indian Wells Golf Resort, which has been operating since the mid-1980s. Access to the course 
is via the existing Indian Wells Lane which extends north from State Highway 111 and serves 
the golf resort and associated hotels and conference facilities, as well as the golf resort 
clubhouse and other golf facilities. The golf resort’s maintenance facilities are located on the 
north end of the Player’s course immediately south of Fred Waring Drive via gated access from 
that street. The proposed Project will not alter any of these long-established points of access.  
 
All proposed modifications to the Player’s golf course will be internal and will not affect or be 
affected by access from a public street. The Project will not affect any traffic or circulation plan, 
ordinance or policy of the City or any other agency. Policy, including those associated with 
transit, roadways, bicycle or pedestrian facilities. Once the golf course modifications are 
completed, there will be no change in the vehicle miles traveled (VMTs) or Level of Service 
(LOS) associated with its continued operation since 1980s and the project will not be 
inconsistent or in conflict with the provisions of CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.3(b). Current 
access into the golf course will not be affected by either its modifications during construction or 
ongoing operations.  
 
Access for construction equipment, materials delivery and construction workers will be from the 
existing gated access to the golf course maintenance facilities located immediately south of and 
taking access from Fred Waring Drive. It should also be noted that this access is served by a 
dedicated right-turn lane and also has a stacking distance of 33± feet between the closest travel 
lane and the access control gate, which is only closed during evening hours. The construction of 
the subject golf course modifications and the ongoing golf course operations will not 
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substantially increase hazards associated with geometric design features or incompatible uses. 
Therefore, the proposed Project would not increase or result in new impacts to transportation 
requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR. 
 
4.18 Tribal Cultural Resources 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural resource, 

defined in Public Resources Code Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 
landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, 
sacred place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that 
is: 

i. Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in 
a local register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code 
Section 5020.1(k), or 

ii. A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by 
substantial evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision 
(c) of Public Resources Code section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in 
subdivision (c) of Public Resources Code section 5024.1, the lead agency shall 
consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American Tribe.  

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following:  
 

• Since certification of the General Plan FEIR, the CEQA Guidelines Appendix G Checklist 
has been revised to include a new category for Tribal Cultural Resources impacts. This 
topical area is addressed in General Plan FEIR Section 4.12, Cultural Resources. For 
purposes of this Addendum, the topic of Tribal Cultural Resources is discussed in 
Section 4.5, Cultural Resources, consistent with the organization of the General Plan 
FEIR. 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
Refer to Section 4.5, Cultural Resources. 
 
4.19 UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, wastewater 

treatment or storm water drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunications 
facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental 
effects? 

b. Have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably foreseeable 
future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years?   

c. Result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider which serves or may 
serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project's projected demand in 
addition to the provider's existing commitments? 

d. Generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity 
of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

 

Page 54 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



 
 

October 2024 Environmental Analysis 
31 

e. Comply with federal, state, and local management and reduction statutes and 
regulations related to solid waste? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 
The General Plan FEIR concluded the following: 
 

• Development allowed under the General Plan would not significantly impact the ability of 
the service agency to provide adequate water to meet future demand levels. (Impact 
4.10-1) 
 

• Development allowed under the General Plan would not significantly impact the service 
companies now providing natural gas and electricity in their ability to provide these 
services to meet projected demand. (Impact 4.10-2) 

 
• Development allowed under the General Plan would increase demand for wastewater 

treatment and require upgrades of the wastewater distribution system.  This is 
considered a significant but mitigable impact. (Impact 4.10-3) 
 

• Proposed development under the General Plan would result in an increase in the 
generation and disposal of solid waste.  This is considered a significant but mitigable 
impact. (Impact 4.10-4) 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
The existing two golf courses at the Indian Wells Golf Resort, including the subject Player’s 
course and Celebrity course, are served by untreated, nonpotable Colorado River water 
delivered to the Coachella Valley via the All American and Coachella Branch Canals. Golf 
course irrigation water is provided by the CVWD Mid-Valley Pipeline (canal water) a portion of 
which is located within the Fred Waring Drive right of way. The Project will not require provision 
of any potable water supplies. The proposed golf course modification Project will not generate 
any new long-term water demand and near-term water demand will be limited to that needed for 
site watering, hydroconsolidation and other construction purposes. Once golf course work is 
completed Project water demand will return to current levels. There will be no new or increased 
demand for water resources, which currently are and will continue to be supplied by non-potable 
canal water rather than groundwater. There will therefore be no significant impacts on the local 
water supplier’s ability to serve reasonably foreseeable future development during normal, dry, 
and multiple dry years. The Project will not require a new connection to existing domestic water 
lines, nor will it otherwise require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded 
water facilities. Construction water will be provided by existing on-site irrigation system supplied 
by non-potable canal water. 
 
The proposed golf course modification Project will not generate any new or additional 
wastewater or demand for collection or treatment facilities beyond existing use of the current 
golf course. Therefore, the Project will not result in a need for such additional facilities and 
CVWD will continue to have adequate capacity to serve the Project’s current and ongoing 
demand for wastewater collection and treatment facilities. 
 
During construction of the of the modified golf course, some construction-related waste may be 
generated, including concrete and asphalt waste materials, as well as landscape waste 
associated with planned golf course revegetation. Consistent with FEIR mitigation measures 
and General Plan Policies, construction debris shall be disposed of in accordance with local and 
state requirements, including those provided in the County of Riverside Integrate Waste 
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Management Plan. The Project will also be required to comply with federal, state, and local 
management and reduction statutes and regulations related to solid waste, including 
compliance with California Code of Regulation Title 14, Natural Resources Division 7, 
Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery Chapter 3, Minimum Standards for Solid 
Waste Handling and Disposal and Article 5.9, Construction and Demolition and Inert Debris 
Transfer/Processing Regulatory Requirements. 
 
Following compliance with the recommended FEIR mitigation measures and General Plan 
Policies, no new significant impacts involving public utilities and services systems, or substantial 
increase in the severity of previously identified significant impacts would occur as a result of 
constructing and operating the redesigned golf course.  Therefore, the proposed Project would 
not increase or result in new impacts to public utilities and services requiring preparation of a 
subsequent EIR. 
 
4.20 WILDFIRE 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation 

plan? 
b. Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 

expose project occupants to, pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled 
spread of a wildfire? 

c. Require the installation or maintenance of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel 
breaks, emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire 
risk or that may result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

d. Expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream 
flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage 
changes? 

 
General Plan FEIR Conclusions 
 

• The City certified the General Plan FEIR before the above checklist items were added to 
the State CEQA Guidelines. However, the topic of wildland fire hazards is addressed in 
General Plan FEIR Section 4.11, Public Safety/Hazardous Materials. For purposes of 
this Addendum, the topic of wildfires is discussed in Section 4.9, Hazards and 
Hazardous Materials, consistent with the organization of the General Plan FEIR. 

 
Analysis of the Project 
 
As previously stated, the proposed Project would simply be the redesign and reconstruction of 
the existing Player’s golf course and does not propose the development of any residential or 
commercial buildings or other occupied structures. It therefore would not expose people or 
structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires. As discussed in 
Section 4.9, Hazards and Hazardous Materials, according to the California Department of 
Forestry and Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) Fire Hazard Severity Zone Map, the proposed Project 
is not located within or next to a Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zone within a Local 
Responsibility Area or State Responsibility Area.21. The Project would not involve expansion of 
urban uses onto lands located within or adjacent to fire hazards areas.  
 
As noted elsewhere in the Addendum, the City’s Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) sets forth 
priority actions to mitigate hazards, as well as actions to coordinate plans and resources in the 
event of an emergency. The LHMP identifies the Emergency Service Coordinator in the City 
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Emergency Management Department, which has also developed an Emergency Operations 
Plan. The City LHMP also includes goals, policies and mitigation actions to ensure that 
emergency response is timely and effective. The proposed Project would not impair or interfere 
with an adopted emergency response or evacuation plan. According to the City’s General Plan, 
key evacuation routes in the city include Highway 111, Cook Street, and Washington Street. 
Construction activities associated with the Project would not involve or affect any temporary 
impacts to local streets. Furthermore, the construction would use existing golf course access 
from Fred Waring Drive and the existing golf course maintenance facilities, would be temporary, 
and would not interfere with emergency access during construction. Therefore, there would be 
no new significant or significantly different impacts related to wildfire in or near state 
responsibility areas or lands classified as very high fire hazard severity zones as a result of the 
proposed Project requiring preparation of a subsequent EIR. 
 
4.21 MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 
 
Would the project: 
 
a. Does the project have the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the 

environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or 
wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or 
animal community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant 
or animal or eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or 
prehistory? 

b.  Does the project have potential to achieve short-term environmental goals to the 
disadvantage of long-term environmental goals? 

c. Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively 
considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable” means that the incremental effects of a 
project are considerable when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the 
effects of other current projects, and the effects of probable future projects)? 

d. Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects 
on human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

 
As detailed herein, on the basis of substantial evidence in the light of the whole record, a 
Subsequent or Supplemental EIR is not appropriate for the proposed Project because none of 
the criteria permitting such a document under State CEQA Guidelines section 15162 are met. 
 
The project will have a very limited impact on lands within the boundaries of the subject Player’s 
course and the adjoining wash area. Golf course grading and other course remodeling activities 
and associated site disturbance and improvements will not interfere with the movement of any 
native resident or migratory fish or wildlife species or with established native resident or 
migratory wildlife corridors. Neither will the Project affect or impede the use of native wildlife 
nursery sites within or near the Project site. 
 
The subject site lies outside the Santa Rosa and San Jacinto Mountains Conservation Area 
established by the adopted Coachella Valley MSHCP. It does, however, occur within the fee 
mitigation area established by the plan. However, the Project site was fully developed prior to 
1996 and is not therefore subject to any development impact fee established by the MSHCP. 
The Project will not conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources. 
Neither will it conflict with the provisions of the Coachella Valley MSHCP/Natural Community 
Conservation Plan, or any other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan. 
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4.22 CONCLUSION 
 
The General Plan FEIR examined all the potential impacts resulting from full buildout of the 
General Plan, including Land Use, Transportation/Circulation, Topography and Aesthetics, 
Hydrology and Water Quality, Biological Resources, Noise, Air Quality, 
Geology/Soils/Seismicity, Population/Housing/Employment, Public Services/Utilities, Public 
Safety/Hazardous Materials, Cultural Resources, and Paleontology.  The General Plan FEIR 
concluded that impacts would be less than significant with implementation of mitigation 
measures (General Plan FEIR Chapter 2). 
 
The proposed Project is a redesign and reconstruction of the existing Player’s Course within its 
existing footprint and would result in no new significant impacts that were not analyzed in the 
General Plan FEIR, nor would the proposed Project cause a substantial increase in the severity 
of any previously identified environmental impacts. The potential impacts associated with the 
proposed Project would either be the same or less than those described in the General Plan 
FEIR. In addition, there are no substantial changes to the circumstances under which the 
proposed Project would be undertaken that would result in new or more severe environmental 
impacts than previously addressed in the General Plan FEIR, nor has any new information 
regarding the potential for new or more severe significant environmental impacts been 
identified.  
 
In taking action on any of the approvals, the decision-making body must consider the whole of 
the data presented in the General Plan FEIR.  As outlined in this Addendum analysis, all 
impacts of the proposed Project were fully examined in the previous FEIR and mitigated, and 
the proposed changes do not require substantial changes to the prior-certified EIR, or previously 
adopted mitigation measures.  Therefore, the preparation of an Addendum to the existing 
certified EIR is the appropriate CEQA document to support the City’s consideration of the 
proposed Project, as outlined in CEQA Guidelines Sections 15162 and 15164. 
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CITY OF INDIAN WELLS 

Considered by the City Council of the 
City of Indian Wells 

September 5, 2024 

ATTACHMENT #5
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CITY OF INDIAN WELLS 
 

GENERAL FUND RESERVE POLICY 
 

 

 
Policy Statement:  
 
Maintaining appropriate financial reserves is essential for organizational stability. 
Adequate reserves empower an organization to navigate significant economic downturns, 
mitigate the impact of external agency actions that may reduce revenue, and respond 
effectively to unforeseen emergencies such as natural disasters, catastrophic events, or 
substantial legal liabilities. 
 
Purpose:  
 
It is the policy of the City of Indian Wells (City) to establish sound financial policies that 
are guidelines for prudent decision-making related to financial matters. The purpose of 
this reserve policy (Reserve Policy) is to establish a target minimum level of designated 
reserves in the General Fund to: 
 

• Reduce the risk of financial impacts resulting from natural disasters or other 
catastrophic events. 
 

• Respond to the challenges of a changing economic environment, including 
prolonged local, state, or national economic downturns. 

 
• Demonstrate continued prudent fiscal management and creditworthiness. 

 
• Provide funding stability for core services and infrastructure funded through the 

General Fund. 
 
General Fund Reserve Policy:  
 
The General Fund, as the City's primary operating fund, plays a crucial role. It is the 
financial backbone that accounts for sources and uses of discretionary resources to the 
City Council in providing activities, programs, and services deemed necessary and 
desirable by the community. It also accounts for all general revenues of the City not 
explicitly levied or collected for other City funds and related expenditures. 
 
The General Fund is primarily funded through transient occupancy taxes, admissions 
taxes, sales taxes, property taxes, franchise fees, business license fees, unrestricted state 
revenues, fines, forfeitures, and interest income. These funds are then allocated for 
community development, recreation, public safety, public works, and other services, 
ensuring the smooth functioning of the City. 
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Rationale for a Robust Reserve:  
 
Given the City of Indian Wells' significant reliance on tourism revenues, which are 
inherently volatile due to seasonal variations, economic downturns, and unexpected 
disruptions such as natural disasters or global pandemics, it is imperative to prioritize 
maintaining a large General Fund reserve. A robust reserve provides a financial cushion 
that enables the City to sustain essential public services, maintain infrastructure, and 
support community welfare during periods of reduced income.  
 
Additionally, a substantial reserve enhances the City's creditworthiness, enabling it to 
secure better terms on borrowing for critical projects. By preparing for revenue shortfalls, 
the City can avoid drastic cuts to services or steep tax increases, thereby preserving its 
appeal as a tourist destination and safeguarding the well-being of its residents and 
businesses. 
 
Prudent financial management dictates that a portion of the funds available to the City 
be held in reserve for future use. This Reserve Policy establishes the amounts the City 
will strive to maintain in the General Fund Reserve and the conditions under which the 
reserves may be spent. 
 
Establishing Target Amounts:  
 
Setting target amounts for cash reserves with a focus on risk involves evaluating specific 
risks and uncertainties that could affect financial stability. The goal is establishing a 
reserve that provides a sufficient buffer to manage unexpected expenses or revenue 
shortfalls. The following considerations are essential in determining the target funding 
objectives: 
 

• Identify Key Risks 
 

• Assess Risk Tolerance 
 

• Estimate Potential Impact 
 

• Determine Reserve Duration 
 

• Incorporate Industry Benchmarks 
 

• Conduct Annual Review 
 

• Perform Stress Testing 
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Fund Balance Classifications:  
 
The City will include Assigned and Unassigned Fund Balance classifications as part of its 
overall Reserve Policy.  In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 54 (GASB 54), the City classifies fund balance components to 
identify whether they are available for appropriation: 
 

• Non-spendable: Resources not in spendable form or legally required to remain 
intact. 

 
• Restricted: Resources constrained by external parties or laws. 

 
• Committed: Resources subject to limitations imposed by the City Council. 

 
• Assigned: Resources intended for specific purposes established by the City 

Manager. 
 

• Unassigned: Resources not classified in any other category, typically only in the 
General Fund. 

 
General Fund Assigned Reserve Targets:  
 
The City will fund the General Fund Assigned Reserve at a minimum of 50% of the 
budgeted annual General Fund Expenditures with no maximum. The Assigned Reserve is 
designated for specific purposes and is not accessible for routine expenditures.  These 
funds are held for the following uses: 
 

• Addressing short-term budgetary shortfalls due to economic downturns. 
 

• Managing institutional changes, such as state budget takeaways and unfunded 
mandates. 

 
• Covering economic shortfalls during declared emergencies. 

 
• Preventing reductions in required services during prolonged economic downturns. 

 
Unassigned Cash Balance:  
 
In addition to the 50% assigned reserve, the City will maintain an additional 20% of the 
budgeted annual General Fund expenditures as an operating cash balance within the  
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Unassigned Fund Balance. This policy ensures that sufficient operational cash is available 
throughout the year, reducing the need to utilize assigned reserves. 
 
Total General Fund Cash Reserves:  
 
At the beginning of each fiscal year, the combined balance of the Assigned and 
Unassigned reserves will be maintained at a minimum of 70% of the budgeted annual 
General Fund expenditures.  The City recognizes the inherent fluctuations in cash reserves 
throughout the fiscal year, influenced by factors such as seasonal tourism and other 
cyclical elements. As a result, the requirement to maintain a minimum combined total of 
70% of the budgeted annual General Fund expenditures—including the 50% assigned 
reserve and 20% operating cash balance—is evaluated only as of July 1 of each fiscal 
year. This approach accounts for the variations in cash flow and ensures that the City's 
financial health is assessed at a stable point in the fiscal cycle. 
 
Funding Mechanisms:  
 
The General Fund Reserve will be funded from excess ongoing and one-time funds. The 
reserve helps ensure that the City can provide consistent, uninterrupted municipal 
services in the event of economic disruption or extreme events. The City Council is 
responsible for determining appropriate General Fund Reserve thresholds and allocating 
or changing those funding thresholds as appropriate.  
 
The funding levels are based on a conservative risk assessment methodology for setting 
reserve levels developed by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United 
States and Canada (GFOA). The General Fund Reserve follows Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles set by GASB 54. 
 
Excess Funding Utilization:  
 
Where funding exceeds the established thresholds, the City Manager may authorize the 
use of excess funds for: 
 

• Additional General Fund reserves.  
 

• Capital Improvement Projects. 
 

• Pension and OPEB contributions. 
 

• Additional Capital Reserve contributions. 
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• Disaster Recovery Reserve funding. 
 
Interfund Borrowing Authority:  
 
The City Manager is authorized to approve interfund borrowing in response to 
catastrophic events. 
 
Replenishment and Review:  
 
If Assigned reserves fall below the minimum threshold of 50% of the budgeted annual 
General Fund Expenditures, the City Manager will propose a plan to replenish them as 
quickly as feasible, with a target timeline not exceeding five years. The Finance 
Committee will review this Reserve Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness and 
relevance, incorporating best practices and sound risk assessment methodologies. 
 
By adhering to this General Fund Reserve Policy, the City of Indian Wells ensures a solid 
financial foundation that supports its long-term goals and maintains fiscal health through 
prudent reserve management. 
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Real people, lasting partnerships, unfailing integrity building a better tomorrow one project at a time

 INDIAN WELLS RESORT PLAYERS COURSE
 Indian Wells, California

  GOLF COURSE RENOVATION PROPOSAL

ATTACHMENT #6
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Lexicon, Inc. dba Heritage Links  ·  10105 Louetta Road, Suite 111  ·  Houston, Texas 77070              

 Phone: (281) 866-0909  ·  Fax: (281) 866-0944  ·  Email: OscarR@heritage-links.com 
 

 
 
 

 
September 26, 2024 

 
 
 
Mr. Ron Despain       
Senior Vice President – Golf Course Development              sent via e-mail 
Troon Golf                                              rdespain@troon.com 
 
Mr. John Fought       
Golf Course Architect                                                          sent via e-mail 
John Fought Design Golf Course Architecture                     john@foughtdesign.net 
 
 
 
Gentlemen, 
 
Please find attached to this correspondence our proposal for the 2025 golf course renovation work 
of the Players Course at Indian Wells Resort.  We appreciate the opportunity in allowing us to 
submit our proposal for this project.  Our price is based on the quantities provided in the bid form, 
as well as our site visits and all related documents and correspondence during the pricing process.  
 
We want to thank you for this opportunity and look forward to hearing from you regarding our 
submission.   
 
 
Regards, 

 
Oscar Rodriguez 
Senior Vice President 
 
cc: Jon O’Donnell, Division President, Heritage Links 
            Chris Harz, Sr. Vice President Irrigation, Heritage Links 
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  MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD: 

This includes the movement of all equipment and personnel to the site and 
the set-up of the construction operation on the site per requirements as 
stipulated by owner. It also includes the golf contractors project overhead. 

TOTAL MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD $ 

 EROSION CONTROL: 

A) Silt Fence (unit price)  $_____/L.F.

B) Hay Bales (unit price)   $____/bale

C) Straw Waddle (unit price)  $____/L.F.

D) Construction Entrance  $_______

ALLOWANCE    $150,000 

  DEMOLITION: 

A) Removal of old concrete cart path (Bury on site):

Remove 118,724 S.F. of old path @ = $ 

B) Tree & Brush clearing (as per plans & specifications):
Clearing 3.87 ac. @ $ /ac. = $ 

C) Drainage Parts removal: 3,681 L.F. of pipe & 23 catch basins:
$

D) Turf Tilling (Golf Superintendent to spray with Glyphosate):
57.9 ac. Tilling old turf @ $ /ac. = $ 

TOTAL DEMOLITION $_____________ 

EARTHWORK: 

Contractor will be responsible for staying within golf course boundaries as 
indicated on the plans throughout the construction process. This item 
includes proper procedures to control dust and airborne particles from 
leaving the construction site. Owner will supply water. 

A) Earthmoving of material: 115,130 yd3 @ $ /yd3 = $ 

904,939.00

9.42

59.21

7.75

7,621.00

334,801.68

8,061.00 31,196.07

31,911.00

1,900.00 110,010.00

507,918.75

9.85 1,134,030.50Page 67 of 193
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B) Shaping: Shaping of all golf features and playing 
areas as outlined on the plans = $ 

TOTAL EARTHWORK $ 

DRAINAGE: 

The following drainage items will be constructed in accordance with the Plans 
& Specifications. 

PIPE: 

A) 4-inch Solid CPP - 12,045 L.F. @ $ /L.F. = $ 

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES: 

A) 12 inch catch basins 90 @ $ ea. =   $ __________ 

B) New Sumps (6 X 6 X 6)        5 @ $ ea. =  $ __________ 

  TOTAL DRAINAGE    $_____________ 

  FEATURE CONSTRUCTION: 

A) Greens:

• NEW GREENS (9) To be constructed per plans to USGA
Recommended Specification (see detail).

54,633 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $ 

• EXISTING GREENS (12) remove thatch layer (4 inches), install 4 inches
of new mix and till

   65,151 S.F. @ $________/S.F. = $_____________ 

B) Tees: To be built out of native material (laser leveled)
137,968 SF @ $ /SF = $ 

C) bunkers: As per plans and specifications. Please note: all bunkers to be
lined – 65% Capillary Concrete; 35% JM Evalith (See details).

228,100.00

1,362,130.50

12.13 146,105.85

1,745.00 157,050.00

4,308.00 21,540.00

324,695.85

13.95 762,130.35

4.25 276,891.75

.67 92,438.56
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83,139 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $ 

TOTAL FEATURE CONSTRUCTION $_____________ 

  CART PATHS: 

The cart paths will consist of 7-foot-wide cart path with aggregate finish (See 
Specifications). 

A) Cart paths:

  Golf Course  79,861 S.F. @ $ /S.F. =   $_______________ 

B) Curbing      3,000 L.F. @ $ /L.F. =   $_______________ 

C) FIRE ROAD (16 foot wide)  63,702 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $ 

TOTAL CART PATH $ 

FINISHING: 

The overall construction process is so disruptive that it becomes necessary to 
partially reshape everything. For instance, the final shapes of the critical 
areas like putting surfaces and tees must be recreated. The finishing, 
therefore, becomes the final touch to tie it all together. The finishing also 
prepares the ground for planting turf by producing a proper seedbed. 

FINISHING (Lump Sum) $_____________ 

GRASSING: 

A) Greens:

Tifeagle sprigs - 119,784 @ $ /S.F. = $ 

B) Playing Areas:

38.43 acres of sprigged 419 Tifway grass @ $ /ac. =    $______________ 
C) Sod:

160,000 S.F of 419 Tifway Bermuda sod @ $ /S.F. =     $______________ 

TOTAL GRASSING $_____________ 

16.60 1,380,107.40

2,511,568.06

9.73

16.24

13.89

777,047.53

48,720.00

884,820.78

1,710,588.31

490,967.00

1.04

8,625.00

1.04

124,575.36

331,458.75

166,400.00

622,434.11
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BONDING: 

A) Bid Bond $____________ 

B) Performance Bond  $____

TOTAL BONDING

BID SUMMARY: 

MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD $____________ 

EROSION CONTROL $    150,000 

DEMOLITION $____________ 

EARTHWORK $____________ 

DRAINAGE  $____________ 

IRRIGATION 

FEATURE CONSTRUCTION $____________ 

CART PATHS $____________ 

FINISHING  $____________ 

GRASSING  $____________ 

BONDING  

TOTAL BID 

By: __________________________________      _______________________________ 
    Company Name     Name/Title 

Lexicon, Inc. dba Heritage Links Oscar Rodriguez / Sr. Vice President

N/A

904,939.00

507,918.75

1,362,130.50

324,695.85

2,511,568.06

1,710,588.31

490,967.00

622,434.11

________82,711.00 

$____________82,711.00 

$____________82,711.00 

$ 3,724,310.00____________ 

$_ ___________ 12,392,262.40

(In Words): _________Twelve Million, Three Hundred Ninety Two Thousand, Two Hundred Sixty Two Dollars and 40 Cents___________________________________________________ 
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2.2 GOLF COURSE CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL 

Construction Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 
Previous 5 Projects: 

Assistant Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Shaping Crew  

Lead Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience: 

Feature Construction 
Foreman: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Irrigation System 
Construction Superintendent: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Pascual Torres
37 Years
10 Years
PLEASE SEE ATTACHED

Cosme Lopez
6 Years
6 Years

Jim Stevens
40 Years
3 Years

Gary Velasquez
29 Years
2 years

Ramiro Garcia
34 Years
11 Years

Carlos Jaramillo
17 Years
9 Years
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Finish Crew 
Foreman: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 
Previous 3 Projects: 

Roberto Tello
20+ Years
10 Years
PLEASE SEE ATTACHED
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2.3 BIDDER INFORMATION 

Company Name: 
Physical Address: 

Telephone: 
Fax Number: 

Bonding Company: 
Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Liability Insurance: 
Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Workman’s Compensation 
Insurance Company: 

Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Federal Tax ID Number: 

Signature: 

Print Name and Title: 

Lexicon, Inc. dba Heritage Links
10105 Louetta Road,  Suite 111 
Houston, Texas 77070

(281) 866-0909
(281) 866-0944

McGriff Insurance
2000 International Park Drive, Suite 600
Birmingham, Alabama 35243

Travelers Bond
10810 Executive Center Dr, Suite 400

(501) 223-6700

Little Rock, Akansas 72211

Travelers Insurance

(205) 583-9891
McGriff Insurance

McGriff Insurance
2000 International Park Drive, Suite 600
Birmingham, Alabama 35243

(205) 583-9891
McGriff Insurance

71-0569150

Oscar Rodriguez - Sr. Vice President
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2.4 LIST OF PROPOSED SUB-CONTRACTORS

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Evergreen Turf, Inc
Jimmy Fox
P.O. Box 2770
Chandler, Arizona 85244
(480) 456-1199

Grassing

RP Ruiz Corporation
Rich Ruiz
P.O. Box 1147
Somas, California 93066
(805) 732-9683

Cart Path and Fire Road
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2.5 LIST OF PROPOSED SUPPLIERS 

Name  

Products Supplied: 

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Eagle Golf and Landscape Products

Drainage and JM Evalith Liner

Ewing Irrigation

Capillary Concrete Liner and Erosion Control

West Coast Sand and Gravel 

Greensmix, Bunker Sand, USGA Gravel, Road Base
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2.6 MATERIALS SUBMITTALS 

Name  _______________________________________ 

Products Supplied_____________________________ 

Advance Drainage Systems, Johns Manville,

Capillary Flow

ADS N-12 Drainpipe and Fittings

JM Evalith 013/140 Bunker Liner

Capillary Concrete Bunker Liner

(Please see attached)
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Fairway Irrigation Design - Design Specifications 7/8/2024 Page  4

 

1. Invitation to Submit Bid Proposal 

 
PROJECT: 

Indian Wells Resort- Player’s Course Re-Design 
    
    
Your company is invited to submit a bid proposal pertaining to the installation of a golf course irrigation system for the 
above listed project. 
 
The bid must be in accordance with the specifications, plans, and addenda received from Fairway Irrigation Design before 
the specified bid opening date.  All bids shall be submitted on the enclosed proposal forms.  Proposal forms must be 
submitted with all blank spaces and unit prices completed.  Alteration, additions, conditions or other irregularities may be 
cause for rejection of the bid. Scanned forms can be submitted electronically via email. 
 
Your bid proposal shall be received no later than:    
 
All proposals must be submitted in a sealed envelope with the words, “Irrigation Bid Enclosed” in the lower left hand 
corner.  The bids will be received only at the following location and should be addressed to: 
      
By e-mail, mail or express service:  
      

 
 

 
     
Send electronic copy of proposal to: 
    
    Mr. David Yoshimura   
    Fairway Irrigation Design   
    77-605 Delaware Place   
    Palm Desert, CA 92211-8807   
    Tel: (760) 861-0252    
    Email: David@FairwayDesign.com 
   
 
 
Questions regarding the irrigation system design and specifications should be directed to Fairway Irrigation Design 
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Fairway Irrigation Design - Design Specifications 7/8/2024 Page  5

   

2. Bid Proposal Form 

  Irrigation System 

 

 

  
Bidder’s Name: __________________________________________________________________ 

Address:             _________________________________________________________________ 

                            _________________________________________________________________ 

 Telephone:  _________________________________ FAX: _____________________________      

State License No:______________________________ Classification:  ___________________ 

 

 
The above-named Bidder, hereby referred to as the Contractor, declares that the only person(s) interested in this proposal 
are those named herein; that the proposal is in all respects fair and without fraud; and that it is made without any 
connection or collusion with any other person making a proposal on this project. 
 
The Contractor declares that he/she has carefully examined the plans, specifications, and addenda relating to the 
proposed project.  Further, the Contractor has inspected the proposed work area and has satisfied his/herself as to the 
conditions that exist at the site and the type of equipment that will be required to complete the project. 
 
The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, material, tools, transportation, taxes and equipment required to install 
the automatic golf course irrigation system for the project as set forth in the plans, specifications, and addenda (if any).  
 
 
 
The Contractor acknowledges the receipt of                   addenda and verifies that the bid price below reflects any changes 
called for in said addendum. (Attach copies) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Lexicon, Inc. d/b/a Heritage Links

10105 Louetta Rd. Suite 111

Houston, TX. 77070

(281) 866-0909

     1

823300 A, C51, & B
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Fairway Irrigation Design - Design Specifications 7/8/2024 Page  6

Bidder’s Name: 

Provisional Contingency Quantity and Unit Pricing 
Field modifications may require additions or deletions to the proposed work.  The unit items shall be used to determine the 
amount of additional compensation to the Contractor and/or the credit amount to be reimbursed to the Owner.  The prices 
below must reflect all materials, taxes, supervision, labor, equipment charges and any other expenses associated with the 
installation of each item.  Materials included in the unit price and provisional contingency quantities must be the same as 
materials called out on the design drawing and shall meet all requirements of the specification document. 

Rain Bird Golf Remodel 

Contingency Unit Price  

Include all materials, labor and equipment (sprinklers, connectors, swing joints, pipe, glue, fittings, wire, etc.) for complete 
installation of each item.  Price all items listed even if the item may not appear on the plans. 

Item Quantity Unit Price Extended Total 

1. Rain Bird 700-IC-36-70 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

  

2. Rain Bird 751-IC-36-70 15 $___________ea. $________________ 

3. Rain Bird Eagle 751-IC-22-70 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

4. Rain Bird 351B 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

5. Rain Bird 1804 SAM-PRS 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

6. #5 Quick Coupling Valve 2 $___________ea. $________________ 

7. Lateral Sub-main Isolation valve 5 $___________ea. $________________ 

8. 1” Brass Electric Control Valve- RB 5 $___________ea. $________________ 

9. 1 ½ ” Brass Elec. Control Valve- RB 2 $___________ea. $________________ 

10. 1 ½” Wilkins Pressure Regulator 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

11. Air Release Valve 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

12. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 12” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

13. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 10” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

14. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 8” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

15. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 6” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

16. Satellite Pedestal Replacement  _________1__________ $___________ea.  $________________ 

Total Contingency $________________ 

950.00

915.00

950.00

200.00

100.00

1,050.00

1,000.00

1,250.00

1,325.00

1,800.00

6,600.00

4,400.00

2,950.00

8,250.00

235.00

8,250.00

9,150.00

14,250.00

9,500.00

2,000.00

1,000.00

470.00

5,250.00

5,000.00

2,500.00

1,325.00

1,800.00

8,250.00

6,600.00

4,400.00

2,950.00

8,250.00

82,695.00

Lexison, Inc. dba Heritage Links
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Fairway Irrigation Design - Design Specifications 7/8/2024 Page  7

Bid Summation 

The Bid price for the proposed irrigation system work shall be: 

Contingency $___________________ 

Note: Golf course personnel have identified valves on the golf course which need replacement. These valves 
are on the existing parts of the golf course with valves not already identified on the design plans. Contractor 
shall supply a lump sum value for the replacement of identified valves by the golf course personnel. 

 Allocation for Replacement of Sub-Isolation Valves $___________________ 
Total for identified number of valves in the existing golf course. Include all parts and labor involved in 
removing and replacing an existing valve. Other items that may be damaged in the replacement such as 
pipe, nipples, wiring, etc. See Addendum Sheet IA-1. 

 Allocation for Replacement of Mainline Gate Valves $___________________ 
Total for identified number of valves in the existing golf course. Include all parts and labor involved in 
removing and replacing an existing valve. Other items that may be damaged in the replacement such as 
pipe, nipples, wiring, etc. Any required new thrust blocks as defined in this document for a new valve. 
See Addendum Sheet IA-1. 

Total – Rain Bird Irrigation System $______________

            

Name of Firm:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Address:  __________________________________________________________________ 

City/State/Zip  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature:  __________________________________________ Title: ________________________ 

Print Name:  __________________________________________ Date:________________________ 

ADD- Project Bonding Cost (If required and purchased by Owner) 

 Name of Bonding Company: ____________________________________________________ 

 Cost of Bonding:  $__________________________________ 

Lexicon, Inc. d/b/a Heritage Links

10105 Louetta Rd. Suite 111

Houston, TX. 77070

Sr. Vice President - Irrigation

Chris Harz September 27, 2024

* Total of Rain Bird irrigation system includes the allocation for replacement of sub-
isolation valves, mainline gate valves, and contingency.

82,695.00

39,255.00

3,724,310.00

42,335.00

Page 80 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



Page 81 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



IWR 
Player’s 
Course 

Addendum #1

Fairway 
Irrigation 
Design 

June 30, 2024 

Page 1 of 2 

Directions: The following information and attached pages are to be  

considered part of the contract documents for the project. Indicate how many  

addendums were received on the Bid Proposal form where requested.  

You will be required to sign an attach this addendum to you Bid Proposal forms 

before submitting bid. 

Statement: “I acknowledge the receipt of the addendum which is _____  

pages in length. I understand the contents and have incorporated the  

items below and they are incorporated into the total bid price submitted. 

Signature: ___________________________    Date: _______________ 

Print Name: ________________________    Title: _________________ 

1. An updated plan set has been issued with additional information

on Sheets 5 & 6.

The file for use in this bid proposal is a PDF file named, 

“V2– 2024 IWR-Players Course Redesign SH1-10 
2. An updated Specification book with the file name,

“V2-2024 IWR Redesign Golf Specifications” 

3. A new sheet IA-1 with identified mainline gate valves and lateral iso-

lation valves in the existing irrigation that require replacement as part

of this scope of work.

The file is named “IWP-Addendum 1 Valve Replacements”

These files are located at the link below: 
https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fo/n7lca29theuoxi65epclf/
AIOUYl2bVFJ7dsHNwGaF2Tc?rlkey=7fnobvvmtdri0ar69qo638cvi&dl=0 

9/27/2024

Chris Harz Sr. Vice President - Irrigation
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CALIFORNIA 

Pre-Qualification Bid 
QUESTIONNAIRE 

For 

    Indian Wells Golf Resort 
Players Course Renovation 
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Page 3 of 17 

PART I. ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFICATION 

Contractor will be immediately disqualified if the answer to any question 1 through 
5 is "no". Disqualification for such an answer may not be appealed. 

1. Do you possess a valid and current California Contractor's license for the project or
projects for which it intends to submit a bid.
☒Yes ☐ No

2.  Do you have a liability insurance policy with a policy limit of at least $1,000,000 per
occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate.
☒Yes ☐No

3. Do you have a current workers' compensation insurance policy as required by the
Labor Code or is legally self-insured pursuant to Labor Code section 3700 et. seq.
☒Yes ☐No

4.  Have you attached a notarized statement from an admitted surety insurer (approved
by the California Department of Insurance) and authorized to issue bonds in the State
of California, which states that your current bonding capacity is sufficient for the
project for which you seek pre-qualification. The statement must be from the surety
not an agent or broker.
☒Yes ☐No

5.  Have you attached your latest copy of a reviewed or audited financial statement with
accompanying notes and supplemental information.
☒Yes ☐No

Contractor will be immediately disqualified if the answer to any question 6 
through 9 is "yes". If the answer to question 7 is "yes", and if debarment would be 
the sole reason for denial of pre-qualification, any pre-qualification issued will 
exclude the debarment period. A contractor disqualified solely because of a "yes" 
answer to 6 OR 8 may appeal the disqualification and provide an explanation for the 
relevant circumstances during the appeal process. 

6. Has your contractor's license been revoked at any time in the last five years?
☐Yes ☒No

7. Has a surety firm completed a contract on your behalf, or paid for completion because
your firm was default terminated by the project owner within the last five (5) years?
☐Yes ☒No

8. At the time of submitting this pre-qualification form, is your firm ineligible to bid on
or be awarded a public works contract, or perform as a subcontractor on a pu blic
works contract, pursuant to Labor Code section 1777.1 or section 1777.7?

☐Yes ☒No
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Page 5 of 17 

C. For Firms That Are Sole Proprietorships:

18. Date of commencement of business:

19. Tax ID number or Social security number of company owner: _ 

D. For Firms That Intend to Make a Bid as Part of a Joint Venture:

20. Date of commencement of joint venture: _ 

21. Tax ID number:

22. Attach a list for each member of the joint venture that includes all relevant
information, as requested above, for the type of entity.

Part III. HISTORY OF BUSINESS 

23. State your firm's gross revenues for each of the last three years:

2021:                              2022:                               2023

24.  How many years has your organization been in business in California as a contractor
under your present business name and license number?
Years in Business:

25. Is your firm currently the debtor in a bankruptcy case?
☐Yes ☒No

If "yes," attach a statement that includes the case number, court (name and location), 
chapter under which you filed, and the date on which the petition was initially filed. 

26. Was your firm in bankruptcy at any time during the last five years? (This question
refers only to a bankruptcy action that was not described in the answer above)
☐Yes ☒No

If "yes," attach a statement that includes the case number, court (name and location), 
chapter under which you filed, the date on which the petition was initially filed, and a 
copy of the Bankruptcy Court's discharge order, or of any other document that ended 
the case, if no discharge order was issued. • 

27. Attach on a separate sheet of paper a list of all California construction license
numbers, classifications and expiration dates of the California contractor licenses held
by your firm.

22 years

Class A, C51, & B - expire date 9/30/2024

Corporations

1969

71-0569150

+100M +100M +100M
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Page 10 of 17 

48. What is your firm's OSHA Incidence Rate? [ formula for calculating the incidence
rate is as follows: (total recordable injuries X 200,000) / (total number of man-hours)]

2019:   
2020:   
2021:   
2022:   
2023:   

49.  Has CAL OSHA cited and assessed penalties against your firm for any "serious,"
"willful" or "repeat" violations of its safety or health regulations in the past five
years?
NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation, and the Occupational Safety and
Health Appeals Board has not yet ruled on your appeal, you need not include
information about it.
☐Yes ☒No

If "yes," attached a separate signed page describing the citations, including 
information about the dates of the citations, the nature of the violation, the project on 
which the citation(s) was or were issued, the amount of penalty paid, if any. If the 
citation was appealed to the Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board and a 
decision has been issued, state the case number and the date of the decision. 

50. Has the federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration cited and assessed
penalties against your firm in the past five years?

NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation and the Appeals Board has not
yet ruled on your appeal, or if there is a court appeal pending, you need not
include information about the citation.
☐Yes ☒No

If "yes," attach a separate signed page describing each citation. 

51.  Has the EPA or any Air Quality Management District or any Regional Water Quality
Control Board cited and assessed penalties against either your firm or the owner of a
project on which your firm was the contractor, in the past five years?

NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation and the Appeals Board has not
yet ruled on your appeal, or if there is a court appeal pending, you need not
include information about the citation.
☐Yes ☒No
If "yes," attach a separate signed page describing each citation.

0.59
0.68
0.57
0.52
0.54
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Page 13 of 17 

59. At any time during the last five years, has your firm been found to have violated any
provision of California apprenticeship laws or regulations, or the laws pertaining
to use of apprentices on public works?

NOTE: You may omit reference to any incident that occurred prior to January
1, 1998, if the violation was by a subcontractor and your firm, as general
contractor on a project, had no knowledge of the subcontractor's violation at the
time they occurred.
☐Yes ☒No

If "yes," provide the date(s) of such findings and attach copies of the Department's 
final decision(s). 

PART V. RECENT CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS COMPLETED 

60. Contractor shall provide information about its six most recently completed golf course projects
and its three largest completed golf course projects within the last 5 years. Names and references
must be current and verifiable. Contractors will be scored ONLY on their best five past jobs. Use
separate sheets of paper that contain all of the following information:

Project Name: See attached

Location: 

Owner: 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number): 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number): 

Construction Manager (name and current phone number): 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed: 

Total Value of Construction (including change orders): 

Original Scheduled Completion Date: 

Time Extensions Granted (number of days): 

Actual Date of Completion: 
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61. Proposed Project Manager for current project

Name: 

Years Employed by your firm: 

Present title: 

Years in present position: 

62. Was your current project manager employed by your firm as project manager for at
least two jobs listed in question sixty?
☒Yes ☐No

If "yes", attach a sheet indicating which jobs. 
If "no" attach a sheet including all of the information listed in question sixty, showing 
that your project manager completed at least two projects of similar magnitude and 
complexity in the last five years. 

63. Will your project manager or a person as or more qualified be at the job at all times?
☒Yes ☐No

64. Proposed Project Superintendent

Name: 

Years Employed by your firm: 

Present title: 

Years in present position: 

65.  Was your project superintendent employed by your firm as project superintendent for
at least two jobs listed in question sixty?
☒Yes ☐ No

If "yes", attach a sheet indicating which jobs. 
If "no" attach a sheet including all of the information listed in question sixty, showing 
that your project superintendent completed at least two projects of similar magnitude 
and complexity in the last five years. 

66. Will your project superintendent or a person as or more qualified be at the job at all
times?
☒Yes ☐No

Sergio Cadengo

9 Years

Project Manager

20+ Years

Pascual Torres

10 Years

Construction Superintendent

37 Years
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Project Name:  Golf Club of DBI 

Location:  Kingston Springs, TN 37082   

Owner: Golf Club of DBI, LLC 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Jeff Huber - (615) 952-2020 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number):  Hanse Golf Course Design - 
(610) 651-2977

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Blake Smith - (281) 814-5439

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:  18-hole new golf course construction

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $19.8M

Original Scheduled Completion Date: 1/16/23

Time Extensions Granted (number of days): 198 days – work scope added

Actual Date of Completion:  8/1/23

Project Name:   Panther National 

Location:  Palm Beach Gardens, FL 

Owner:  Panther National Golf Club, LLC 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Steve Ehrbar - (561) 225-1763 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number):  Nicklaus Design - (561) 227-
0300 

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Jorge Huerta - (832) 459-8654 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:  18-hole new golf course construction 

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $13.4M  

Original Scheduled Completion Date:  5/31/23  

Time Extensions Granted (number of days):  122 days – work scope added 

Actual Date of Completion:  9/30/23 
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Project Name:  Colonial Country Club 

Location:  Fort Worth, TX 

Owner:  Colonial Country Club  

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Rich McIntosh - (330) 241-9858 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number):  Michael Kuhn & Associates, 
Inc. - (248) 885-8533 

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Chris Harz - (303) 944-1990 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:  18-hole golf course irrigation renovation  

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $4.3M  

Original Scheduled Completion Date:  11/22/2023  

Time Extensions Granted (number of days):  0 days  

Actual Date of Completion:  11/22/2023 

 

Project Name:  PGA Frisco East Course 

Location:  Frisco, TX 

Owner:  City of Frisco 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Roger Meir - (502) 322-5012 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number):  Hanse Golf Course Design - 
(610) 651-2977  

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Blake Smith - (281) 814-5439   

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:   18-hole new golf course construction, new 
par 3 and putting courses; East & West Course new irrigation 

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $31.3M  

Original Scheduled Completion Date:  10/14/2020  

Time Extensions Granted (number of days):  373 days – work scope added 

Actual Date of Completion:  10/22/2021 
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Project Name:  Southern Hills Country Club  

Location:  Tulsa, OK 

Owner:  Southern Hills Country Club 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Russ Myers - (310 405-5387  

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number): Hanse Golf Course Design - 

(610) 651-2977

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Doug Wright - (832) 712-5914 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:  18-hole golf course renovation

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $3.9M

Original Scheduled Completion Date:  12/22/2018

Time Extensions Granted (number of days): 0 days

Actual Date of Completion: 12/22/2018

Project Name:  Gus Wortham Golf Course  

Location:  Houston, TX 

Owner:  Houston Golf Association / City of Houston  

Owner Contact (name and current phone number):  Steve Timms - (281) 454-7000  

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number):  Finger Dye Spann, Inc. - (713) 

806-5729

Construction Manager (name and current phone number):  Mike Webb - (281) 386-9069 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed:  18-hole golf course renovation

Total Value of Construction (including change orders):  $6.5M

Original Scheduled Completion Date:  10/9/2017

Time Extensions Granted (number of days):  60 days – work scope added

Actual Date of Completion:  12/9/2017
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Travelers Bond  
10810 Executive Center Dr, Suite 400 
(501) 223-6700 (ph)
(501) 492-5222 (fax)
www.travelers.com

September 23, 2024 

Troon Golf 
Attn: Ron Despain 
15044 N. Scottsdale Road, Ste 300 
Scottsdale, AZ 85254 

Re: Contractor: Heritage Links, a division of Lexicon, Inc. 
Project:  Indian Wells Golf Resort Players Course Renovation 

It has been the privilege of Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America (“Travelers”)1 to 
provide surety bonds for Prospect Steel Company, a division of Lexicon, Inc. since 1997.  During 
that time, they have supported bids and/or performance and payment bonds on single projects in 
the $350,000,000 range with an aggregate work program in excess of $500,000,000. It is our 
opinion that Heritage Links, a division of Lexicon, Inc. has demonstrated the necessary 
management abilities and organizational skills to support projects consistent with your building 
needs.   

Please note that the decision to issue performance and payment bonds is a matter between 
Prospect Steel Company, a division of Lexicon, Inc. and Travelers, and will be subject to 
standard underwriting at the time of the final bond request, which will include but not be limited 
to the acceptability of the contract documents, bond forms and financing.  We assume no liability 
to third parties or to you if for any reason Travelers does not execute said bonds. 

We appreciate having the opportunity to share with you our experience with this fine company 
and urge you to give them every consideration in the awarding of a contract.  

Sincerely, 

William M. Smith, Attorney-in-Fact 
Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America 

1 Travelers is an A++ (Superior) A.M. Best rated insurance company (Financial Size Category XV ($2 billion 
or greater) Department of the Treasury's Listing of Certified Companies – Underwriting Limitation b: 
$231,823,000. 
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Lexicon, Inc., dba Heritage Links – 10105 Louetta Road – Suite 111 – Houston – Texas – 77070 
Phone – 281 866 0909 Fax – 281 866 0944 – e mail oscarr@heritage-links.com  

 
 

INDIAN WELLS RESORT PLAYERS COURSE 
 PROPOSAL CLARIFICATIONS 

 
a. Forthcoming contract between the Owner and the contractor shall be based on mutually 

acceptable terms and conditions.  The contractor has reviewed and included the A104 proposed 
revisions for review. In addition, all plans and specifications shall be mutually agreed upon by 
the contractor and the Owner. Following receipt of same, the contractor will review and provide 
comments to the Owner provided response. Any terms in the plans and specifications which 
conflict with or expand the terms of the agreed-upon contract shall be omitted and/or revised 
as appropriate.  

 
b. Proposal assumes a construction schedule with a commencement date of March 10, 2025, and 

a completion date of September 1, 2025.  
 

c. We have submitted this proposal with the intentions of non-interrupted work and no delays 
outside of the Contractor’s control.  Owner responsible for any delays caused by City 
Inspectors, Permits, and/or other Contractors directly working for Owner. 

 
d. All construction water and electricity, including all connections required for the renovation 

work will be furnished by the Owner. 
 

e. The contractor has not included in the proposal costs for builder’s risk insurances that covers 
any natural disaster such as hurricanes, tropical storms, or other named events.  The proposal 
does not include any of the costs associated with clean-up of the site associated with these 
events.  The Contractor requests the Owner provide builders risk insurance covering any named 
storms including the deductible. 

 
f. All permits, fees, inspections, approvals, and testing shall be provided by the Owner.  The 

contractor has not included any costs associated with providing a Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan and or any filing fees required for the Notice of Intent to discharge storm water 
from the construction site.  

 
g. The contractor assumes the allowance of $ 150,000.00 per the bid form provided, includes a 

10% contractor fee. The contractor requests that Owner provide an engineered erosion control 
plan prior to the start of construction.  If this erosion control plan includes additional measures 
outside of the unit prices provided, (i.e., sandbags, rock check dams, concrete washout(s), etc.) 
required for compliance with local, state, or federal laws, the contactor shall be compensated 
for these additional measures.  

 
h. Contractor has included applicable sales tax on materials, equipment rental, tools, and 

consumables, etc.  No additional services taxes of any kind have been included.  
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i. Prevailing Wages – The proposal is based on the Shapers being classified as Operator 
Engineers. All other operators are classified as Landscape Operator Engineers. The proposal 
assumes all labor to be classified and follows the requirement of the Journeymen and Tenders 
per the instructions of the Landscape Irrigation Laborer classification sheet. 
 

j. Access to the site must be unrestricted and without limitation.  The contractor assumes that all 
18 holes of golf will be closed for play and will have full access to the entire site in order to 
maintain the construction schedule.   

 
k. This proposal is based on the scope of work and quantities defined by the Contractor’s 

submitted bid form.  No earthwork cut and fill analysis and or area measurement quantity 
verifications were performed. Any work above and beyond this scope and not explicitly listed 
on the bid form is not included in this proposal. 

 
l. The proposal includes an in-house Surveyor for the survey and layout of the golf features only.  

Owner to provide the property lines and all benchmarks. No Certified Surveyor costs are 
included. 

 
m. Contractor will contact 811 Dig Alert prior to starting construction activities to have all known 

public utilities marked on the property.  The contractor shall not be responsible for damage to 
any public utilities that are not marked by 811 Dig Alert or private utilities that are not marked 
by the Owner. 

 
n. The proposal assumes the existing grass will be completely eradicated prior to the 

commencement of work. The proposal is based on Owner completing 3 applications of 
herbicide. 

 
o. The proposal does not include any existing tree root removal or excavation that might occur 

during the turf removal.  
 

p. The proposal assumes all material generated during the demolition process to be buried on-site. 
We have included the off-site disposal of all drainpipe and existing bunker liner. 

 
q. Concrete Cart Path Demo – The price assumes no re-bar or wire mesh in existing concrete cart 

path and is based on a 4” depth. 
 

r. Earthwork – The proposal assumes the 115,130 CY of material to be moved, to be an on-site 
balance with no engineered fill included. No import or export of any material is included. 

 
s. The proposal assumes the purchase of the 90:10 Dakota Peat Greensmix, USGA Gravel, and 

Bunker Sand to be from West Coast Sand and Gravel. 
 

t. Drainage – The proposal is based on 3’ of on-site soil cover, over the top of the outside diameter 
for each size pipe. 

 
u. The proposal assumes that the existing materials will be suitable for all backfilling of trenches, 

no bedding material is included. 
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v. New Greens Construction – The proposal includes the layout of the greens surface, by utilizing 
the GreenScan method. 

 
w. Existing Greens – The proposal is based on a 10’ grid layout of the greens surface.  

 
x. Tee Construction – The proposal assumes the Tees to be a push-up native soil build. The price 

does not include installation of any sand cap and assumes the Laser Leveling of the native soil. 
 

y. The price for the new greens and the bunker renovation includes the demolition of the existing 
greens and bunkers.  

 
z. The proposal assumes all sod and sprigs purchase / installation from Evergreen Turf, Inc. 

 
aa. The contractor assumes no maintenance or grow-in responsibilities to the golf course once it 

has been planted.  
 

bb. We will utilize the existing cart path system for travel around the course.  No cost is included 
outside the quantities depicted in the bid form for any concrete cart path or asphalt parking area 
repairs.  Where necessary, turf areas will be protected from damage with plywood. 

 
cc. Due to the constantly fluctuating cost of goods and services, proposal pricing is valid for 30 

days.  Any cost increases for materials, machinery (including fuel), housing (subject to 
availability) or subcontractors between the bid date and contract date shall be incorporated into 
the final schedule of values prior to contract execution. 

 
dd. The contractor has not included any rock excavation, trenching, plowing, hauling, or removal 

of any kind.  In the event rock is encountered in any form, the contractor shall stop work and 
promptly notify the Owner to determine how to proceed.  Any work associated with rock 
excavation, trenching, hauling, removal, or disposal shall be an additional cost and the 
contractor will need to be compensated with additional time for the installation. Rock 
excavation slows down the installation process considerably. 

 
ee. The contractor shall have no responsibilities once finish work has been completed for any area 

regardless of size or location (other than issues of workmanship that would be considered punch 
list or warranty items).  Owner shall be responsible for protecting all areas after grassing, 
installation and maintenance of erosion control measures to protect those areas which is above 
and beyond the erosion control plan, and repair of any erosion or contamination occurring after 
grassing.   

 
ff. The contractor is not responsible for any subcontractor, contracted directly with the Owner and 

or their schedules. Any delays and or costs incurred by the contractor that were caused by the 
Owner’s subcontractors and or representatives, to be fully compensated and equitable 
adjustments to the contractor’s schedule will be assumed. 

 
gg. The proposal includes a water truck for a duration of 4-months. The proposal does not include 

any implementation of the PM-10 Fugitive Air Quality Dust Control. 
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hh. Fire Road – The price is based on the spec sheet provided and assumes an exposed aggregate 
finish. 
 

ii. The proposal does not include any landscaping installation or existing plant relocation. The 
price assumes that any Landscaping is by others. 

 
 
IRRIGATION: 
 

1. Installation of the grounding equipment for the irrigation system is as recommended by the 
designer in the plan details. If additional equipment is required to meet the recommended ohms 
resistance range, this can be done by the contractor on a time and materials basis to the Owner. 

 
2. The proposal does not consider any electrical permits, inspections, or a licensed electrician for 

any work in the installation of the sprinkler system 24 or 120/240 volt wiring in the field and 
if required would be the responsibility of the Owner. 

 
3. All spoils from irrigation system trenching will be disposed in an area close to the golf hole 

being worked on. Haul-off of any demolition debris is not included. 
 

4. The proposal assumes all irrigation pipe will be backfilled with native soil from trench 
excavation. No import of material for pipe bedding or backfill is included in the proposal.  

 
5. All efforts will be made by the contractor to not excavate under tree canopies. In areas where 

this is not possible, the contractor shall not be held responsible for the health of the existing 
tree being disturbed.  

 
6. The proposal does not include the removal or replacement of any existing or new plant material 

including trees, bushes, plants or any other vegetation. If required, the work is to be determined 
based on-site conditions.  

 
7. The proposal does not include any directional bores.  

 
8. The proposal does not include any work at the existing pump station except for electrical 

connections for power wire to be run to field satellites.  
 

9. The proposal does not include the purchase or installation of a new weather station. 
 

10. The proposal does not include power conditioners.  
 

11. The proposal considers valve boxes to be by the respective system manufacturer, Rain Bird. 
 

12. The proposal considers Rain Bird swing joints for valve-in-head rotors to be #SJ1212543SS 
standard-top outlet swing joints.  
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13. The proposal considers all power wire being run to field satellites to be Paige P7267D  
   #6 AWG tray cable, per electrical irrigation legend. 
 

14. The proposal considers the replacement of mainline gate valves and sub-isolation valves in the 
existing golf course as outlined in Sheet IA-1 of Addendum #1. Total replacement of three 8” 
and one 12” mainline gate valves and twenty sub-isolation valves.  

 
15. The proposal considers the replacement of the following irrigation equipment around the 

existing greens loops for holes, 1-5, 8, & 13-16. Removal and installation of 114 Rain Bird 
752-E valve-in-head golf rotors, 20 Rain Bird 5RC quick coupling valves, 5 Rain Bird 100-
EFB-CP-R-PRS electric control valves, 28 Rain Bird 5004+ block rotors, and 10 Rain Bird 
1806-SAM-PRS spray heads. Irrigation equipment will be installed on existing irrigation pipes 
and connected to existing communication wires.  

 
16. Per remodel design drawing note on Sheet IR-10, “All the irrigation equipment that is lighter 

grayscale is irrigation to remain and not in scope of work.” Exception to this note is the 
irrigation equipment around the existing greens loops for holes, 1-5, 8, & 13-16 mentioned in 
clarification #15 and valves cited in clarification #14.  

 
17. The proposal provided considers the contractor is selected to do both the irrigation system 

installation and golf course construction renovation.  
 

18. Heritage Links proposal to the club is based on David Yoshimura’s golf course irrigation 
specifications with a revision date of September 5, 2024, and irrigation plans dated June 20, 
2024, with revision to electrical plans a & b dated June 28, 2024.  
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SERGIO CADENGO 
HERITAGE LINKS  

 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

2015 -Present Heritage Links Houston, TX 
Project Manager 

 

2012 -2015   O&J Golf Construction                 Moreno Valley, CA 

Project Manager 

 

2004 -2012   Ranger Golf Construction                         Temecula, CA 

Construction Superintendent / GPS Technician 

 

SELECTED PROJECT LIST 
 

Project List: 

 Pelican Hill Golf Club – Newport Beach, CA Tom Fazio  

Rams Hill Golf Club – Borrego Springs, CA Tom Fazio  

Corales Golf Club – Punta Cana, DR Tom Fazio  

Hard Rock Golf Club – Punta Cana, DR Jack Nicklaus  

Puerto Cancun Golf Club – Cancun, MX Tom Weiskopf  

Grand Coral Golf Club – Cancun, MX Nick Price  

SilverRock Golf Course – La Quinta, CA Arnold Palmer  

Ak-Chin Southern Dunes Golf Club, Maricopa, AZ Fred Couples  

Desert Mountain Golf Club, Scottsdale, AZ Jack Nicklaus  

Blessings Golf Club, Fayetteville, AR Robert Trent Jones Jr  

Dove Canyon Golf Club, Rancho Sta Margarita, CA Jack Nicklaus  

Talking Stick Golf Course, Scottsdale, AZ Ben Crenshaw & Bill Coore 

 Paiute Golf Course, Las Vegas, NV Pete Dye  

Metro West Golf Course, Orlando, FL Robert Trent Jones Sr  

Whisper Rock Golf Club, Scottsdale, AZ Tom Fazio  

Phoenician Golf Club, Scottsdale, AZ Phil Smith  

Pine Canyon, Flagstaff, AZ Jay Morrish  

The Quarry at La Quinta, La Quinta, CA Tom Fazio  

Troon North, Scottsdale, AZ Tom Weiskopf  

Troon Country Club, Scottsdale, AZ Jay Morrish  

Saticoy Club, Ventura, CA William F Bell  

Roosevelt Golf Course, Los Angeles, CA Forest Richardson  

Classic Club, Palm Desert, CA Arnold Palmer  
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SERGIO CADENGO 
HERITAGE LINKS  

 

 

Project List: (continued) 

 

Bali Hai, Las Vegas, NV Lee Schmidt & Brian Curley  

PGA West, La Quinta, CA Greg Norman, Jack Nicklaus, Arnold Palmer  

Lake Merced, Daly City, CA Gil Hanse  

The Summit, Las Vegas, NV Tom Fazio  

Coronado Golf Course, El Paso, TX Bill Bergin  

 North Shore Preserve Golf Club, Princeville, HI Dennis Wise  

Poipu Bay Golf Course, Kaola, HI Robert Trent Jones Jr  

Princeville Makai Golf Course, Princeville, HI Robert Trent Jones Jr   
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PASCUAL TORRES 
HERITAGE LINKS  

 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

2014 -Present Heritage Links Houston, TX 
Construction Superintendent 

• As Construction Superintendent for Heritage Links, Pascual is responsible for the supervision of all 
phases of golf course, and sports field construction, including equipment maintenance and repair, 
bidding, budget tracking, asbuilts, and quality control. 

 

2012 -2014   O&J Golf Construction                 Moreno Valley, CA 

Constrcution Superintendent 

1999-2012  Weitz Golf, Int. Des Moines, IA 
Construction Superintendent 

1987-1999  Fairway Construction Temecula, CA 
Construction Superintendent 

 

SELECTED PROJECT LIST 
 

Project List – Partial    

Park Hyatt Aviara GC             Carlsbad, CA                           Golf Course Renovation          Palmer Design 

May River Golf Club Bluffton, SC  Bunker Renovation  Nicklaus Design  

Mossy Oak Golf Club West Point, MS  New Construction  Hanse Golf Design 

The Cape Club  Cape Cod, MA  Complete Renovation Troon Golf 

Desert Mountain  Scottsdale, AZ  Renovations on 6 Courses Nicklaus Design 

Capital Canyon GC  Prescott, AZ  Features Renovation Weiskopf Design 

Hokuala Golf Club  Lihue, Hawaii  Features Renovation Nicklaus Design 

American Lakes  Tacoma, WA  New Construction  Nicklaus Design 
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ROBERTO TELLO 
HERITAGE LINKS  

 

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

2014 -Present Heritage Links Houston, TX 
Construction Features Foreman 

• 20 plus years experience in all phases of golf course construction. 

• Responsible for the supervision of the features construction crew ie, Greens Construction (USGA 
and California Specs, Bunker Construction (experienced in all bunker liner installation) and Tee 
Construction. 

. 

SELECTED PROJECT LIST 
 

Project List Architect Location 

Desert Mountain, Chiricahua Course                       Nicklaus Design                                                     Scottsdale, AZ 

Southern Hills Country Club Hanse Golf Design Tulsa, OK 

La Cantera Resort Course Tom Weiskopf Designs San Antonio, TX 

Desert Mountain – Renegade Nicklaus Design Scottsdale, AZ 

Troon North Golf Club Troon Golf Scottsdale, AZ 

Castlewood Country Club N/A Pleasanton, CA 

Capital Canyon Club Tom Weiskopf Designs Prescott, AZ 

The Phoenician Golf Club Forrest Richardson & Associates Scottsdale, AZ 

Whirlwind Golf Club N/A Chandler, AZ 

Whisper Rock Golf Club N/A Scottsdale, AZ 
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1.0 DESCRIPTION
IVI-GOLF offers the Johns Manville geotextile known as Evalith® 
013/140 for golf course construction.  Commonly known in the industry 
as “GEO-JM Fabric”, Evalith® 013/140 is a high-quality geotextile designed 
for use in golf course bunkers as a barrier between bunker sand and the 
underlying substrate.   

Evalith® 013 continuous filament polyester nonwovens, manufactured using 
Spunbond technology, are needle-punched for mechanical integrity.

2.0 PROPERTIES

Physical Property Value
Color White

Weight - oz ft2 / g  m2 4.2 / 142

Thickness - mils / mm 70.1 / 1.78

Fiber Type Nonwoven Polyester

Binder n/a

Area Per Roll -  ft2/ m2     15.5’ x 400’ (4.72m x 121.92m) 6,200 (576)

3.0 USE
Evalith® 013/140 is used for golf course bunkers on the bases of the 
bunker only in order to combat sand contamination.  It is used along the 
bunker bases and carries into bunker drainage.  It can be used in hybrid 
configurations with our popular Sandtrapper Bunker Liner products.

4.0 CONSTRUCTION
Evalith® 013/140 is a needle-punched spunbond polyster nonwoven.  

5.0 GREEN INITIATIVE
Manufacturing plants operate under EPA approved Clean Air Permit.

6.0 PRODUCT CARE
To prolong the life of the Evalith® 013/140 material, it is recommended that 
the product be stored indoors.

Physical Property Value
Tensile MD (lbs ft2 / daN) 150.8 / 67

Tensile CMD (lbs ft2 / daN) 126.0 / 56

Tear MD (lbs ft2 / daN) 54.0 / 24

Tear CMD (lbs ft2 / daN) 49.5 / 22

Elongation % MD 75

 PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS - EVALITH® GEOTEXTILE

IVI-GOLF          5 Pine Camp Dr.    Binghamton, NY  13904              888-970-5111         ivi-golf.com
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www.capillaryconcrete.com

After completing the requested information, please do one of the following: 

	 Sign, scan to PDF-file, and send to hunter.smith@capillaryconcrete.com 

	 Sign and mail to Capillary Concrete, 610 Sycamore Street, Suite 305, Celebration, FL 34747 

Capillary Concrete Installer

1

Extra charges and fees may apply in the following situations: 
Capillary Concrete trucks of less than 9 CY are ordered • Excessive unloading time greater than 90 minutes • Weekend / Holiday plant 
opening fees (please inquire about cost before ordering) • Night pours (6pm – 2am)  
• Expedited shipping (need 5 business days’ notice of delivery) 

BUNKER SPECIFICATION & INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS

For added protection and peace of mind, Capillary Concrete offers a 10-year Performance Guarantee and in order to take part, 

the following conditions must be fulfilled: This document must be read carefully and all instructions followed to the point during 

the installation of Capillary Concrete. All fields requiring signatures below must be completed and the first page of this document 

returned to Capillary Concrete before installation commences. One representative for the Golf Course / Owner must be appointed 

to supervise installation and final test of the bunker before approved for sand installation.

Final Test Procedure:

1.	After the Capillary Concrete has been allowed to cure for at least 24 hours (48 hours if conditions are wet and/or cold) and 

it has been cleaned according to the instructions, carefully check that the surface is smooth and that there are no areas 

anywhere in the bunker where the material is loose in any way. 

2.	 Using a hose, go over the entire bunker floor and apply water at a rate comparable to a garden hose.

3.	 Make sure the entire surface drains perfectly and that there is no standing water a few minutes after application. Sand 

will not be added to the bunkers until the golf course owner’s representative confirms the above-mentioned tests were 

completed and successful. 

Golf Course Owner’s Representative

Name:

Club Name:

Club Address:

Email Address & Phone Number:

Signature and Date:
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Capillary Concrete is a patented product to build sports ground profiles. Here we will cover the use and method to line and protect 

golf bunkers. Capillary Concrete, is a specially formulated mixture of acceptably sized aggregate, various proprietary additives and 

water that comes pre-mixed, delivered in a concrete truck. The product is a homogenously blended mixture that is poured from 

the mixer into heavy-duty utility vehicles, transported to the bunker, and placed inside the bunker at a minimum depth of 2 inches 

(50mm). The surface of the product is compacted with a roller and covered in plastic for a minimum of 24 hours to allow for adequate 

curing and until sand is placed on top of the product. The result is a strong, homogenous, and uniformly-bonded bunker liner base 

that allows for rapid drainage of any rain-storm and also reduces wash-outs and/or contamination of bunker sand.

Pre-Construction Planning
Prior to installation of Capillary Concrete, the Contractor, Owners Representative, or Superintendent shall confirm that the perimeter 

area around the bunker does not channel excessive water into the bunker area, that the bunker subgrade is positively pitched, stable 

under foot, smooth, compacted, free of debris, and meets the Architect’s design specifications. It must also be ensured that all bun-

ker trenches have been excavated and constructed to specifications; and that drainage pipes and bedding gravel (table 1) have been 

installed to the Architect’s drainage specifications as dictated by site conditions. 

At the lowest point of the bunker subgrade, a 2” x 2” wood frame at least 4 feet long and as wide as the trench must be placed prior 

to installing the Capillary Concrete, If the bunker floor is large and flat, several frames must be placed to ensure that any point of the 

bunker floor which is less than 6 inches above the lowest point is located no more than 6 feet away from a frame which will create the 

drain Vaults filled with bunker sand, see page 3. This is to ensure the sand depth at the lowest points of the bunker is always enough 

to keep the sand dry at the surface. 

Capillary Bunkers Wash Box

The Capillary Wash Box is an optional, complementary product, to Capillary Bunkers. If the Capillary Wash Box is installed, it is placed 

in the Vault, on top of the drain line, before sand or Capillary Concrete is installed. This Patent Pending box is placed in the low point of 

the bunker, on the drain line, to allow for the bunker sand to be washed clean should there ever be any contamination from outside of 

the bunker (soil, dust, grass etc.).

Bunker Specifications

It is recommended that a tracer wire be installed in all drainage trenches. The drainage pipe must be 

flushed with plenty of water to ensure proper function prior to installation of Capillary Concrete in the 

bunker.
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Bunker Specifications
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To maintain the nature of the product, every effort should be made to prevent soil contamination of Capillary Concrete

during installation, curing, and prior to sand installation. Two methods to safeguard your installation from contamination:

1. Grassing around the perimeter of the bunker prior to Capillary Concrete installation:

With this method, it is recommended that turf grass around the perimeter of the bunker should be secured to the soil by

roots or staples before the installation of Capillary Concrete. After installation and curing and a water test has been

performed to ensure drainage function, sand can be installed in the bunker. For newly sodded bunkers, where additional

irrigation is required for rooting and establishment, we recommend that a thicker layer of sand (approx. 8-10 inches high

x 10 inches wide) be installed on inside perimeter of the bunker against new sod. This is done to allow the sand to act

as a filter layer to catch any soil runoff during irrigation cycles on the newly placed sod. Once the sod is established

and irrigation cycles are reduced, any contaminated sand around the perimeter should be removed. Bunker sand can

be leveled and normal bunker maintenance practices can begin.

2. Capillary Concrete installation prior to sod placement:

In situations where grass cannot be installed prior to the installation of Capillary Concrete, extreme care must be used

to prevent soil contamination. Sand should be installed immediately after curing and the water test. As in method 1), a

thicker perimeter layer of sand should be installed to reduce soil contamination prior to sod placement. After

establishment, any contaminated sand around the perimeter can be removed.

Planning and Construction of The Bunker Edge

The edge detail often gives the bunker shape its distinctive style. Capillary Concrete has the unique ability to be

formed to fit any Architects design goals. Preserving the desired style or motif and reducing ongoing maintenance is

critical to the success of any bunker restoration/renovation plan.

Bridging Factor
D15 (gravel)

D85 (rootzone)
≤ 8

Permeability Factor
D15 (gravel)

D15 (rootzone)
≥ 5

Uniformity Factors
D90 (gravel)
D15 (gravel)

≤ 3

Table 1. Gravel Performance Factors for Drainage in Trenches

www.capillaryconcrete.com 4

Bunker Specifications

The Bunker Edge
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1. Existing bunker and sod renovation

The strength of Capillary Concrete allows the opportunity to protect the inside wall of the bunker better than any other product. Cap-

illary Concrete has the ability to be shaped almost vertically at installation to get the least possible amount of soil in contact with the 

bunker sand. In this photo the subgrade under the existing turf has been excavated 3-4 inches and a layer of Capillary Concrete has 

been placed under the sod to help protect the edge from collapse and contamination. Sand is pulled up the face to hide the Capillary 

Concrete edge.

2. New sod layer around the perimeter

In this case, either the existing soil and grass, or sod is utilized as the edge of the bunker. The 2-inch (50mm) layer of Capillary 

Concrete meets the edge of the bunker. Rolling the sod over the face to cover the soil is an option.

3. Thick sod pieces placed on the side

Here, a thicker piece of sod is cut and laid on the side on the 

prepared bunker floor to create the inside edge of the bunker. 

Cut the sod as wide as you want the edge high, and then backfill 

with soil and tie into the outside shaping of the bunker. Regular 

sod can then be placed to cover the soil and tie into the outside 

of the bunker.

Suggested Edge Detail Methods
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4. Revetted edge with Eco Bunker and / or natural sod

A shelf is created with a trowel and carefully compacted on all sides. A minimum of 2 - 3 layers of artificial turf is recommended, but 

any number of layers can be built. If only natural sod is used it is necessary to place an impermeable plastic on the shelf to keep the 

sod from drying out too much. Backfill with approved materials according to the specifications from the Eco Bunker manufacturer. 

This provides a stable edge option with very little contamination risk. 

www.capillaryconcrete.com 6

Bunker Sand Testing
Capillary Concrete has an open structure that allows water to freely drain through it at more than 100 inches per hour. Once sand 

is placed on top of the product, the new water drainage limit will be the Ksat (saturated hydraulic conductivity) of the sand that 

covers the Capillary Concrete product. After gravitational water has freely drained from the sand, a certain amount of water will 

always be retained in the sand against the force of gravity. This is known as capillary water and the amount can be determined with 

a Soil Moisture Release Test by an accredited test lab. Every different bunker sand has its own unique amount of capillary water 

retention based on the amount of moisture present in the sand. If the Capillary Wash Box is installed, the sand can be modified 

and finer particles in the sand at the base of the bunker can be removed. Never use a sand that is not an approved USGA sand. For 

more information on selecting the perfect bunker sand we recommend this information from the USGA: https://www.usga.org/

content/usga/home-page/course-care/green-section-record/58/11/a-guide-to-selecting-the-right-bunker-sand-for-your-course-.

html#returnable.

Creation of Capillary Concrete Edge Profile, 1st layers of EcoBunker done, 2 layers of 
natural turf to go
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A minimum of eight pieces of 4” (100 mm) to 6” (150 mm) diameter irrigation or drainage pipe 

cut into 2 inch (50 mm) lengths. Use these rings to maintain the 2 inch (50 mm) required mini-

mum depth of the Capillary Concrete during placement. Remove the rings from the wet mix as 

you work out of the bunker. Attach a handle or make a wire loop on each piece of pipe to avoid 

losing them in the mix. A metal probe set at 2 inches (50 mm) is also acceptable.

3

Plywood or similar to protect turfgrass and bunker edge and for building a ramp into the 

bunker if desired. Timbers, logs, etc. can also been used to create ramps.
2

Construction of the Vault – a 2” x 2” wood frame, at least 4 ft long and as wide as the trench 

must be made and placed in the lowest spot of the bunker floor, on top of the trench. The 

frame and all gravel must then be removed to just above the drainage pipe before the sand is 

installed in bunker. Should The Capillary Wash Box be installed, all gravel must be removed 

around the pipe to be able to fit the Capillary Wash Box directly on the drainage pipe. The Vault 

must then be filled with bunker sand to create as deep of a sand layer as possible in this low 

point of the bunker.

4

Flat shovels for placement of Capillary Concrete inside the bunker.5

Heavy-duty vehicle to haul mix from the ready-mix truck to the bunker. Examples: Toro 

Workman, John Deere ProGator, Tractor and dump trailer, articulating wheel loader, front 

dumper, etc.

1

Equipment and Tool Requirements

Pre-Construction Checklist
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A minimum of three plastic bunker rakes-the Accuform type bunker rake with a round head 

is preferred. The teeth can be used to move the mix around to the required 2-inch (50 mm) 

depth, and the rounded back side, and the rounded back side can be used to smooth the mix 

before rolling.

www.capillaryconcrete.com 8

A minimum of two one piece metal extension handles with with metal tips. Telescoping handles 

are preferred as they allow for longer reach. Metal handles and tips. Home Depot has an 

orange metal 5 ft. handle with a metal tip in the paint department. SKU#821-423.

A minimum of two heavy duty 9-inch (23 cm) roller frames. Home Depot has a green Wooster 

Surelock handle that works well. SKU#150-345.

A minimum of two 9 inch (23 cm) loop textured roller cartridges, if the textured roller can´t be 

found, use a regular paint roller with the fabric removed or cover a roller with duct tape. Home 

Depot used to call them Goop Loop Rollers. SKU#430-546.

At least One 12 to 14-inch pool trowel. (30-35 cm) Some installers prefer using a larger trowel 

for finishing the floors as well. Do not use a bull float. Home Depot Part# PT144BR

8

7

9

10

6

Pre-Construction Checklist
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13

12

14

15

11
Purchase adequate plastic to completely cover all the Capillary Concrete bunkers completed 

in a day. The plastic can be re-used for the entire project. Home Depot SKU#938-963

www.capillaryconcrete.com 9

6-inch (15 cm) metal staples to hold the plastic down after placement. Staples should be 

placed every 3 feet (0,9 m) round the perimeter of the bunker. Sandbags, bricks, logs, old tires

(etc.) are also acceptable. The idea is to hold the plastic in place during curing.

Two 5 gallon (19 liter) buckets of water to keep rollers wet.

A hose and quick-coupler with a misting nozzle and working shut off valve for misting of the 

product during installation.

Optional: For easier placement of material.

Marshalltown 19-1/2 in. x 4 in. Aluminum Placer

Home Depot SKU #959687 Model #AP753

Pre-Construction Checklist
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Temperature Limits
Capillary Concrete should not be installed when daily high temperatures are expected to be below 32 degrees (F) or below 28 degrees (F) 

within 2 days of installation. During hot weather, windy, or low humidity conditions, the product will set up faster and caution must be exer-

cised to maintain acceptable moisture levels of the mixture and bunker base prior to installation. A light misting of the bunker subfloor may 

be required several times during the installation process.

www.capillaryconcrete.com 10

1

Installation Instructions

When the ready-mix truck arrives at the job site, you will need 

to ensure the correct consistency of the Capillary Concrete 

before installation can begin. Before discharging any mix, ask 

the driver to spin the truck 5 revolutions to adequately mix the product. 

(It’s been mixing since it left the plant, but we find this to be a good way 

to ensure mix uniformity)Now it’s time to perform a HAND SQUEEZE

TEST as shown here. Ask the driver to discharge a small amount of 

the Capillary Concrete mixture into the utility vehicle you are using 

to haul the mix to the bunker. It should be shiny and look like melted 

chocolate and rock. Take a handful of the mix and squeeze it in your 

hand and release. The paste must be creamy and sticky enough for the 

aggregate particles to adhere to the vertical surface of your hand. If the 

paste is dry and powdery, the mix is a little too dry and you need to ask 

the driver to add water to the mixer truck. Never add more than 1 gallon 

of water at a time (unless otherwise instructed by an onsite Capillary 

Concrete representative), check after, ask the driver to turn the drum 

a minimum of 15 revolutions before checking the mix again. Continue 

this process until the mix has the feel of melted chocolate. Be careful 

not to add too much water. It’s always better to add a little at a time.

We cannot take the water out once it has been put in the mixer. The 

paste should NEVER be drippy and runny when you perform the 

hand squeeze test. The mix should always have the consistency of 

melted chocolate. Continue to monitor the consistency as you install 

- YOU MUST perform the hand squeeze test occasionally to ensure 

consistency during the installation. An additional gallon of water may 

be required after a few loads have been installed. If so-ask the driver to add one gallon and rotate the drum 15 times before discharging more 

mix. If the mix is extremely wet and runny when the ready-mix truck arrives,  ask the driver to spin the drum for 5 minutes to try to dry the 

mix up a bit. If that doesn’t work and the discharged pile for testing has clogged up void space, you should refuse the truck, send it back to 

the plant, and contact your Capillary Concrete Representative immediately. DO NOT install Capillary Concrete if the mixture is too wet.
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www.capillaryconcrete.com 11

If the subgrade is dry, it should be lightly misted prior to placement of Capillary 

Concrete. Do not let the floor get muddy during installation, and make sure floor is 

always smoothed out before installation of Capillary Concrete. NEVER WALK ON THE 

WET CAPILLARY CONCRETE MIX.

2

Once the batch is properly mixed, begin in one corner of the bunker by spreading 

the mix to a depth of 2 inches (50mm) (using depth gauge rings). Use plastic bunker 

rakes or the aluminum placer tools to drag out and level the product. DO NOT walk on 

the product in the bunker. This will compress the product and restrict water flow. We 

want to preserve as much open space for water flow as possible.

3

Use the textured roller or trowels to finish and lightly compact the surface. The entire 

surface of Capillary Concrete must be lightly compacted to provide a smooth surface 

and bond the product together. Keep the roller damp during the rolling process. It is 

important to work quickly during this step. The sooner the product is smoothed and 

rolled the better.

4

The edge of Capillary Concrete must be no less than 2 inches thick. A hand trowel 

should be used to compact and finish the edge of the material around the bunker 

edge (If desired, this is also the location of the drip-line irrigation option). Care must 

be given to prevent loose aggregate pieces from adhering to the exposed soil edge. 

Any loose pieces should be removed immediately.

5

Once an area or batch section is finished, it must be covered immediately with 6 mil 

plastic. Black plastic is preferred on cold days, clear plastic is preferred in the summer. 

Covering is important to reduce moisture loss and improve curing and strength of 

the mixture, and covering MUST BE performed in any weather. Place staples in the 

plastic every 3 feet around the perimeter of the bunker and as close to the mixture as 

possible to reduce air between the plastic and mix. If there are seams between plastic 

pieces, use something heavy to hold the seams down. Remember we want to reduce 

the amount of air getting to the product as it cures. This step also keeps debris and 

water from getting onto it during set up.

6

Installation Instructions
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The plastic cover must remain on product for a minimum of 24 hours (48 hours in 

cold or wet conditions). Then, remain covered until bunker sand can be installed. 

This helps the product cure and will keep the product clean and debris free.

Before installing the bunker sand (minimum of 24 hours after installation must 

pass), remove the plastic and clean the base of the bunker with a backpack blower 

to remove any loose surface pieces that may not have adhered during the rolling 

phase of the installation. Check the edge for loose pieces as well and remove them 

from the soil edge. Do not allow concrete to turn light-grey in color. The product 

needs to stay hydrated before sand is applied, if not keep covered.

Now perform the water drainage test to confirm that water rapidly drains through 

the product. This must be done to activate the Performance Guarantee. Do not 

“blast” high pressure water on the freshly installed Capillary Concrete - a shower 

spray is preferred over a steady stream. See the film: The Test of Drainage.

Bunker sand can now be installed (using a conveyor, loader, or utility cart etc.) to the required or specified depth according to 

the Soil Moisture Release Curve. Do not drive directly on the new Capillary Concrete bunker during sand installation. It is recom-

mended to begin sand installation on an edge and push the sand out across the bunker using a sand rake or similar machine while 

keeping vehicles on plywood on top of the sand layer. Once the sand has been installed, saturate the sand with a spray nozzle so as 

to not flood the sand to where fines can separate. This moisture will help the product continue to cure and help the sand firm up.

If requested by the Contractor, Owner’s representative, Superintendent, or Golf Course Architect, Capillary Concrete will provide a 
technical representative for installation assistance and consultation for one (1) full day on site at the startup of a Capillary Concrete 
installation for the cost of basic expenses and related costs. Additional days of consultation may be requested at the same expense rate. 
Please provide a minimum two (2) weeks’ notice to arrange this service. For more specific questions, contact Capillary Concrete.

610 Sycamore Street, Suite 305 

Celebration, FL 34747 USA

W W W . C A P I L L A R Y C O N C R E T E . C O M

7

8

9

10

Installation Instructions
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adspipe.com
800-821-6710

ADS N-12® PE (per AASHTO)
Submittal Package

Package Contents
	 1. Sell Sheet 
	 2. Specification 
	 3. Technical notes 
	 4. Corrugated plastic pipe installation guide
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ADS, Inc. Drainage Handbook Specifications     1-11 

© ADS, Inc., August 2023 

N-12® PLAIN END PIPE (PER AASHTO) SPECIFICATION

Scope 

This specification describes 4- through 60-inch (100 to 1500 mm) N-12 plain end pipe (per AASHTO) for 
use in gravity-flow land drainage applications. 

Pipe Requirements 

N-12 plain end pipe (per AASHTO) shall have a smooth interior and annular exterior corrugations.

• 4- through 10-inch (100 to 250 mm) pipe shall meet AASHTO M252, Type S or SP.

• 12- through 60-inch (300 to 1500 mm) pipe shall meet AASHTO M294, Type S or SP, or ASTM
F2306.

• Manning’s “n” value for use in design shall be 0.012.

Joint Performance 

Pipe shall be joined with coupling bands covering at least two full corrugations on each end of the pipe. 

Standard connections shall meet or exceed the soil-tight requirements of AASHTO M252, AASHTO 

M294, or ASTM F2306.   

Gasketed connections shall incorporate a closed-cell synthetic expanded rubber gasket meeting the 
requirements of ASTM D1056 Grade 2A2.  Gaskets, when applicable, shall be installed by the pipe 
manufacturer.  

Fittings 

Fittings shall conform to AASHTO M252, AASHTO M294, or ASTM F2306. 

Material Properties 
Material for pipe and fitting production shall be high density polyethylene conforming with the minimum 
requirements of cell classification 424420C for 4- through 10-inch (100 to 250 mm) diameters, and 
435400C for 12- through 60-inch (300 to 1500 mm) diameters, as defined and described in the latest 
version of ASTM D3350, except that carbon black content should not exceed 4%.  The 12- through 60-
inch (300 to 1500mm) pipe material shall comply with the notched constant ligament-stress (NCLS) test 
as specified in Sections 9.5 and 5.1 of AASHTO M294 and ASTM F2306 respectively.   

Installation 
Installation shall be in accordance with ASTM D2321 and ADS recommended installation guidelines, with 
the exception that minimum cover in trafficked areas for 4- through 48-inch (100 to 1200 mm) diameters 
shall be one foot. (0.3 m) and for 60-inch (1500 mm) diameter the minimum cover shall be 2 ft. (0.6 m) in 
single run applications.  Backfill for minimum cover situations shall consist of Class 1 (compacted), Class 
2 (minimum 90% SPD) or Class 3 (minimum 95%) material.  Maximum fill heights depend on embedment 
material and compaction level; please refer to Technical Note 2.01.  Contact your local ADS 
representative or visit our website at  
www.adspipe.com for a copy of the latest installation guidelines.  

Build America, Buy America (BABA) 
N-12 Plain End pipe (per AASHTO), manufactured in accordance with AASHTO M252, AASHTO M294 or 
ASTM F2306, complies with the requirements in the Build America, Buy America (BABA) Act.

Pipe Dimensions 
Pipe I.D. 

in (mm) 

4 

(100) 

6 

(150) 

8 

(200) 

10 

(250) 

12 

(300) 

15 

(375) 

18 

(450) 

24 

(600) 

30 

(750) 

36 

(900) 

42 

(1050) 

48 

(1200) 

60 

(1500) 

Pipe O.D.* 

 in (mm) 

4.8 

(122) 

6.9 

(175) 

9.1 

(231) 

11.4 

(290) 

14.5 

(368) 

18 

(457) 

22 

(559) 

28 

(711) 

36 

(914) 

42 

(1067) 

48 

(1219) 

54 

(1372) 

67 

(1702) 

*Pipe O.D. values are provided for reference purposes only, values stated for 12 through 60-inch are ±1 inch. Contact a sales representative for exact 

values

**All diameters available with or without perforations.
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ADS “Terms and Conditions of Sale” are available  on the ADS website, 
www.ads-pipe.com. 
Advanced Drainage Systems and the Green Stripe are registered 
trademarks of Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc. Mar-Mac® is a registered 
trademark of Mar-Mac® Construction Products, Inc. Chevy® is a registered 
trademark of General Motors Corporation. Bobcat® is a registered 
trademark of Bobcat Company. A-LOK® is a registered trademark of 
A-LOK Products, Inc. Kor-N-Seal® is a registered trademark of NPC, Inc.
© 2022 Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc. #10607  06/22 MH

adspipe.com
800-821-6710
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Lexicon, Inc. dba Heritage Links       
10105 Louetta Road, Suite 111

Houston, Texas 77070

Phone: (281) 866-0909 | Fax: (281) 866-0944

www.heritage-links.com

Contact Us:

@odonnell_jon@heritagelinks
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INDIAN WELLS 
GOLF RESORT

LANDSCAPES
UNLIMITED

PROJECT PROPOSAL
1201 Aries Drive, Lincoln, NE 68512
Landscapes Unlimited, LLC

www.landscapesunlimited.com

ATTACHMENT #7
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600,000.00

$.56/SF 66,485.44

13,050.00 50,503.50

49,500.00

5,530.00 320,187.00

486,675.94

8.75 1,007,387.50Page 140 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



450,000.00

1,457,387.50

31.55

625.00

3,000.00

380,019.75

56,250.00

15,000.00

451,269.75

15.00 819,495.00

4.20 273,634.20

.42 57,946.56
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15.50 1,288,654.50

2,439,730.26

8.60 686,804.60

16.10 48,300.00

14.00 891,828.00

1,626,932.60

865,000.00

1.06 126,971.04

8,850.00 340,105.50

1.06 169,600.00

636,676.54
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N/A

77,000.00

77,000.00

600,000.00

486,675.94

1,457,387.50

451,269.75

3,357,405.00

2,439,730.26

1,626,932.60

865,000.00

636,676.54

77,000.00

12,148,077.59

Twelve Million, One Hundred Forty-Eight Thousand, Seventy-Seven  
Dollars and Fifty-Nine Cents.

Landscapes Unlimited, LLC Roy Wilson / Asst. Manager
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Bid Clarifications 
 

 

1 2 0 1  A r i e s  D r i v e  |  L i n c o l n ,  N E   6 8 5 1 2  |  4 0 2 . 4 2 3 . 6 6 5 3  
Industry Leader Since 1976 | Global Capabilities | Traditional & Design-Build Delivery Method | Awarding Winning Projects 

www.landscapesunlimited.com or find us on Facebook www.facebook.com/FollowLandscapes 

 

Players Course at Indian Wells Golf Resort 
September 26, 2024 

 

 This proposal is based on one mobilization of all labor, equipment and material to the 
jobsite. 
 

 This proposal is based only on the items and quantities listed on the bid form. 
Contractor will credit Owner if fewer units are installed and will be paid for all additional 
units installed. 

 
 Drainage prices are based on a maximum trench depth of 3' plus the diameter of the 

pipe.  Any material that cannot be excavated efficiently with a JD 80 (or equal) will be 
considered trench rock and performed on a negotiated unit price.  All solid pipe is bid 
with native backfill from trench soils.  No import or screening of pipe backfill is included 
in this proposal. 
 

 Pricing excludes the cost of removing and/or demolishing underground or above ground 
utilities not noted in the specifications or our qualifications.   

 
 Engineering & Professional surveying are to be the responsibility of the Owner. 

 
 Any existing drainage pipe not encountered during construction will remain undisturbed 

and abandoned in place. 
 

 Earthwork and Shaping is based on any material that cannot be productively ripped with 
a John Deere 650 size dozer will be considered hard excavation. Rock excavation will be 
performed on a T&M basis, or at a negotiated unit price.  
 

 Greensmix included in the proposal is priced as 90/10 Dakota Blend, as supplied by West 
Coast Sand & Gravel Inc.  
 

 Bunker sand is priced as Emerald Bunker Sand, as supplied by West Coast Sand & Gravel 
Inc. 

 
 If wet or unsuitable soils are encountered in cart path or fire road areas and additional 

stabilization is required, it will be performed on a negotiated unit price. 
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Bid Clarifications 
 

 

1 2 0 1  A r i e s  D r i v e  |  L i n c o l n ,  N E   6 8 5 1 2  |  4 0 2 . 4 2 3 . 6 6 5 3  
Industry Leader Since 1976 | Global Capabilities | Traditional & Design-Build Delivery Method | Awarding Winning Projects 

www.landscapesunlimited.com or find us on Facebook www.facebook.com/FollowLandscapes 

 

 This proposal is based on LU self-performing all construction and irrigation as-builts for 
this project. If the as-builts need to be performed by an engineer or surveyor, this can 
be performed on a T&M basis, or at a negotiated unit price.    

 
 All necessary permits, fees and inspections are to be obtained and paid for by the 

Owner. 
 

 Builder’s Risk Insurance is not included.  
 

 All pricing for this project is based upon current commodity pricing in effect as of 
9/26/24.  Any fluctuations in pricing or supply that increase project costs will be 
reimbursed to Contractor by Owner on an actual cost-incurred basis.  Owner will be 
entitled to documentation of such pricing fluctuations upon request. 
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OTHER TERMS & CONDITIONS  
 

 
1. Our Commercial Liability Insurance has a $1,000,000 per occurrence/$2,000,000 aggregate. 

However, we also have a $15 million umbrella. 
 

2. This project has been estimated using non-union forces. If it becomes necessary to employ union 
labor or apprentices for this project, due to Owner directive or in order to continue with the Work 
to avoid strikes, Owner will reimburse Contractor for additional costs associated with the use of 
union labor. 
 

3. Our contract is based on the material quantities per the bid forms, utilizing unit prices to cover any 
changes in the final installed material quantities. We purchase additional materials for our 
inventory (that we own and insure) above and beyond the bid quantities in case any changes are 
made during the staking and execution of the project. This helps reduce/eliminate delays in the 
progress of the work if changes occur. Any materials in excess of the quantities listed on the bid 
form that are not installed at the end of the project will remain the property of Landscapes 
Unlimited.  

 
4. Owner is responsible for hook-up of electricity for Contractor’s office at the Project site. The cost 

of service and usage will be paid by Contractor. Further, Owner will supply adequate space onsite 
for Contractor to stage all materials and operations for the Project. 

 
5. Owner will supply all engineered controls for this project. This includes, but is not limited to, golf 

hole monuments (tee, fairway, greens), critical benchmarks, property lines, existing utilities (depth 
and location) and/or other infrastructure as required for construction. All necessary golf course 
feature staking required for shaping will be performed by Contractor. 

 
6. Owner understands and agrees that stress cracks will occur in the cart paths and such cracks will 

not be a cause for replacement unless they prevent the use of the cart paths for their intended 
purpose. No weed barrier or sealers are included in the installation of the cart paths. 
 

7. A video recording of all cart paths will be taken by the Contractor prior to work commencing, an 
electronic copy will be provided to both the Owner and Contractor for reference. In addition, notes 
stating specific locations and conditions of path will be documented on a plan, with condition 
agreed upon prior to work commencing. Stress cracks will occur in the cart paths and such cracks 
shall not be a cause for replacement unless they prevent the use of the cart paths for their intended 
purpose. 

 
8. The parties recognize that conditions may exist, through no fault of Contractor, in which Owner 

will request an acceleration of Contractor’s Work. Prior to such an order to accelerate, the parties 
must agree in writing that a separate lump sum payment will be paid to Contractor for all increased 
costs Contractor will incur during the accelerated work period, including, but not limited to, 
increased site supervision, equipment overhead, premium time and lost productivity. 

 
9. Owner will compensate Contractor for any reconstruction work necessary due to infrastructure or 

site development by others that impacts the Work under the Agreement. In the event that re-work 
of items performed by the Contractor is necessary, or special working conditions are required to 
work around existing or installed infrastructure, Contractor will be compensated on a time and 
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OTHER TERMS & CONDITIONS  
 

material basis.  Further, any work necessary for removing existing infrastructure or discovered 
items will be the responsibility of Owner. 
 

10. This is a drop-seed agreement, which means upon any seeding, sprigging, sodding, planting or 
other means of turf or other vegetative installation, Substantial Completion of that portion of the 
Work will have been reached. Upon Substantial Completion of any portion of the Work, Owner 
assumes full responsibility for initial watering and all subsequent maturation practices and 
outcomes including but not limited to, maintenance, watering, germination, sustainability, 
vegetative viability, turf quality, turf coverage, agronomic programming, staffing, materials, 
equipment, erosion damage repair, silt mitigation and removal, and maintenance, installation and 
repair of any erosion control devices, including removal of such devices. If requested by Owner, 
Contractor will repair erosion for which Owner is responsible at a negotiated price or using the 
time and equipment rates in Exhibit 3. 

 
11. The proposal is based on compliance with safety protocols currently mandated by state and local 

law where the project is located. Any additional safety protocols required by Owner or any changes 
in the safety protocols required by law may increase project costs, and such additional costs will 
be reimbursed to Contractor by Owner. 
 

12. Pricing excludes monitors for and the identification and/or removal of any archaeological, 
biological, or hazardous materials. The Owner shall be responsible for all such identification and 
mitigation or removal within the area of construction and shall indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless the contractor, its officers, employees, and all associated parties from all fines, suits, 
procedures, claims, and actions of every kind, and all associated costs and legal fees. 
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T AND M RATES 
 

All equipment is operated, fueled, and fully maintained. The prices below are for owned equipment. If 
machinery must be rented for your proposed work, an hourly rate shall be agreed upon before the work 
begins. Mobilization and de-mobilization costs are not extra if the appropriate crew and equipment is 
already on site working within the original terms of the agreement. For any additional resources needed 
to complete the requested T&M work, all shipping costs, travel, living and administrative expenses both 
to and from job site and while on the job will be billed to customer at cost. (The following wage rates 
do not include any prevailing wages rates.) 

 
DESCRIPTION HOURLY RATE 
 
DOZER 
Crawler Dozer 180 HP (JD850, CAT D6R) $170 
Crawler Dozer 140 HP (JD750, CAT D6M) $157 
Crawler Dozer 100 HP (JD700, CAT D5K) $148               
Crawler Dozer 90 HP (JD650, CAT D5) $139  
Crawler Dozer 80 HP (JD 550, CAT D4) $129  
 
EXCAVATORS 
John Deere – 230 Excavator – (52,410#)  $160  
John Deere – 200 Excavator – (44,750#) $150  
John Deere – 120 Excavator – (26,790#)  $135  
John Deere Mini-Excavator – 35G – (8,125#) $75  
John Deere Mini-Excavator – 50G – (10,850#) $90  
John Deere Mini-Excavator – 75G – (18,000#) $110  
Tilt Bucket Attachment for Mini-Excavator $35  
 
LOADERS/BACKHOES  
John Deere 544 G – Front End Loader $148  
John Deere 344 G – Front End Loader $111  
John Deere 410 – Backhoe $90   
John Deere 410 – Backhoe w/breaker $135   
John Deere 310 – Backhoe  $76  
John Deere 310 – Backhoe w/breaker $114  
 
SKID STEER/Compact Track Loader 
John Deere – 314G – (6,300#) $70    
John Deere – 320G – (7,150#) $80   
Bobcat T595 Compact Track Loader – (8,000#) $90   
John Deere – 332G – (10,000#) $100  
 

 Note: bucket or forks included in pricing above. Any 
additional attachments would be at an additional cost.   

 
TRACTORS/LOADER-GRADING-  
New Holland 4030 – (76 HP) $120 
Ford 250C-260C – (68 HP) $95   
Ford 345C – (52 HP) $100  
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T AND M RATES 
 

Ford 445A-445D- (62 HP)  $100  
Ford 540B-545D- (66 HP)  $104  
 
 
DESCRIPTION HOURLY RATE 
 
TRACTOR ONLY 
John Deere 4066 – (65 HP) $104 
Ford 4610/4630 – (55 HP) $75  
Kubota 6030MF – (61 HP) $80   
Kubota 5030MF – (50 HP) $75  
Kubota 4030MF – (48 HP) $68  
Kubota B7100 – (16 HP) $58  
 
TRENCHERS 
Vermeer T555 Rock Trencher $289   
Case 860/960 $139   
Case 860/960 – With Rock Wheel $220  
Bobcat TL116 or Dingo Walk Behind Trencher $70  
 
IRRIGATION EQUIPMENT (DOES NOT INCLUDE LABOR) 
412 – Trac Stars Fusing Machine $90 
612 – Trac Stars Fusing Machine $100 
14+26 Pit Bull Fusing  $50 
Sidewall or Socket Machine/Tools $40 
 
TRUCKS 
1,800 gal. Water truck $96  
Dump Truck – 10 CY $125  
Dump Truck – 5/6 CY $79   
Dump Truck – 3.5 CY $70  
Flatbed Truck $79   
  
Wacker Dumpers-Material Haulers 
6001 Dumper – 6.5 Tons Material $115  
5001 Dumper – 5.0 Tons Material $100   
3001 Dumper – 3.0 Tons Material $90  
 
MISCELLANEOUS (DOES NOT INCLUDE LABOR) 
Sand-Pro $30 
3” Pump $25  
2” Pump $17  
Generators under 8 hp $22  
Concrete Mixers  $25   
Pick-up $40  
Plate-Tamper or Jumping Jack Compactor $25   
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T AND M RATES 
 

ATV’s/ JD Gators $34  
LP600 Laser $20 
 
 
 
DESCRIPTION HOURLY RATE 
 
ATTACHMENTS (DOES NOT INCLUDE LABOR) 
Bowie Hydro – Mulcher $130  
Straw Bale Shredder $45  
Brillion Seeder $42  
Gill $20  
Vicon or Lely Spreader $32     
Laser Box $45    
Level Best laser box $50   
Dakota Material Spreader $60   

            Provonost /Material Trailers $35 
            Box Scraper / Shaping Blade $17  
 

 
LABOR RATES 
Overtime rates will apply for time spent more than forty (40) hours in a week. All 
overtime hours will be billed at time and one-half of the applicable rates above. Holidays 
and Sundays will be billed at double time or per the established project agreement. 
 
1.  Foreman w/pickup $95  
2.  Foreman w/out pickup $71  
3.  LUL Skilled Laborer $56  
4.  General Laborer $44  

               5.  Concrete Finisher                                                    $60 
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2.2 GOLF COURSE CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL 
 
 

Construction Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 
Previous 5 Projects: 

 
 
 

Assistant Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Shaping Crew  

Lead Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company:  

Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience:  

 

Feature Construction 
Foreman: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

 
 

Irrigation System 
Construction Superintendent: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Eric Wolfert
15 years
9 years
Mission Bay Golf Course, Torrey Pines Golf Course
La Valle Coastal Club,  Traditions Golf Club
Rancho La Quinta Golf Club

Scott McIntosh

Juan Ramos
24 years
24 years

TBD

TBD

Victor Ramirez
30 years
30 years

1 year
20 years
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Finish Crew 
Foreman:   
Years Experience:   
Years with Company:   
Previous 3 Projects:   

TBD
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2.3 BIDDER INFORMATION 
 
 

Company Name:   
Physical Address:   

 
 

Telephone: 
Fax Number: 

 
Bonding Company: 

Address: 
 
 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

 
Liability Insurance: 

Address: 
 
 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

 
Workman’s Compensation 
Insurance Company: 

Address: 
 
 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

 
 

Federal Tax ID Number: 

 
Signature:   

 
Print Name and Title: 

Landscapse Unlimited, LLC
1201 Aries Drive
Lincoln, NE  68512

402-423-6653
402-423-4487

Gene Lilly Surety Bonds / Merchants Bonding Co.
735 S 56th Street
Lincoln, NE  68510

402-475-7700
Jim and Tom King

Lockton Companies, LLC
13710 FNB Parkway, Suite 400
Omaha, NE  68154

402-970-6105

Lockton Companies, LLC
13710 FNB Parkway, Suite 400
Omaha, NE  68154

402-970-6105

47-0822871

Roy Wilson - Assistant Manager
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2.4 LIST OF PROPOSED SUB-CONTRACTORS 
 
 
 

Company Name:   
Contact:   
Address:   

 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

 
 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

 
 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

 
 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

R.P. Ruiz Corporation 
Richard Ruiz
P.O. Box 1147

(805) 732-9683
(805) 512-7144
Concrete Cart Path & Fire Road

Somis, CA  93066

Evergreen Turf
Jimmy Fox
P.O. Box 2770
Chandler, AZ  85244-2770
(480) 456-1199
(480) 456-4699
Grassing
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2.5 LIST OF PROPOSED SUPPLIERS 
 
 

Name   

Products Supplied:   
 

 
Name   

 
 

Products Supplied: 
 
 
 
 

Name   
 
 

Products Supplied:   
 

 
Name   

 
 

Products Supplied:   
 
 

 
Name   

 
 

Products Supplied:   

West Coast Aggregate Supply

Bunker Sand, Greensmix, Gravel, Road Base

Ewing

Capillary Concrete, Drainage Pipe

Eagle Golf 

JM Bunker Liner, Drainage Pipe
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2.6 MATERIALS SUBMITTALS 
 
 

Name  _______________________________________ 
 
 
 
Products Supplied_____________________________ 

Page 162 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
CALIFORNIA 

 
 

 

Pre-Qualification Bid 

QUESTIONNAIRE 

For 

           Indian Wells Golf Resort 
             Players Course Renovation 
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PART I. ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR QUALIFICATION 

 

Contractor will be immediately disqualified if the answer to any question 1 through 

5 is "no". Disqualification for such an answer may not be appealed. 

 

1. Do you possess a valid and current California Contractor's license for the project or 

projects for which it intends to submit a bid. 

☐Yes ☐ No 

2.  Do you have a liability insurance policy with a policy limit of at least $1,000,000 per 

occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate. 

☐Yes ☐No 

3. Do you have a current workers' compensation insurance policy as required by the 

Labor Code or is legally self-insured pursuant to Labor Code section 3700 et. seq. 

☐Yes ☐No 

4.  Have you attached a notarized statement from an admitted surety insurer (approved 

by the California Department of Insurance) and authorized to issue bonds in the State 

of California, which states that your current bonding capacity is sufficient for the 

project for which you seek pre-qualification. The statement must be from the surety 

not an agent or broker. 

☐Yes ☐No 

5.  Have you attached your latest copy of a reviewed or audited financial statement with 

accompanying notes and supplemental information. 

☐Yes ☐No 

 

Contractor will be immediately disqualified if the answer to any question 6 

through 9 is "yes". If the answer to question 7 is "yes", and if debarment would be 

the sole reason for denial of pre-qualification, any pre-qualification issued will 

exclude the debarment period. A contractor disqualified solely because of a "yes" 

answer to 6 OR 8 may appeal the disqualification and provide an explanation for the 

relevant circumstances during the appeal process. 

6. Has your contractor's license been revoked at any time in the last five years? 

☐Yes ☐No 

7. Has a surety firm completed a contract on your behalf, or paid for completion because 

your firm was default terminated by the project owner within the last five (5) years? 

☐Yes ☐No 

8. At the time of submitting this pre-qualification form, is your firm ineligible to bid on 

or be awarded a public works contract, or perform as a subcontractor on a pu blic 

works contract, pursuant to Labor Code section 1777.1 or section 1777.7? 

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

No
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C. For Firms That Are Sole Proprietorships: 

 

18. Date of commencement of business:                                          

19. Tax ID number or Social security number of company owner:  _ 

 

D. For Firms That Intend to Make a Bid as Part of a Joint Venture: 

 

20. Date of commencement of joint venture:  _ 

 

21. Tax ID number:                                                         

 

 

22. Attach a list for each member of the joint venture that includes all relevant 

information, as requested above, for the type of entity. 

 

Part III. HISTORY OF BUSINESS 

 

23. State your firm's gross revenues for each of the last three years: 

 

2021:                              2022:                               2023                               

24.  How many years has your organization been in business in California as a contractor 

under your present business name and license number? 

Years in Business:                                        

 
25. Is your firm currently the debtor in a bankruptcy case? 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes," attach a statement that includes the case number, court (name and location), 

chapter under which you filed, and the date on which the petition was initially filed. 

 

26. Was your firm in bankruptcy at any time during the last five years? (This question 

refers only to a bankruptcy action that was not described in the answer above) 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes," attach a statement that includes the case number, court (name and location), 

chapter under which you filed, the date on which the petition was initially filed, and a 

copy of the Bankruptcy Court's discharge order, or of any other document that ended 

the case, if no discharge order was issued. • 

 

27. Attach on a separate sheet of paper a list of all California construction license 

numbers, classifications and expiration dates of the California contractor licenses held 

by your firm. 

July 2, 1999

47-0822871

$75,000,000 $114,075,000 120,000,000

Limited Liability Company

25 years

X

X

California - General Engineering, General Building and Landscaping 
#973614
Classifications - A B C27
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48. What is your firm's OSHA Incidence Rate? [ formula for calculating the incidence 

rate is as follows: (total recordable injuries X 200,000) / (total number of man-hours)] 

    2019:                                            

    2020:                                            

    2021:                                            

    2022:                                            

    2023:                                            

49.  Has CAL OSHA cited and assessed penalties against your firm for any "serious," 

"willful" or "repeat" violations of its safety or health regulations in the past five 

years? 

NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation, and the Occupational Safety and 

Health Appeals Board has not yet ruled on your appeal, you need not include 
information about it. 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes," attached a separate signed page describing the citations, including 

information about the dates of the citations, the nature of the violation, the project on 

which the citation(s) was or were issued, the amount of penalty paid, if any. If the 

citation was appealed to the Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board and a 

decision has been issued, state the case number and the date of the decision. 

 

50. Has the federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration cited and assessed 

penalties against your firm in the past five years? 

NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation and the Appeals Board has not 

yet ruled on your appeal, or if there is a court appeal pending, you need not 

include information about the citation. 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes," attach a separate signed page describing each citation. 

 

51.  Has the EPA or any Air Quality Management District or any Regional Water Quality 

Control Board cited and assessed penalties against either your firm or the owner of a 

project on which your firm was the contractor, in the past five years? 

 

NOTE: If you have filed an appeal of a citation and the Appeals Board has not 

yet ruled on your appeal, or if there is a court appeal pending, you need not 

include information about the citation. 

☐Yes ☐No 
If "yes," attach a separate signed page describing each citation. 

.80

.90
.9 .90

.70

.82

X

X

X
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59. At any time during the last five years, has your firm been found to have violated any 

provision of California apprenticeship laws or regulations, or the laws pertaining 

to use of apprentices on public works? 

 

NOTE: You may omit reference to any incident that occurred prior to January 

1, 1998, if the violation was by a subcontractor and your firm, as general 

contractor on a project, had no knowledge of the subcontractor's violation at the 
time they occurred. 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes," provide the date(s) of such findings and attach copies of the Department's 

final decision(s). 

 
PART V. RECENT CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS COMPLETED  

 
60. Contractor shall provide information about its six most recently completed golf course projects 

and its three largest completed golf course projects within the last 5 years. Names and references 

must be current and verifiable. Contractors will be scored ONLY on their best five past jobs. Use 

separate sheets of paper that contain all of the following information: 

 

Project Name: 

 

Location: 

 

Owner: 

 

Owner Contact (name and current phone number): 

 

Architect or Engineer Contact (name and current phone number): 

Construction Manager (name and current phone number): 

Description of Project, Scope of Work Performed: 

Total Value of Construction (including change orders): 

Original Scheduled Completion Date: 

Time Extensions Granted (number of days): 

Actual Date of Completion: 

X

*See attached
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61. Proposed Project Manager for current project 

Name: 

Years Employed by your firm: 

 

Present title: 

 

Years in present position: 

 

62. Was your current project manager employed by your firm as project manager for at 

least two jobs listed in question sixty? 

☐Yes ☐No 

If "yes", attach a sheet indicating which jobs. 

If "no" attach a sheet including all of the information listed in question sixty, showing 

that your project manager completed at least two projects of similar magnitude and 

complexity in the last five years. 

 
63. Will your project manager or a person as or more qualified be at the job at all times? 

☐Yes ☐No 

64. Proposed Project Superintendent 

Name: 

Years Employed by your firm: 

 

Present title: 

 

Years in present position: 

 

65.  Was your project superintendent employed by your firm as project superintendent for 

at least two jobs listed in question sixty? 

☐ Yes ☐ No 

If "yes", attach a sheet indicating which jobs. 

If "no" attach a sheet including all of the information listed in question sixty, showing 

that your project superintendent completed at least two projects of similar magnitude 

and complexity in the last five years. 

 

66. Will your project superintendent or a person as or more qualified be at the job at all 

times? 

☐Yes ☐No 

Larry Barefield

1 year

Senior Project Manager

1 year

X

X

Eric Wolfert

9 years

Superintendent

9 years

X

X
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Recently Completed Projects
PROVIDING CUSTOMIZED SOLUTIONS FOR THE GOLF RECREATION INDUSTRY

Golf Construction | Golf Renovation | Sports Recreation | Golf Management | Irrigation 

Project City State Owner Owner Contact Architect Scope Total Value
Schedule Completion 

Date

Actual Date of 

Completion
LU Personnel

Club at 3 Creek Jackson WY The Club at 3 Creek

Michael Marion

307-732-8900

Rees Jones, Inc.

973-744-4031

Scope: South practice facility and bunker 

renovation $4,283,118.29 6/30/2024 7/31/24 Larry Barefield

Tradition Golf Club La Quinta CA Tradition Golf Club

Ty Broadhead

760-564-3355 N/A Short Game Area Renovation $196,880.00 7/5/2023 7/17/2023 Eric Wolfert

Links of North Dakota Ray ND The Links of North Dakota

Gustavo Rodriguez

701-609-6143 N/A New irrigation system $2,593,000.00 9/15/2024 8/15/2024

Tradition Golf Club La Quinta CA Tradition Golf Club

Ty Broadhead

760-564-3355 N/A Green Resurfacing $853,090.93 8/7/2024 15-Jul-24 Eric Wolfert

North Ranch Country Club Westlake Village CA North Ranch Country Club

Jenny Duce

805-496-1995

Jackson Kahn Golf Course 

Design, LLC

602-999-4589

Golf Course Renovation - 9-Holes Oaks 

course & 9-Holes Valley Course New 

Features, Regrassing, and Replacing 

Irrigation System.  Tee-to-green layout 

changes. $9,980,222.50 10/14/2024 9/27/2024 Larry Barefield

Kingdom of TaylorMade Carlsbad CA TaylorMade

Halsey Hammond

halsey.hammond@taylormade.com

Piza Golf / Augie Piza

info@pizagolfdesign.com Short game renovation $185,314.61 5/30/2024 7/31/2024 Eric Wolfert

Rancho La Quinta CC La Quinta CA

Master Association for Rancho 

La Quinta

Chris Erickson, Dir of Agronomy

858-774-1120 N/A Bunker renovation $883,064.40 9/30/2024 9/20/2024

Jackson Hole Golf & Tennis Club Jackson WY

Vail Resorts Management 

Company

Guy Evans

307-734-3855

Robert Trent Jones II, LLC

bcharlton@rtj12.com #9 Hole rebuild $266,036.26 7/5/2024 7/31/2024 Larry Barefield

Largest in the past 5 years

Wicker Point Country Club Alexander City AL Russell Lands Development

Roger Holliday

rholliday@russelllands.com N/A New golf course $10,014,355.84 11/30/2022 12/15/2022

Lost Rail Golf Club Gretna NE Lost Rail LLC

Scott Hoffman & Bill Kubly

402-423-6653 Scott Hoffman

Construct new 18 hole golf course and 

short course $10,278,826.57 10/1/2021 8/12/2022

Vintage Club Indian Wells CA The Vintage Club

Lane Stave

760-340-0500

Jackson Kahn Golf Course 

Design, LLC

Desert Course - New Irrigation system, 

renovation to greens, new back tee, 

bunker construction with capillary 

concrete, cart path, grassing, landscape 

renovation including irrigation, plants, 

trees, and cacti. $7,722,909.36 10/15/2022 10/1/2022

La Quinta Country Club La Quinta CA La Quinta Country Club

Kirk Burmeister

760-564-4151 N/A Irrigation renovation $4,704,900.00 9/30/2024 9/15/2024

Industry Leader Since 1976 | Global Capabilities | Traditional Design-Build Delivery Method | Awarding Winning Projects 1
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 
Independent Accountant’s 
Review Report and 
Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

December 31, 2023 

Page 173 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



 

 

 
 
 

Independent Accountant’s Review Report  

Members 
Landscapes Holding, LLC 
Lincoln, Nebraska 
 
 
We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Landscapes Holding, LLC and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, members’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical 
procedures to management’s financial data and making inquiries of company management.  A review is 
substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding 
the financial statements as a whole.  Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

Accountant’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
AICPA.  Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for 
reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial 
statements for them to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our 
conclusion. 

We are required to be independent of Landscapes Holding, LLC and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our review. 

Accountant’s Conclusion 

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matter  

The accompanying supplementary consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows of the individual companies, and is not a required part of the basic 
consolidated financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from, and relates directly to, the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements.  
The supplementary information has been subjected to the review procedures applied in our review of the 
basic consolidated financial statements.  We are not aware of any material modifications that should be 
made to the supplementary consolidating information.  We have not audited the supplementary 
consolidating information and do not express an opinion on such information. 

 

Lincoln, Nebraska 
April 19, 2024
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 

See Independent Accountant’s Review Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 
with Consolidating Information 
December 31, 2023 
 
 
ASSETS 

LUL LGG LGM LHL Eliminations Consolidated
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6,994,139$        3,000,679$      683,732$        -$               -$                 10,678,550$      
Receivables

Contract 13,098,048        -                 -                -                 -                   13,098,048        
Due from related parties 687,202             -                 158,177          -                 (757,187)            88,192               
Other 240,259             -                 -                -                 -                   240,259             
Trade and other, net -                   58,177             1,378,313       -                 -                   1,436,490          

Inventories 7,313,845          487,197           42,445            -                 -                   7,843,487          
Contract assets - costs and estimated 

earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts 1,096,188          -                 -                -                 -                   1,096,188          

Contract assets - retainage 74,734               -                 -                -                 -                   74,734               
Prepaid expenses 2,017,022          262,977           49,873            -                 -                   2,329,872          

Total current assets 31,521,437        3,809,030        2,312,540       -                 (757,187)            36,885,820        

Property and Equipment, at Cost
Land and improvements -                   13,805,789      -                -                 (6,292)                13,799,497        
Buildings and improvements 3,216,377          7,521,827        -                -                 -                   10,738,204        
Equipment 16,405,011        3,801,552        -                -                 -                   20,206,563        
Trucks and other vehicles 3,951,572          -                 30,381            -                 -                   3,981,953          
Office furniture and equipment 1,191,167          -                 74,260            -                 -                   1,265,427          
Construction in progress -                   47,942             -                -                 -                   47,942               

24,764,127        25,177,110      104,641          -                 (6,292)                50,039,586        

Less accumulated depreciation 13,719,414        16,077,769      57,092            -                 -                   29,854,275        

11,044,713        9,099,341        47,549            -                 (6,292)                20,185,311        
Other Assets

Receivables due from related
parties 1,293,000          -                 348,122          -                 (526,000)            1,115,122          

Investments in unconsolidated golf
courses -                   770,478           -                -                 -                   770,478             

Investment in subsidiaries -                   -                 -                32,694,567      (32,694,567)       -                   
Other 1,268,429          12,147             137,530          -                 -                   1,418,106          

2,561,429          782,625           485,652          32,694,567      (33,220,567)       3,303,706          

45,127,579$      13,690,996$    2,845,741$     32,694,567$    (33,984,046)$     60,374,837$      

Consolidating Information
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LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY 
Consolidating Information

 LUL  LGG  LGM  LHL  Eliminations Consolidated
Current Liabilities

Current maturities of long-term
debt 756,648$           965,161$         -$                -$               -$                 1,721,809$        

Payable to related parties -                   258,774           498,413          -                 (757,187)            -                   
Other accounts payable 3,647,840          460,130           227,734          -                 -                   4,335,704          
Accrued liabilities 1,178,645          421,627           420,276          -                 -                   2,020,548          
Deferred revenue -                   425,135           -                  -                 -                   425,135             
Contract liabilities - billings in excess of 

costs and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts, net of contract
retention totaling $1,091,141 11,262,538        -                 -                -                 -                   11,262,538        

Total current liabilities 16,845,671        2,530,827        1,146,423       -                 (757,187)            19,765,734        

Long-term Debt 2,490,775          6,148,611        -                -                 -                   8,639,386          

Other Liabilities
Accounts payable to related parties -                   847,410           -                -                 (526,000)            321,410             
Other 301,027             -                 -                -                 -                   301,027             

301,027             847,410           -                -                 (526,000)            622,437             

Landscapes Holding, LLC

Members' Equity 25,490,106        5,511,435        1,699,318       32,694,567      (32,700,859)       32,694,567        
     

Noncontrolling Interest -                   (1,347,287)       -                -                 -                   (1,347,287)         

Total Members’ Equity 25,490,106        4,164,148        1,699,318       32,694,567      (32,700,859)       31,347,280        

45,127,579$      13,690,996$    2,845,741$     32,694,567$    (33,984,046)$     60,374,837$      
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 

See Independent Accountant’s Review Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  4 

Consolidated Statement of Income 
with Consolidating Information 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 
 

LUL LGG LGM LHL Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues Earned 121,480,749$   11,808,631$     41,369,485$   -$               (4,977,998)$    169,680,867$  

Cost of Revenues Earned 101,186,589     1,547,913         36,864,578     -                 (4,508,702)      135,090,378    

Gross Profit 20,294,160       10,260,718       4,504,907       -                 (469,296)         34,590,489      

Operating Expenses
Salaries and wages 6,104,447         -                  3,181,293       -                 220,000          9,505,740        
Employee benefits 594,370            -                  -                -                 20,000            614,370           
Depreciation 924,381            583,710            15,853            -                 -                1,523,944        
Professional fees 804,292            -                  -                -                 -                804,292           
Office expenses 424,556            -                  -                -                 50,000            474,556           
Travel and entertainment 738,009            -                  -                -                 -                738,009           
Corporate aircraft expenses 526,653            -                  -                -                 -                526,653           
Telephone 103,032            -                  -                -                 5,000              108,032           
Education and training 59,963              -                  -                -                 -                59,963             
Golf shop and driving range -                  720,155            -                -                 -                720,155           
Golf carts -                  559,579            -                -                 -                559,579           
Golf course maintenance -                  2,425,267         -                -                 -                2,425,267        
Food and beverage -                  1,406,711         -                -                 -                1,406,711        
General and administrative -                  2,076,940         982,051          -                 (297,360)         2,761,631        
Management fees -                  469,296            -                  -                 (469,296)         -                 
Other 726,574            210,180            -                  -                 2,360              939,114           

11,006,277       8,451,838         4,179,197       -                 (469,296)         23,168,016      

Operating Income 9,287,883         1,808,880         325,710          -                 -                11,422,473      

Other Income (Expense)
Interest income 312,163            17,425              -                -                 (22,858)           306,730           
Interest expense (195,018)           (385,044)           -                -                 22,858            (557,204)          
Equity in operations of

unconsolidated golf courses -                  497,079            -                -                 -                497,079           
Equity in operations of

subsidiaries -                  -                  -                11,113,390      (11,113,390)    -                 
Other (488,122)           (1,331)               100,984          -                 -                (388,469)          

(370,977)           128,129            100,984          11,113,390      (11,113,390)    (141,864)          

Net Income 8,916,906         1,937,009         426,694          11,113,390      (11,113,390)    11,280,609      
Less:  Net Income Attributable 

to the Noncontrolling Interest -                  167,219            -                -                 -                167,219           

Net Income Attributable
to Landscapes Holding, LLC 8,916,906$       1,769,790$       426,694$        11,113,390$    (11,113,390)$  11,113,390$    

Consolidating Information
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 

See Independent Accountant’s Review Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  5 

Consolidated Statement of Members’ Equity 
with Consolidating Information 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 

 
Noncontrolling

LUL LGG LGM LHL Interest Eliminations Consolidated

Balance, January 1, 2023 24,235,217$    3,741,645$      1,272,624$      29,243,194$    (1,273,220)$     (29,249,486)$   27,969,974$    

Net income 8,916,906        1,769,790        426,694           11,113,390      167,219           (11,113,390)     11,280,609      

Distributions (7,662,017)       -                 -                 (7,662,017)       (241,286)          7,662,017        (7,903,303)       

Balance, December  31, 2023 25,490,106$    5,511,435$      1,699,318$      32,694,567$    (1,347,287)$     (32,700,859)$   31,347,280$    

Consolidating Information
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 

See Independent Accountant’s Review Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  6 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
with Consolidating Information 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 

 

LUL LGG LGM LHL Eliminations Consolidated

Operating Activities
Net income 8,916,906$     1,937,009$     426,694$        11,113,390$   (11,113,390)$  11,280,609$   
Items not requiring (providing) cash

Depreciation 1,849,868       583,710          15,853            -                -                2,449,431       
Gain on disposal of property

and equipment (159,629)         (87,437)           -                -                -                (247,066)         
Equity in operations of

unconsolidated golf courses -                (497,079)         -                -                -                (497,079)         
Equity in operations of subsidiaries -                -                -                (11,113,390)    11,113,390     -                
Distributions in excess of income

of subsidiaries -                -                -                7,662,017       (7,662,017)      -                
Changes in

Contract receivables (4,618,638)      -                -                -                -                (4,618,638)      
Trade and membership receivables -                26,889            (428,666)         -                -                (401,777)         
Due from related parties 782,428          -                (239,995)         -                (784,242)         (241,809)         
Other receivables 53,018            -                -                -                -                53,018            
Inventories 469,865          (19,589)           (42,445)           -                -                407,831          
Contract assets - retainage 847,466          -                -                -                -                847,466          
Contract assets - costs and estimated 

earnings in excess of billings on
uncompleted contracts (148,394)         -                -                -                -                (148,394)         

Prepaid expenses (65,121)           (47,073)           (20,842)           -                -                (133,036)         
Accounts payable (2,739,678)      129,379          91,733            -                -                (2,518,566)      
Accounts payable to related parties -                (635,744)         (148,498)         -                784,242          -                
Accrued liabilities (1,410,095)      72,047            154,230          -                -                (1,183,818)      
Contract liabilities - billings in excess of

 costs and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts 216,915          -                -                -                -                216,915          

Deferred revenue -                59,264            -                -                -                59,264            
Other 148,103          -                -                -                -                148,103          

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 4,143,014       1,521,376       (191,936)         7,662,017       (7,662,017)      5,472,454       

Investing Activities
Distributions received from 

unconsolidated golf courses -                505,475          -                -                -                505,475          
Proceeds from disposal of

property and equipment 570,311          155,175          -                -                -                725,486          
Purchase of property and equipment (5,152,673)      (344,741)         (13,635)           -                -                (5,511,049)      
Other (451,752)         3,169              (92,530)           -                -                (541,113)         

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities (5,034,114)      319,078          (106,165)         -                -                (4,821,201)      

Consolidating Information
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Landscapes Holding, LLC 

See Independent Accountant’s Review Report and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  7 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
with Consolidating Information - Continued 
Year Ended December 31, 2023 
 

 

 LUL  LGG  LGM  LHL  Eliminations  Consolidated 

Financing Activities
Principal payments on long-term debt (1,084,620)$    (942,433)$       -$              -$              -$              (2,027,053)$    
Distributions to noncontrolling interests -                (241,286)         -                -                -                (241,286)         
Distributions (7,662,017)      -                -                (7,662,017)      7,662,017       (7,662,017)      

Net cash used in financing activities (8,746,637)      (1,183,719)      -                (7,662,017)      7,662,017       (9,930,356)      

Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (9,637,737)      656,735          (298,101)         -                -                (9,279,103)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents,
Beginning of Year 16,631,876     2,343,944       981,833          -                -                19,957,653     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End
of Year 6,994,139$     3,000,679$     683,732$        -$              -$              10,678,550$   

 Consolidating Information 

 
Supplemental Cash Flows Information

Interest paid 195,260$        379,205$        -$              -$              (22,858)$         551,607$        

Direct financing acquisitions of
property and equipment 184,309$        633,310$        -$              -$              -$              817,619$         

Page 181 of 193

Special Council Agenda- October 15, 2024



2.1 BID FORM 

Bid Package: Player’s Course Construction 

Date: June 28, 2024 & July 22, 2024 (RETURN DATE: August 5, 2024 @ 2 pm PDT) 

Project:  Players Course Redesign 

Owner:                               The City of Indian Wells, Indian Wells, California 

Golf Course Manager Troon Golf 
   Robin Graf, General Manager 

44-500 Indian Wells Lane Indian Wells, CA 92210

Golf Architect: John Fought Design 
   8040 E Morgan Trail #18   
   Scottsdale AZ 85254 

Irrigation Designer: Fairway Irrigation ~ David Yoshimura 
77-605 Delaware Place
Palm Desert, CA 92211

The undersigned, hereby proposes to furnish at its own cost and expense all 
supervision, labor, materials, tools, equipment, facilities, and insurance 
necessary to fully complete the work itemized below in accordance with the 
construction drawings and specifications as itemized in this Bid Package. 

NOTE TO BID FORM: 

The following specifications and details are to be used in conjunction with the 
DESIGNER’S plans. In the performance of all work described herein, the 
CONTRACTOR is expected to follow the DESIGNER’S plans as well as the Site 
Visit Notes generated by periodic visits to the site by the DESIGNER and /or his 
representative during construction. All work performed must conform to the 
Plans, Specifications, and Site Visit Notes to the satisfaction of the DESIGNER 
and OWNER. The General Conditions of the Contract for Construction (AIA 
Document A201) apply. 

It should be understood that all quantities shown are estimates. The 
CONTRACTOR is expected to confirm these quantities; if a recalculation of the 
quantities is not indicated, this will be interpreted as an agreement with these 
estimates. Please review section 5.1 Administration Procedures carefully as 
they will be stringently followed throughout the process. 

ATTACHMENT #8
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  MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD: 

This includes the movement of all equipment and personnel to the site and 
the set-up of the construction operation on the site per requirements as 
stipulated by owner. It also includes the golf contractors project overhead. 

TOTAL MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD $ 

 EROSION CONTROL: 

A) Silt Fence (unit price)  $_____/L.F.

B) Hay Bales (unit price)   $____/bale

C) Straw Waddle (unit price)  $____/L.F.

D) Construction Entrance  $_______

ALLOWANCE    $150,000 

  DEMOLITION: 

A) Removal of old concrete cart path (Bury on site):

Remove 118,724 S.F. of old path @ = $ 

B) Tree & Brush clearing (as per plans & specifications):
Clearing 3.87 ac. @ $ /ac. = $ 

C) Drainage Parts removal: 3,681 L.F. of pipe & 23 catch basins:
$ 

D) Turf Tilling (Golf Superintendent to spray with Glyphosate):
57.9 ac. Tilling old turf @ $ /ac. = $ 

TOTAL DEMOLITION $_____________ 

EARTHWORK: 

Contractor will be responsible for staying within golf course boundaries as 
indicated on the plans throughout the construction process. This item 
includes proper procedures to control dust and airborne particles from 
leaving the construction site. Owner will supply water. 

A) Earthmoving of material: 115,130 yd3 @ $ /yd3 = $ 10.50

1,893,750.00

8.00

35.00

7.00

8,500.00

730,152.60$6.15

176,330.00 682,397.10

70,195.00

6,200.00 358,980.00

1,841,724.70

1,208,865

730,095.00
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B) Shaping: Shaping of all golf features and playing 
areas as outlined on the plans = $ 

TOTAL EARTHWORK $ 

DRAINAGE: 

The following drainage items will be constructed in accordance with the Plans 
& Specifications. 

PIPE: 

A) 4-inch Solid CPP - 12,045 L.F. @ $ /L.F. = $ 

DRAINAGE STRUCTURES: 

A) 12 inch catch basins 90 @ $ ea. =   $ __________ 

B) New Sumps (6 X 6 X 6)        5 @ $ ea. =  $ __________ 

  TOTAL DRAINAGE    $_____________ 

  FEATURE CONSTRUCTION: 

A) Greens:

• NEW GREENS (9) To be constructed per plans to USGA
Recommended Specification (see detail).

54,633 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $ 

• EXISTING GREENS (12) remove thatch layer (4 inches), install 4 inches
of new mix and till

   65,151 S.F. @ $________/S.F. = $_____________ 

B) Tees: To be built out of native material (laser leveled)
137,968 SF @ $ /SF = $ 

C) bunkers: As per plans and specifications. Please note: all bunkers to be
lined – 65% Capillary Concrete; 35% JM Evalith (See details).

1,91,938,960

47.60 573,342,00

2,805.00

1,735.00

252,450.00

8,675.00

834,467.00

19.80 1,081,733.40

7.60 495,147.60

4.55 627,754.40

730,095.00
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83,139 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $  
 

TOTAL FEATURE CONSTRUCTION $_____________ 
 
  CART PATHS: 

The cart paths will consist of 7-foot-wide cart path with aggregate finish (See 
Specifications). 

A) Cart paths: 

           Golf Course           79,861 S.F. @ $ /S.F. =    $_______________ 

B) Curbing              3,000 L.F. @ $ /L.F. =    $_______________ 

C) FIRE ROAD (16 foot wide)  63,702 S.F. @ $ /S.F. = $  
 

TOTAL CART PATH $  

 
FINISHING: 

The overall construction process is so disruptive that it becomes necessary to 
partially reshape everything. For instance, the final shapes of the critical 
areas like putting surfaces and tees must be recreated. The finishing, 
therefore, becomes the final touch to tie it all together. The finishing also 
prepares the ground for planting turf by producing a proper seedbed. 

 
 

FINISHING (Lump Sum) $_____________ 

GRASSING: 

A) Greens: 

Tifeagle sprigs - 119,784 @ $ /S.F. = $  

B) Playing Areas: 

38.43 acres of sprigged 419 Tifway grass @ $ /ac. =    $______________ 
C) Sod: 

160,000 S.F of 419 Tifway Bermuda sod @ $ /ac. =     $______________ 

 

TOTAL GRASSING $_____________ 

20.75 1,725,134.25

3,929,769.65

11.80

23.25

22.40

942,359.80

69,750.00

1,426,924.80

2,439,034.60

699,800.00

1.50

13,965.00

63,925.00

179,676.00

536,674.95

235,244.00

951,594.95
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BONDING: 

A) Bid Bond

B) Performance Bond

TOTAL BONDING

BID SUMMARY: 

MOBILIZATION & CONTRACTOR OVERHEAD 

EROSION CONTROL 

DEMOLITION 

EARTHWORK 

DRAINAGE  

IRRIGATION 

FEATURE CONSTRUCTION 

CART PATHS 

FINISHING  

GRASSING  

BONDING  

TOTAL BID 

$____________ 

 $____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$    150,000 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

$____________ 

(In Words): _____________________________________________________________ 

By: __________________________________      _______________________________ 
    Company Name                                       Name/Title 

2,068,445.00

16,918,792.90

Sixteen Million Nine Hundred Eighteen Thousand Seven Hundred Ninty Two Dollars and Ninty Cents

171,247.00

Sperber Landscape Companies, LLC. Erika Murata / Business Developer

N/A

171,247.00

171,247.00

951,594.95

699,800.00

2,439,034.60

3,929,769.65

834,467.00

1,938,960.00

1,841,724.70

1,893,750.00
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Fairway Irrigation Design - Design Specifications 9/23/2024 Page  6

Bidder’s Name: 

Provisional Contingency Quantity and Unit Pricing 
Field modifications may require additions or deletions to the proposed work.  The unit items shall be used to determine the 
amount of additional compensation to the Contractor and/or the credit amount to be reimbursed to the Owner.  The prices 
below must reflect all materials, taxes, supervision, labor, equipment charges and any other expenses associated with the 
installation of each item.  Materials included in the unit price and provisional contingency quantities must be the same as 
materials called out on the design drawing and shall meet all requirements of the specification document. 

Rain Bird Golf Remodel  

Contingency Unit Price – Revised 9/23/2024 

Include all materials, labor and equipment (sprinklers, connectors, swing joints, pipe, glue, fittings, wire, etc.) for complete 
installation of each item.  Price all items listed even if the item may not appear on the plans. 

Item Quantity Unit Price Extended Total 

1. Rain Bird A-702E-70-36 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

2. Rain Bird A-752-70-36 15 $___________ea. $________________ 

3. Rain Bird A-752-70-22 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

4. Rain Bird 5004 Rotor 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

5. Rain Bird 1804 SAM-PRS 10 $___________ea. $________________ 

6. #5 Quick Coupling Valve 2 $___________ea. $________________ 

7. Sub-main Isolation valve (#8431GGQ) 5 $___________ea. $________________ 

8. 1” Brass Electric Control Valve- RB 5 $___________ea. $________________ 

9. 1 ½ ” Brass Elec. Control Valve- RB 2 $___________ea. $________________ 

10. 1 ½” Wilkins 600XL 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

11. Air Release Valve 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

12. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 12” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

13. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 10” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

14. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 8” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

15. Mainline RW Gate Valve – 6” 1 $___________ea. $________________ 

Total Contingency $________________ 

Sperber Landscape Companies, LLC.

535

560

560

120

45

400

840

600

820

1,130

1,545

4,750

2,980

1,900

3,500

1,900

2,980

3,500

4,750

1,545

1,130

1,640

3,000

4,200

800

450

1,200

5,600

8,400

5,350

46,445
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2.2 GOLF COURSE CONSTRUCTION PERSONNEL 

Construction Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 
Previous 5 Projects: 

Assistant Superintendent 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Shaping Crew  

Lead Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Shaper 
Name: 
Years Experience: 

Feature Construction 
Foreman: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

Irrigation System 
Construction Superintendent: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 

James Estrada Pimentel

35 Years
10 Years

Francisco Dorado

30 Years
23 Years

Jose Miguel Dorado
30 Years
23 Years

Alejandro Gutierrez
30 Years
2 Years

Alejandro Gutierrez
30 Years
2 Years

Arturo Lopez
35 Years
5 Years

Pearl CC, Spanish Trails,  Club Campestre de Leon, 
Tiburon Golf Club, Wildcat Golf Course
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Finish Crew 
Foreman: 
Years Experience: 
Years with Company: 
Previous 3 Projects: 

Jaime Roman
8 Years
5 Years
Campus Commons, Sonoma Golf Club, Boulder Ridge
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2.3 BIDDER INFORMATION 

Company Name: 
Physical Address: 

Telephone: 
Fax Number: 

Bonding Company: 
Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Liability Insurance: 
Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Workman’s Compensation 
Insurance Company: 

Address: 

Telephone: 
OWNER’S Name: 

Federal Tax ID Number: 

Signature: 

Print Name and Title: 

Sperber Landscape Companies, LLC.
30700 Russell Ranch Road # 120
Westlake Village, CA 91362

310.579.6154

Alliant Services
333 S. Hope St Suite 3750
Los Angeles, CA 90071

213.443.2476
Maria Pena

Same as above

Same As Above

82-4450778

Erika Murata // Business Developer

Erika Murata
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2.4 LIST OF PROPOSED SUB-CONTRACTORS

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

Company Name: 
Contact: 
Address: 

Phone Number: 
Fax Number: 
Phase of Work: 

D.H.R Construction, Inc.
Joy Ramos
860 Green Island Rd.
American Canyon, CA 94503
707.552.6500
707.552.6555
Golf Construction

Evergreen Turf
Jimmie Fox
11407 E. Germann
Chandler, AZ 85286
606.626.9959

Grassing

So Cal Grading
Keith Gerdes
16291 Construction Circle
Irvine, CA 92606
949.424.5660

Grading
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2.5 LIST OF PROPOSED SUPPLIERS 

Name  

Products Supplied:  

Name  

Products Supplied: 

Name  

Products Supplied:  

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Name 

Products Supplied: 

Evergreen Turf

Sod & Sprigs for Grassing

West Coast Sand & Gravel

Bulk Materials, Bunker Sand, Gravel and Greens Mix

Advanced Drainage Systems

Drainange Materials
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2.6 MATERIALS SUBMITTALS 

Name  _______________________________________ 

Products Supplied_____________________________ 
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